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YEAR IN REVIEW

QuarTER ONE

Business Week publishes its first-ever ranking of
customer-service champs. Cabela’s ranks No. 15 and is
one of only two retailers to make the list,

In February, Cabela's is named Company of the Year and
receives Sporting Classics magazine's prestigious Award of
Excelience. Each year the editors of Sporting Classics, one
of North America’s top hunting and fishing publications,
selects a small contingent of craftsmen, artists and
companies in the outdoor industry which represent the best
in professionalism, innovation and ethics.

QuarTER Two

Cabela’s opens its first store of the year in Hazelwood,
Missouri, a suburb of St. Louis.

Cabela’s economic development bonds related to its
Wheeling. West Virginia. location are refinanced. As a
result, the company reccives $43 million from the
retirement of these bonds. Proceeds were used for new
retail store expansion, including capital expenditures and
the purchase of economic development bonds.

Cabela’s sells $60 million of scnior notes in a private
placement to qualified institutional buyers. Proceeds
from the offering were used for new retail store
expansion, including capital cxpenditures and the
purchase of economic development bonds. and general
corporate purpeses.

QuARTER THREE

Cabela’s apens its second store of the year in Hoffman
Estates, Ilinois, a suburb of Chicago.

Cabela’s purchases S.I.R. Warchouse Sports Store, a
Winnipcg—bascd specialty retailer of hunting, fishing,
amping and related outdoor merchandise. S.1.R. is one
f Canada’s leading outdoor outfitters with a mail-order
peration and a 44,000-square-foot retail store that will
erve as headquarters for Cabela’s Canadian operations.

QuarTER Four |

Cabela’s opens six additional stores in just a
two-month time frame.

* East Hartford, Connecticut

* Gonzales, Louisiana ﬁ
* Hammond, Indiana
* Reno, Nevada

* Post Falls, Idaho

* Lacey, Washington |

Cabela's implements customersservice cnhancements at

several retail stores ahead of schedule. Enhancements
include In-Store Pick Up. which allows customers to order
products from our direct business and pick them up at
one of our stores. and In-Store Kiosks, which allow
retail customers to order from our entire product
inventory and have the order shipped to their home or
one of our retail stores for pick up.

World's Foremost Bank exceeds one million average
active credit card accounts in the quarter and more than
$2 billion in total credit card loans outstanding.

Consumer Reports publishes a reader survey report 1

ranking credit card issuers. The report ranked Cabela's |

branded credit card, Cabela’'s CLUB Visa, among the

top five in cardholder satisfaction, the highest rating held ‘

by 4 bank-issued credit card. !
|

Cabela’s Web site. www.cabelas.com. ends the year as
the most visited sporting goods industry e-commerce Web 1
site, according to Hitwise Incorporated.
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{letter continued)

* Advertising — Our goal is to increase sales
lift from retail advertising and drive more
traffic to our stores. Areas of focus include
optimizing product selection, density and
placement in retail advertising; improving
productivity of print advertising; and
enhancing the advertising strategy related
to new storc openings.

Retail Operations - Our goal is 10

significantly impacr retail store productivity -

and same store sales by focusing on
increasing average ticket; improving overall
productivity: enhancing outfitter training;
and addressing underperforming stores.

Margins — With the goal of improving
merchandise  grass  margins  through
improved planning and merchandising for
our retail focus on
implementing a new merchandise planning
process; enhancing product assortments;

flexing merchandise with more seasonal

stores, we will

assortments; and improving visual

merchandising.

Inventory — [mproving inventory turns
in 2008 is the goal of this initiative.
Areas of focus include berter leveraging of
existing including  our
advanced replenishment system; reviewing
and modifying minimum order quantities;

technologies

and executing our “open to buy” process.

ABouT Us

Cabela's is a leading specialty retailer, and the world’s
largest direct marketer, of hunting, fishing, camping
and related outdoor merchandise. Since our founding in
1961, Cabela’s has grown to become one of the most well-
known outdoor recreation brands in the world, and has

fong been recognized as the World's Foremost Qutfitter”.

With these 2008
optimistic and determined to positively impact

initiatives, we enter
our business. We continue to evolve our
business model by adapting and capitalizing
on new ideas that will improve performance
of our retail stores. For 2008, I am confident
our employees and our iniuatives are
properly focused and will result in significant
improvements in our business for this year
as well as provide a solid foundation for the
future. | look forward to updating you on
the progress of these initiatives throughout

the year.
CABELA'S ADVANTAGE

[ would like to express how extremely proud
[ am of the contribution of Cabela's outfitters
and their response to the economic conditions
that challenged us in the second half of
2007, Their true character was revealed as
they buckled down to adapt to the changing
economic climate in 2007 and willingly and
quickly refocused on our strategic direction
for 2008.

competitive advantage, and [ am extremely

Qur outfitters are certainly a

proud of their positive attitude and dedicated
worlk ethic.

In closing, the management team and I are
very committed to providing our shareholders
an acceptable return. [ recognize our
performance, coupled with tough economic
condirtions, return

our shareholders expect and deserve. We

did not provide the

continue to live and believe in the values
established by our founders Jim and Dick
Cabela. We are confident the strength of thes
Cabela’s brand, superior product selection
and commitment to customer service will
continue to separate us from the competition
and provide critical elements for us to enhance
shareholder value.

Sincerely,

Dennis Highby

President and Chief Executive Officer

Dennis Highby with a 31.inch

Ontario, Canada, walleye.

Through our growing number of retail stores and our wells
established direct business, we offer a wide and distinctive
selection of high-quality outdoor products at competitive
prices while providing superior customer service. We also

issue the Cabela's CLUB" Visa credit card, which serves

as our primary customer loyalty rewards program.




LETTER TOo SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Cabela’s Sharcholders:

Reflecting back on 2007, 1 have spent
considerable time understanding where we
successfully executed and where we did not
On one hand,

we accomplished significant goals, such as

execute in our business.

opening eight new retail stores on or ahead
of schedule, including seven in a two-month
period. On the other hand, we had several
challenges, most significantly a tough retail
environment in the back half of 2007, We
also experienced challenges in our fast-
growing retail business, revolving around the
execution of our retail model. Adapting our
business from a world-class direct marketing
company to a fluid retail business requires
significant changes to our core-operating
model. Transition to retail is a big change
for our company, and I will talk more about
this later.

Not to be overshadowed by operating
results, our company celebrated significant
accomplishments in 2007 by delivering
record revenue and record diluted earnings per
share. In addition, we added customer service
enhancements in several retail stores, which
allow customers to shop seamlessly across
all channels. Through our In-Store Pick Up
Program, customers now have the ability
to order products from our direct business
and pick them up at one of our stores, In
addition, our new In-Store Kiosk Program
allows retail customers to order from our
entire product inventory, the largest product
assortment in the outdoor industry. Also, our
highly successful Web site, www.cabelas.com,

was once again the most visited ecommerce
Web site in the sporting goods industry for
2007, according to Hitwise Incorporated.

And, in accordance with our plan to further
expand ocur brand, we acquired S.LR.
Warehouse Sports Store in Winnipeg,
Manitoba, Canada, which constitutes our
first retail presence in the Canadian market
and will serve as headquarters for future
Canadian expansion.
excited about our entrance into the Canadian

Not only are we very

market, but our customers have shared their
excitement with us as well. I lock forward
to leveraging our strong brand recognition in
Canada and providing a new level of brand

experience to Canadian consumers.

Our 2007 achievements provide a strong
foundation for future growth, and I am very
proud of the dedicated employees who made
it happen.

Fiscat 2007 FinanciaL ResuLts

For fiscal 2007, we earned a record $88
million, or $1.31 per diluted share, as
compared to $86 million, or $1.29 per
diluted share, in fiscal 2006. Total revenue
for 2007 increased 13.9% to $2.35 billion.
Revenue from our direct business (catalog
and Internet) increased a solid 3.9% to
$1.13 billion, Despite a 1.2% decline in same
store sales, retail revenue increased 27.2% to
$1.04 billion due to a full-year contribution
of four stores opened in 2006 and sales from
eight new stores opened in 2007. Financial
services revenue increased 15.9% to $159

FinaNnciaL HiGHLIGHTS

FiscaL YEar

{Dellars in thousinds except per-share data)
Total Revenue

Gross Profit

Gross Profit Margin

Operating Income

Operating Income Margin

Net Income

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Diluted Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents
Inventories

Economic Development Bonds
Total Debt

Total Stockholders’ Equity

2007
$2.349,599
$971,213

2006

$2,063,524
$859,125

2005

$1.799,661
$735,339
41.3% 41.6% 40.9%
$151,092 $143.745 $114,963
6.4% 7.0% 6.4%
$87.879 $85,785 $72.569
$1.31 $1.29 $1.10
67,275,531 66,643,856 66,268,374
$131,182 $172.903 $86,923
$608.159 $484.414 $396,635
$98.035 $117,360 $145,744
$503.385 $317.873 $119.826
$828.559 $733.858 $639.853

million. We now have more than ene million
active credit card account holders who earn
rewards redeemable across our multi-channel
In 2007, purchases made by these
cardholders represented more than 26% of
our sales.

model.

Tue YeEar AHEAD

Given the
environment we experienced in the second
half of 2007 and expect to continue into
2008, we made the strategic decision to slow
retail store expansion and focus on improving

challenging macroeconomic

retail operations. As a result, we now plan
to open just two new stotes in 2008, one
in Scarborough, Maine, and the other in
Rapid City, South Dakota. Additionally,
we have spent a significant amount of time
planning and designing our next generation
store, designed to be smaller, more cfficient
and more productive. Qur Rapid City store,
scheduled to open in the third quarter, will be
our first next generation store. You will be
hearing more about cur'next generation store
format in years to come.

From a retail operations perspective, we are
taking immediate action to improve results
across several key areas in the company.
‘We have launched four specific initiatives to
focus on improvements in advertising, retail
operations, margins and inventory. The
expected improvements from these initiatives
will go a long way in addressing key challenges
faced in 2007. We expect these initiatives
to have a significant positive impact on our
2008 operating results.

(continued on inside)

TotaL REVENUE (8 in milfions)
$1,556
$1,800
152,064
$2,350

QOPERATING INCOME (5 in millions}
897 |

P $115 I

$1qq |

$151 lf

NET INCOME (3 in millions)
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Th;s reportconfams Sforward-looking statements” that are based on our beliefs, assumptions, and expectations
of future evefifs}tdking into account the information currently available to us. All statements other than statements
of current or. historical fact contained in this report are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securitie§ thlgauon Reform Act. The words “believe,” “may,” “should,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”

“objective,” “seek,” “plan,” and similar statements are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking stalemems involve risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance, or financial
condition to dlffer malenally from the expectations of future results, performance, or financial condition we express
or imply in any forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to:

LI 27 L

»  the strength of the economy;

the level of discretionary consumer spending;

e  changes in consumer preferences and demographic trends;

our ability to successfully execute our multi-channel strategy;

the ability to negotiate favorable purchase, lease, and/or economic development arrangements for new
retail store locations;

& expansion into new markets;
e market saturation due to new retail store openings;

s the rate of growth of general and administrative expenses associated with building a strengthened
corporate infrastructure to support our growth initiatives;

. increasing competition in the outdoor segment of the sporting goods industry;
¢ the cost of our products,

. trade restrictions;

political or financial instability in countries where the goods we sell are manufactured;

adverse fluctuations in foreign currencies;

®  increases in postage rates or paper and printing costs;

*  supply and delivery shortages or interruptions caused by system changes or other factors;
] adverse or unseasonal weather conditions;

. fluctuations in operating results;

. possible assessments from states for sales taxes on direct business sales prior to 2008;

the cost of fuel increasing;

. road construction around our retail stores;

labor shortages or increased labor costs;
e  increased government regulation;
*  inadequate protection of our intellectual property;

*  our ability to protect our brand and reputation;

decreased interchange fees received by our Financial Services business as a result of credit card industry
litigation;

s other factors that we may not have currently identified or quantified; and

. other risks, relevant factors, and uncertainties identified in the “Risk Factors” section of this report.

Given the risks and uncertainties surrounding forward-looking statements, you should not place undue reliance
on these statements. Qur forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Other than as required
by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise.




[tem 1.

Item 1A.
[tem 1B.

Item 2.
Item 3.
[tem 4,

Item 5.

Item 6.
Item 7.

Item 7A.

[tem 8.
Item 9.

ftem 9A.
Item 9B.

Item 10.
ftem 11.
Item 12.

Item 13.
Item 14.

Item 15.

' CABELA’S INCORPORATED

FORM 10-K
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 29, 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

YT E V= T O R R R
RISK FACLOTS « o\ v oot s et e et m et s aa e m e e
Untesolved Staff ComMmMeENts. . ... ..ottt e
PTOPETLIES . o o\ttt et e e et it e e
Legal Proceedings . ... .o.ooinuuen e
Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders .. .............cooviiiiinenns

PART 11
Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters

and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities .. ... ..o
Selected Financial Data . .. ... o i i i e
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations . ...
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk ...
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data .. ...
Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure . . ..
Controls and ProcediIBs. . ... ottt t e et e i i
Other TNfOrMAtION. . . oot e ettt et et ime e e e

PART iUl

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance ................. e
Executive COMPENSAtION . ... ...ttt

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

and Related Stockholder Matters ... ... ..ot i
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence ...............
Principal Accounting Fees and Services . ...... ...

PART IV

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules . . .......... .. i
SIGNATURES




PART 1

ITEM1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a leading specialty retailer, and the world's largest direct marketer, of hunting, fishing, camping, and
related outdoor merchandise. Since our founding in 1961, Cabela’s has grown to become one of the most well-
known outdoor recreation brands in the world. We have long been recognized as the “World’s Foremost Qutfitter,”
Through our growing number of retail stores, and our well-established direct business, we believe we offer the
widest, and most distinctive selection of high-quality outdoor products at competitive prices, while providing superior
customer service. We also issue the Cabela’s CLUB Visa® credit card, which serves as our primary customer loyalty
rewards program. Refer to Note 23 entitled “Segment Reporting” to our consolidated financial statements and our
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gperations” for additional financial
information regarding our Retail and Direct businesses, as well as our Financial Services business.

We were initially incorporated as a Nebraska corporation in 1965 and were reincorporated as a Delaware
corporation in January 2004. In June 2004, we completed our initial public offering of common stock. Our common
stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “CAB.”

Retail Business

We currently operate 27 retail stores, 26 in 19 states and one in Canada. We opened eight retail stores 1n 2007,
increasing our total retail square footage by 1.3 million square feet, or 49%. Retail store total square footage was 4.0
million square feet at the end of 2007. The eight retail stores opened in 2007 were in Hazelwood, Missouri; Hoffman
Estates, Illinois; East Hartford, Connecticut; Gonzales, Louisiana; Hammond, Indiana; Reno, Nevada; Post Falls,
Idaho; and Lacey, Washington. Our Retail store business operations generated revenue of $1.04 billion in 2007,
representing 48.0% of our total revenue from our Retail and Direct businesses.

Customer Service Enhancements. In 2007, we implemented customer service enhancements directed at
increasing sales and customer satisfaction in 10 of our retail stores, These enhancements included: 1) in-store pick-
up for Internet website orders, 2) installation of Internet kiosks, and 3) the installation of catalog order desks, We
expect these customer service enhancemenis to be available in all existing retail stores in early 2008. We continue
to advance our efforts for offering customers integrated opportunities to access and use our retail store, catalog,
and Internet channels, including our roll-out of Internet kiosks, catalog order desks, and in-store pick-up for catalog
and Internet purchases. Our in-store pick-up program allows customers to have products ordered through our
catalogs and Internet site and delivered to the retail store of their choice without incurring shipping costs, increasing
foot traffic in our stores. Conversely, our expanding retail stores introduce customers to our Internet and catalog
channels. Qur multi-channe! model employs the same merchandising team, distribution centers, customer database,
and infrastructure, which we intend to further capitalize on by building on the strengths of each channel.

Store Format and Atmosphere. Our retail store concept is designed to appeal to the entire family and draw
customers from a broad geographic and demographic range. Our retail stores range in size from 35,000 to 247,000
square feet and our large-format retail stores are 150,000 square feet or larger. Qur large-format retail stores have
been recognized in some states as one of the top tourist attractions, often attracting the construction and development
of hotels, restaurants, and other retail establishments in areas adjacent to these stores.

Retail Store Expansion Strategy. Enhancing our retail store efficiencies and taking the necessary steps to
improve our financial performance is a high priority in our strategic planning. As such, we continually review our
previously announced stores to reconfirm our expectations based on what we have learned over the past year. Based
on these ongoing reviews, we now expect to open two retail stores in 2008, We expect to fund our 2008 expansion
from a $57 million debt offering completed in January 2008 and from operating cash flows. We are developing a
next generation store format intended to improve our return on invested capital and to better serve our customers. In
September 2007, we acquired S.1.R. Warehouse Sports in Winnipeg, Manitoba, which will serve as our platform for
planned expansion into Canada.




Store Locations and Ownership. We currently own 24 of our 27 retail stores. However, in connection with
some of the economic development packages received from state or local governments where our stores are located,
we have entered into agreements granting ownership of the taxidermy, diorama, or other portions of our stores to
these state and local governments. Refer to Item 2 —“Properties™ for the locations of our stores.

Direct Business

Our Direct business uses catalogs and the Internet as marketing tools to generate sales orders via the [nternet,
telephone, and mail. Our Direct business generated revenue of $1.13 billion in 2007, representing 52.0% of our total
revenue from our Retail and Direct businesses.

Catalog Distributions. We have been marketing our products through our print catalog distributions to our
customers and potential customers for over 46 years. We believe that our catalog distributions have been one of the
primary drivers of the growth of our brand and serve as an important marketing tool for our Retail business. [n 2007,
we mailed more than 140 million catalogs to all 50 states and to more than 170 countries. Qur master catalogs offer
a broad range of products while our specialty catalogs offer products focused on one outdoor activity, such as fly
fishing, archery, or waterfowl, or one product category, such as women’s clothing.

Many of our customers read and browse our catalogs, but order products through our website. Based on our
customer surveys, we believe that our customers wish to continue to receive catalogs even though they purchase
merchandise and services through our website. Accordingly, we remain committed to marketing our products
through our catalogs, as we view our catalogs and the Internct as a unified selling and marketing tool.

Direct Business Marketing. We use our customer database 1o ensure that customers receive catalogs matching
their merchandise preferences, to identify new customers, and to cross-sell merchandise to existing customers. The
costs of providing our catalogs continue to increase as postage and printing prices increase. We utilize our marketing
knowledge base to determine optimal circulation strategies to decrease our catalog costs while continuing to grow
our business. We also market our products through our website which has a number of features, including product
information and ordering capabilities, and general information on the outdoor lifestyle. This cost-effective medium
is designed to offer a convenient, highly visual, user-friendly, and secure online shopping option for new and existing
customers. In addition to the ability to order the same products available in our catalogs, our website gives customers
the ability to purchase gift certificates, research outdoor activities, purchase rare and highly specialized merchandise,
and choose from other services we provide. The number of visits to our website increased 30.2% in 2007 compared
to 2006. Our website was the most visited sports and fitness website in 2007 according to Hitwise, [ncorporated, an
online measurement company.

Direct Business Acquisitions. We have acquired selected other businesses that comprise a portion of our
Direct business, which we believe are an extension of our core competencies. These businesses include Van Dyke’s
Restorers, offering home restoration products; Van Dyke’s Taxidermy, offering taxidermy supplies; Antique Home
and Hardware, offering home decorating items; Wild Wings, offering wildlife prints and other collectibles; the
Ducks Unlimited catalog, offering waterfowl products; and Dunn’s, offering hunting dog equipment and high-end
hunting accessories. In 1996, we acquired the assets of the Gander Mountain direct business and integrated them
into our business.

Financial Services Business

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, World's Foremost Bank, we issue and manage the Cabela’s CLUB
Visa card and related customer loyalty rewards program. We believe the Cabela’s CLUB Visa card loyalty rewards
program is an effective vehicle for strengthening our relationships with our customers, enhancing our brand name,
and increasing our merchandise revenue. The primary purpose of our Financial Services business is to provide our
merchandise customers with a rewards program that will enhance revenue, profitability, and customer loyalty in our
Retail and Direct businesses.

Our bank subsidiary is an FDIC-insured, special purpose, Nebraska state-chartered bank. Our bank’s charter
is limited to issuing credit cards and selling brokered certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more and it does not
accept demand deposits or make non-credit card loans. During 2007, we had an average of 987,411 active accounts
with an average balance of $1,712.




Cabela’s CLUB Visa Card Loyalty Program. The Cabela’s CLUB Visa card loyalty program is a rewards-
based credit card program, which we believe has increased brand loyalty among our customers and has helped reduce
customer attrition in our merchandising businesses. Our rewards program is a simple loyalty program that allows
customers to earn points whenever and wherever they use their credit card and then redeem earned points for products
and services at our retail stores or through our Direct business. Our rewards program is integrated into our store
point of sale system which adds to the convenience of the rewards program as our employees can inform customers of
their number of accumulated points when making purchases at our stores. The percentage of our merchandise sales
that were made on the Cabela’s CLUB card increased to 26.3% for 2007 from 24.6% for 2006,

Financial Services Marketing. We adhere to a low cost, efficient, and tailored credit card marketing program
that leverages the Cabela’s brand name, We market the Cabela’s CLUB Visa card through a number of channels,
including retail stores, inbound telemarketing, catalogs, and the lnternet, Customer service representatives at our
customer care centers offer the Cabela’s CLUB Visa card to qualifying customers. This card is marketed throughout
our catalogs. Our customers can apply for the Cabela’s CLUB Visa card at our retail stores and website through
our instant credit process and, if approved, receive reward points available for use on merchandise purchases the
same day. When a customer’s application is approved through the retail store instant credit process, the customer’s
new credit card is produced and given to the customer immediately thereafter. Maintaining the growth of our credit
card program, while continuing to underwrite high-quality customers, is key to the successful performance of our
Financial Services business. Our Financial Services growth is dependent, in part, on the success of our Retail and
Direct businesses to generate additional sales and to attract additional Financial Services customers.

Underwriting and Credit Criteria. We underwrite high-quality credit customers and have historically
maintained attractive credit statistics compared to industry averages. We adhere to strict credit policies and target
consistent profitability in our Financial Services business. The scores of the Fair Isaac & Company (“FICO”) are a
widely-used tool for assessing a person’s credit rating. At the end of 2007, our cardholders had a median FICQ score
of 787, which we believe is well above the industry average. Our charge-offs as a percentage of total outstanding
balances were 2.01% in 2007, which we believe is well below the 2007 industry average.

The table below presents data on our credit card portfolio’s performance comparing the last three years and
illustrates the high credit quality of our managed credit card portfolio.

As a Percentage of Managed Loans 2007 2006 2005

DElINQUEINCIES ...ttt e et saa sttt b e e 0.97% 0.75% 0.67%
Gross Charge-0fT5......ciiiicii e e sttt 2.53% 2.29% 2.54%
Net ChATZE-0FFS ..ot e s 201% 1.86% 2.15%

Products and Merchandising

We sell “fun.” We offer our customers a comprehensive selection of high-quality, competitively priced,
national and regional brand products, including our own Cabela’s brand. Qur product offering includes merchandise
and equipment for hunting, fishing, marine use, and camping, along with casual and outdoor apparel and footwear,
optics, vehicle accessories, taxidermy products, gifts and home furnishings with an outdoor theme, and furniture
restoration related merchandise.

At the end of 2007, we had 48 different product categories that we classify into five general categories which are
summarized below. The following chart sets forth the percentage of revenue contributed by each of the five product
categories for our Retail and Direct businesses and in total for the last three years.

Retail Direct Total
Product Category 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Hunting Equipment........ccoevnveiinnnns 38.7% 35.6% 33.8% 266% 271% 264% 32.6% 30.7% 29.1%
Fishing and Marine...........covreeres 15.6 16.7 16.0 12.3 2.5 12.5 14.0 14.3 13.8
Camping ...ccoooroviireerrneeeen e 12.9 12.1 12.0 154 14.8 14.8 14.1 13.7 13.8
Clothing and Footwear ..........c...c...... 270 291 315 363 367 374 317 335 352
Gifts and Furnishings..........oe 5.8 6.5 6.7 9.4 8.9 8.9 1.6 78 B.1
Total ..o 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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Hunting equipment. We provide equipment, accessories, and consumable supplies for almost every type
of hunting and sport shooting. Our hunting products are supported by services such as gun bore sighting, scope
mounting, and bow tuning to serve the complete needs of our customer. We also provide items necessary for the
completion of any taxidermy project through Van Dyke’s Taxidermy.

Fishing and marine equipment. We provide products for fresh water fishing, fly-fishing, salt water fishing,
and ice-fishing. In addition, our fishing and marine equipment offering features a wide selection of electronics, boats
and accessories, canoes, kayaks, and other flotation accessories.

Camping gear and equipment. We provide a diverse selection of camping gear and equipment for various
experience levels of outdoor enthusiasts. This product category includes a full range of equipment and accessoties
supporting all outdoor activities, including food preparation, outdoor cooking, travel, and outdoor living. In addition,
we include all-terrain vehicles (“ATVs"™), as well as accessories for automobiles and ATVs in this category.

Clothing and footwear. Qur clothing and footwear merchandise includes both lifestyle apparel and technical
gear for the active outdoor enthusiast, as well as apparel and footwear for the casual customer.

Gifts and home furnishings. Our gifts merchandise includes games, food assortments, books, jewelry, and
art with outdoor themes. Home furnishings merchandise includes furnishings and accents with outdoor themes for
the home and cabin, as well as restoration products. Our home restoration products include unusual and hard-to-find
antique furniture and vintage home restoration supplies.

Cabela’s branded products. In addition to national brands, we offer our exclusive Cabela’s branded
merchandise. We have a significant penetration of Cabela’s branded merchandise in casual apparel and footwear as
well as in selected hard goods categories such as camping, fishing, and optics. Where possible, we seek to protect our
Cabela’s branded products by applying for trademark or patent protection for these products. Qur Cabela’s branded
products typically generate higher gross profit margins compared to our other branded products. In 2007, our Cabela’s
branded merchandise accounted for approximately 35% of our merchandise revenue. By having an appropriate mix
of Cabela’s branded and other branded merchandise, we strive to meet the expectations and needs of our customers
and expand the recognition of the Cabela’s brand.

Marketing

We seek to increase the amount each customer spends on our merchandise through enhanced customer targeting,
continued introduction of new catalog titles, and the development and marketing of new products. We have taken
advantage of web-based technologies such as targeted promotional e-mails, on-line shopping engines, and Internet
affiliate programs to increase sales. We also are improving our customer relationship management system, which we
expect will allow us to better manage our customer relationships and more effectively tailor our marketing programs.
We will use our expanding Retail business to capitalize on additional customer purchase history and information.

Our marketing strategy focuses on using our multi-channel model to build the strength and recognition of
our brand by communicating our wide and distinctive offering of quality products to our customers, and potential
customers, in a cost effective manner. Our largest marketing effort consists of distributing over 140 million catalogs
annually in order to attract customers to our Retail and Direct businesses. We have also established our website to
market our products to customers and potential customers who shop via the Internet. We use both our catalogs and
our website to cross-market at our retail stores. Our marketing strategy is designed to convey our outdoor lifestyle
image, enhance our brand, and emphasize our position in our target markets.

In addition to the use of our catalogs and our website, we also use a combination of promotional events, traditional
advertising, and media programs as marketing tools. We engage in promotional activities related to Professional Bull
Riding, the Iditarod Trail Sled Dog Race, and Dock Dogs, as well as sponsor sportsmen and women advocacy groups
and wildlife conservation organizations, including U.S. Sportsmen’s Alliance, National Rifle Association, National
Wild Turkey Federation, Women in the Outdoors, Rocky Mountain Elk Foundation, Whitetails Unlimited, Pheasants
Forever, Ducks Unlimited, Delta Waterfowl, Trout Unlimited, and Safari Club International, in addition to national,
regional, and local fishing tournaments and other related activities.

In addition, we have historically been able to count on extensive free publicity from the unigue Cabela’s shopping
experience when we open a store. As we enter more metropolitan markets, where the opening of a Cabela’s store is
not headline news, we will need to supplement this free publicity with additional advertising to increase consumer
awareness of new store openings.




Competition

We compete in a number of large and highly fragmented and intensely competitive markets, including the
outdoor recreation, and casual apparel and footwear markets. The outdoor recreation market is comprised of several
categories including hunting, fishing, camping, and wildlife watching, and we believe it crosses over a wide range of
geographic and demographic segments.

We compete directly or indirectly with other broad-line merchants, large-format sporting goods stores and
chains, mass merchandisers, warehouse clubs, discount and department stores, small specialty retailers, and catalog
and Internet-based retailers.

We believe that we compete effectively with our competitors on the basis of our wide and distinctive merchandise
selection, and the superior customer service associated with the Cabela’s brand, as well as our commitment to
understanding and providing merchandise that is relevant to our targeted customer base. We cater to the outdoor
enthusiast and the casual customer, and believe we have an appealing store environment, We also believe that our
multi-channel model enhances our ability to compete by allowing our customers to choose the most convenient sales
channel. This model also allows us to reach a broader audience in existing and new markets and to centinue to build
on our nationally recognized Cabela’s brand.

Customer Service

Since our founding in 1961, we have been deeply committed to serving our customers by selling high-quality
products through sales associates who deliver excellent customer service and in-depth product knowledge. We strive
to provide superior customer service at the time of sale and after the sale through our 100-percent money-back
guarantee. Our customers can always access well-trained, knowledgeable associates to answer their product use and
merchandise selection questions. In the latter part of 2007, we began implementing customer service enhancements
directed, in part, at increasing customer satisfaction. These enhancements continue our efforts at offering customers
integrated opportunities to access and use our retail store, catalog, and Internet channels through our introduction
of Internet kiosks, catalog order desks, and in-store pick-up for catalog and Internet purchases. Our in-store pick-up
program allows customers to have products ordered through our catalogs and Internet site and delivered to the retail
store of their choice without incurring shipping costs, increasing foot traffic in our stores. Conversely, our expanding
retail stores introduce customers to our Internet and catalog channels. We believe that our ability to establish and
maintain long-term relationships with our customers and encourage repeat visits and purchases is due, in part, to the
strength of our customer support and service operations,

Distribution and Fulfillment

We operate distribution centers located in Sidney, Nebraska; Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin; and Wheeling, West
Virginia. These distribution centers comprise nearly 3.0 million square feet of warehouse space for our retail store
replenishment and Direct business activities, We ship merchandise to our Direct business customers via United
Parcel Service and the U. S. Postal Service. We use common carriers and typically deliver inventory two to three
times per week for replenishment of our retail stores.

Management Information Systems

Qur management information and operational systems manage our Retail, Direct, and Financial Services
businesses. These systems are designed to process customer orders, track customer data and demographics, order,
monitor and maintain sufficient amounts of inventory, facilitate vendor transactions, and provide financial reporting.
We continually evaluate, modify, and update our information technology systems supporting the supply chain,
including our design, sourcing, merchandise planning, forecasting and purchase order, inventory, distribution,
transportation, and price management systems. We are making modifications to our technology that will involve
updating or replacing certain systems with successor systems during the course of several years, including
improvements to our systems for multi-channel tracking and processing of inventory, and improvements to our
customer relationship management system.




Highlights during 2007 from our management information systems impacting our muiti-channel distribution
included:

e Werolled out to our retail stores in the first half of 2007 a new warehouse management system for tracking
inventory in a multi-channel environment allowing us to more accurately and timely route inventory for
distribution.

e We created in-house software to interface with our inventory replenishment system to ensure this system
always has valid inventory counts so it will accurately replenish store merchandise, helping to increase
customer satisfaction and sales. We also added additional vendors onto our inventory replenishment
system.

e We continued working on our merchandise management system, which consolidates information related
to our jtem master, vendor master, and purchase order system, and provides the foundation for how we
account for and manage our merchandise process.

Employees

At the end of 2007, we employed approximately 15,000 employees, approximately 7,600 of whom were employed
full time. We use part-time and temporary workers to supplement our labor force at peak times during our third
and fourth quarters. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or are party to a collective bargaining
agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our relationship with our employees to be
good.

Seasonality

We experience seasonal fluctuations in our revenue and operating results. Due to buying patterns around the
holidays and the opening of hunting seasons, our merchandise revenue is traditionally higher in the third and fourth
quarters than in the first and second quarters, and we typically earn a disproportionate share of our operating income
in the fourth quarter. Because of our retail store expansion, and fixed costs associated with retail stores, our quarterly
operating income may be further impacted by these seasonal fluctuations. Refer to Note 24 to our consolidated
financial statements for quarterly results of operations for 2007 and 2006.

Government Regulation

Regulation of Our Bank Subsidiary. Our wholly-owned bank subsidiary is a Nebraska state-chartered bank
with deposits insured by the Bank Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). Our bank
subsidiary is subject to comprehensive regulation and periodic examination by the Nebraska Department of Banking
and Finance (*“NDBF”) and the FDIC. We also are registered as a bank holding company with the NDBF and as such
are subject to periodic examination by the NDBF.

Our bank subsidiary does not qualify as a “bank” under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended,
(“BHCA™), because it is in compliance with a credit card bank exemption from the BHCA. If it failed to meet the
credit card bank exemption criteria, its status as an insured depository institution would make us subject to the
provisions of the BHCA, including restrictions as to the types of business activities in which a bank holding company
and its affiliates may engage. We could be required to either divest our bank subsidiary or divest or cease any
activities not permissible for a bank holding company and its affiliates, including our Retail and Direct businesses.
While the consequences of being subject to regulation under the BHCA would be severe, we believe that the risk of
being subject to the BHCA is minimal as a result of the precautions we have taken in structuring our business.

There are various federal and Nebraska laws and regulations relating to minimum regulatory capital requirements
and requirements concerning the payment of dividends from net profits or surplus, restrictions governing transactions
between an insured depository institution and its affiliates, and general federal and Nebraska regulatory oversight
to prevent unsafe or unsound practices. At the end of 2007, our bank subsidiary met the requirements for a “well
capitalized” institution, the highest of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act’s (“FDICIA”} five
capital ratio levels. A “well capitalized” classification should not necessarily be viewed as describing the condition or
future prospects of a depository institution, including our bank subsidiary.




FDICIA also requires the FDIC to implement a system of risk-based premiums for deposit insurance pursuant
to which the premiums paid by a depository institution will be based on the probability that the FDIC will incur a
loss in respect of that institution. The FDIC has since adopted a system that imposes insurance premiums based upon
a matrix that takes into account an institution’s capital level and supervisory rating,

Subject to certain limitations, federal bank agencies may also require banking organizations such as our bank
subsidiary to hold regulatory capital against the full risk-wetghted amount of its retained securitization interests, We
understand that these federal bank agencies continue to analyze interests in securitization transactions under their
rules to determine the appropriate capital treatment. Any such determination could require our bank subsidiary to
hold significantly higher levels of regulatory capital against such interests.

The activities of our bank subsidiary as a consumer lender also are subject to regulation under the various
federal and state laws. We spend significant amounts of time ensuring we are in compliance with these laws and
work with our service providers 10 ensure that actions they take in connection with services they perform for us
are also in compliance with these laws. Depending on the underlying issue and applicable law, regulators are often
authorized to impose penalties for violations of these statutes and, in some cases, to order our bank subsidiary to
compensate injured borrowers, Borrowers may also have a private right of action to bring actions for some violations.
Federal bankruptcy and state debtor relief and collection laws also affect the ability of our bank subsidiary to collect
outstanding balances owed by borrowers.

Taxation Applicable to Us. We pay applicable corporate income, franchise, and other taxes to states in which
our retail stores are physically located. As we open more retail stores, we will be subject to tax in an increasing
number of state and local taxing jurisdictions. Upon entering a new state, we historically applied for a private letter
ruling from the state’s revenue department stating which types of taxes our Retail and Direct businesses would be
required to collect and pay in such state, and we accrued and remitted the applicable taxes based upon the private
letter ruling. Although we believe we properly accrued for these taxes based on our interpretation of the tax code
and prior private letter rulings, state taxing authorities may challenge our interpretation or attempt to revoke their
prior private letter rulings. 1f state taxing authorities are successful, additional taxes, interest, and related penalties
may be assessed. See “Risk Factors - Our historic sales tax collection policy for our Direct business may subject us
to liabilities for unpaid sales taxes on past Direct business sales” and “-The customer service enhancements we are
implementing at our retail stores will cause our Direct business to establish nexus in the states where our retail stores
are located, which will cause our Direct business to pay additional income and sales taxes and may have an adverse
effect on the profitability and cash flows of our Direct business.”

Other Regulations Applicable to Us. We must comply with federal, state, and local regulations, including the
federal Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act, which require us, as a federal firearms licensee, to perform a pre-
sale background check of purchasers of hunting rifles and other firearms.

We also are subject to a variety of state laws and regulations relating to, among other things, advertising,
pricing, and product safety/restrictions. Some of these laws prohibit or limit the sale, in certain states and locations,
of certain items we offer such as black powder firearms, ammunition, bows, knives, and similar products. State and
local government regulation of hunting can also affect our business.

We are subject to certain federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the protectton of the environment
and human health and safety. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with the terms of environmental laws
and that we have no liabilities under such laws that we expeci to have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, or financial condition.

Our Direct business is subject to the Mail or Telephone Order Merchandise Rule and related regulations
promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC™) which affect our catalog mail order operations. FTC
regulations, in general, govern the solicitation of orders, the information provided to prospective customers, and the
timeliness of shipments and refunds. [n addition, the FTC has established guidelines for advertising and labeling
many of the products we sell.




Intellectual Property

Cabela’s®, Cabela's CLUB®, Cabelas.com®, World’s Foremost Outfitter®, World’s Foremost Bank®, Bargain
Cave®, Dunn’s®, Van Dyke’s®, Wild Wings® and Herters® are among our registered service marks or trademarks
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. We have numerous pending applications for trademarks. In
addition, we own several other registered and unregistered trademarks and service marks involving advertising
slogans and other names and phrases used in our business. We own certain patents associated with various products.
We also own trade secrets, domain names, and copyrights, which have been registered for each of our catalogs.

We believe that our trademarks are valid and valuable and intend to maintain our trademarks and any related
registrations. We do not know of any material pending claims of infringement or other challenges to our right to use
our marks in the United States or elsewhere. We have no franchises or other concessions which are material to our
operations.

Available Information

Our website address is www.cabelas.com. We make available on our website, free of charge, our annual reports
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports,
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC™). Our SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations section of our
website. The information on our website, whether currently posted or in the future, is not part of this or any other
report we file with or furnish to the SEC,

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risk Factors
Risks Related to Qur Merchandising Business

A decline in discretionary consumer spending could reduce our revenue.

Our revenue depends on discretionary consumer spending, which may decrease due to a variety of factors
beyond our control, including:

e unfavorable general business conditions;

. increases in interest rates;

. increases in inflation;

e wars, fears of war, and terrorist attacks and organizing activities;

. increases in consumer debt levels and decreases in the availability of consumer credit;
. adverse or unseasonal weather conditions or events;

e increases in gasoline prices reducing the willingness (o travel to our retail stores;
s adverse changes in applicable laws and regulations;

. increases in taxation;

s adverse fluctuations of foreign currencies;

e  adverse unemployment trends;

e adverse conditions in the subprime mortgage and housing markets; and

e other factors that adversely influence consumer confidence and spending.

Our customers’ purchases of discretionary items, including our products, could decline during periods when
disposable income is lower or periods of actual or perceived unfavorable economic conditions. If this occurs, our
revenue would decline.




Competition in the putdoor recreation and casual apparel and footwear markets could reduce our revenue
and profitability.

The outdoor recreation and casual apparel and footwear markets are highly fragmented and competitive. We
compete directly or indirectly with the following types of companies:

*  other specialty retailers that compete with us across a significant portion of our merchandising categories
through retail store or direct businesses, such as Bass Pro Shops, Gander Mountain, Orvis, The Sportsman's
Guide, and Sportsman's Warchouse;

. large-format sporting goods stores and chains, such as The Sports Authority, Dick's Sporting Goods, and
Big 5 Sporting Goods;

*  retailers that currently compete with us through retail businesses that may enter the direct business;

s  mass merchandisers, warehouse clubs, discount stores, and department stores, such as Wal-Mart and
Target; and

s casual outdoor appare! and footwear retailers, such as L.1.. Bean, Lands’ End, and REL

Many of our competitors have a larger number of stores, and some of them have substantially greater market
presence, name recognition, and financial, distribution, marketing, and other resources than we have. In addition, if
our competitors reduce their prices, we may have to reduce our prices in order to compete. Furthermore, some of our
competitors have been aggressively building new stores in locations with high concentrations of our Direct business
customers. As a result of this competition, we may need to spend more on advertising and promotion. Some of our
mass merchandising competitors, such as Wal-Mart, do not currently compete in many of the product lines we offer.
If these competitors were to begin offering a broader array of competing products, or if any of the other factors listed
above occurred, our revenue could be reduced or our costs could be increased, resulting in reduced profitability.

If we fail to maintain the strength and value of our brand, our revenue is likely to decline.

Qur success depends on the value and strength of the Cabela’s brand. The Cabela’s name is integral to our
business as well as to the implementation of our strategies for expanding our business. Maintaining, promoting,
and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our marketing and merchandising efforts and our
ability to provide high quatity merchandise and a consistent, high quality customer experience. Our brand could be
adversely affected if we fail to achieve these objectives or if our public image or reputation were to be tarnished by
negative publicity, Any of these events could result in decreases in revenue,

If we cannot successfully implement our retail store expansion strategy, our growth and profitability
would be adversely impacted.

We continue to actively seek additional locations to open new retail stores. Our ability to open new retail
stores in a timely manner and operate them profitably depends on a number of factors, many of which are beyond
our control, including:

s our ability to manage the financial and operational aspects of our retail growth strategy;

s our ability to identify suitable locations, including our ability to gather and assess demographic and
marketing data to determine consumer demand for our products in the locations we select;

¢  our ability to negotiate and obtain economic development packages with local and state governments
where our new retail stores would be located;

s our ability to properly assess the implications of economic development packages and customer density
to project the profitability of potential new retail store locations;

+  our ability to secure required governmental permits and approvals;
. our ability to hire and train skilled store operating personnel, especially management personnel;

¢ the availability of construction materials and labor and the absence of significant construction delays or
cost overruns,




e our ability to provide a satisfactory mix of merchandise that is responsive to the needs of our customers
living in the areas where new retail stores are built;

e our ability to supply new retail stores with inventory in a timely manner;

. our ability to properly assess operational and regulatory challenges involved in opening and successfully
operating retail stores in Canada;

s our competitors building or leasing stores near our retail stores or in locations we have identified as
targets for a new retail store;

¢ general economic and business conditions affecting consumer confidence and spending and the overall
strength of our business; and

e the availability of financing on favorable terms.

We may not be able to sustain the growth in the number of our retail stores, the revenue growth historically
achieved by our retail stores, or to maintain consistent levels of profitability in our Retail business, particularly
as we expand into markets now served by other large-format sporting goods retailers and mass merchandisers. In
particular, new retail stores typically generate lower operating margins because pre-opening costs are fully expensed
in the year of opening and because fixed costs, as a percentage of revenue, are higher. In addition, the substantial
management time and resources which our retail store expansion strategy requires may result in disruption to our
existing business operations which may harm our profitability.

Our continued retail expansion will result in a higher number of retail stores, which could adversely
affect the desirability of our retail stores, harm the operating results of our Retail business, and reduce the
revenue of our Direct business.

As the number of our retail stores increases, our stores will become more highly concentrated in the geographic
regions we serve, As a result, the number of customers and related revenue at individual stores may decline and the
average amount of sales per square foot at our stores may be reduced. In addition, as we open more retail stores and
as our compelitors open stores with similar formats, our retail store format may become less unique and may be less
attractive to customers as tourist and entertainment shopping locations. If either of these events occurs, the operating
results of our Retail business could be adversely affected. The growth in the number of our retail stores may also
draw customers away from our Direct business. If we are unable to properly manage the relationship between our
Direct business and our Retail business, the revenue of our Direct business could be adversely affected.

Our failure to successfully manage our Direct business could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results and cash flows.

During 2007, our Direct business accounted for 52.0% of the total revenue in our Retail and Direct businesses.
Our Direct business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control, including
the following:

e our inability to properly adjust the fixed costs of a catalog mailing to reflect subsequent sales of the
products marketed in the catalog;

e lower and less predictable response rates for catalogs sent to prospective customers;

s increases inU.S. Postal Service rates, paper costs, and printing costs resulting in higher catalog production
costs and lower profits for our Direct business;

. failures to properly design, print, and mail our catalogs in a timely manner;
. failures to introduce new catalog titles;
e failures to timely fill customer orders;

e changes in consumer preferences, willingness to purchase goods through catalogs or the Internet, weak
economic conditions and economic uncertainty, and unseasonal weather in key geographic markets;

s increases in software filters that may inhibit our ability to market our products through e-mail messages
to our customers and increases in consumer privacy concerns relating to the Internet;




»  changes in applicable federal and state regulation;
. breaches of Internet security; and

s failures in our Internet infrastructure or the failure of systems of third parties, such as telephone or
electric power service, resulting in website downtime, customer care center closures, or other problems.

Any one or more of these factors could result in lower-than-expected revenue for our Direct business. These
factors could also result in increased costs, increased merchandise returns, slower turning inventories, inventory
write-downs, and working capital constraints. Because our Direct business accounts for a significant portion of
our total revenue, any performance shortcomings experienced by our Direct business would likely have a material
adverse effect on our operating results and cash flows.

We are implementing substantial systems changes in support of our Direct business and retail store
expansion that might disrupt our supply chain operations.

Our success depends on our ability to source merchandise efficiently through appropriate management
information and operational systems and procedures. We regularly evaluate our information technology systems and
are implementing modifications to our technology that will involve updating or replacing our systems with successor
systems during the course of several years, including changes to our merchandising systems and improvements to
our customer relationship management system, There are inherent risks associated with replacing or modifying
these systems, including supply chain disruptions that could affect our ability to deliver products to our stores and
our customers in an efficient mansner. In addition, in updating and replacing our systems, we may be unable to
accurately capture and transfer data. We may be unable to successfully launch these new systems, the launch of these
new systems could result in supply chain disruptions, or the actual cost may exceed the estimated cost of these new
systems, any of which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Additionally,
there is no assurance that successfully implemented new systems will deliver value to us.

Any disruption of the supply of products and services from our vendors could have an adverse impact on
our revenue and profitability.

Our vendors and service providers include the following:
¢ vendors to supply our merchandise in sufficient quantities at competitive prices in a timely manner;

s outside printers and catalog production vendors to print and mail our catalogs and to convert our catalogs
to digital format for website posting;

e  shipping companies, such as United Parcel Service, the U.S. Postal Service, and common carriers, for
timely delivery of our catalogs, shipment of merchandise to our customers, and delivery of merchandise
from our vendors to us and from our distribution centers to our retail stores;

‘e telephone companies to provide telephone service to our in-house customer care centers;

*  communications providers to provide our Internet users with access to our website and a website hosting
service provider to host and manage our website;

*  software providers to provide software and related services to run our operating systems for our Retail
and Direct businesses; and

¢  third-party card processors, such as First Data Resources, that process Cabela’s CLUB Visa
transactions. :

Any disruption in these services could have a negative impact on our ability to market and sell our produects,
and serve our customers. Our ten largest trade vendors collectively represented approximately 13% of our total
merchandise purchases in 2007. If we are unable to acquire suitable merchandise or lose one or more key vendors, we
may not be able to offer products that are important to our merchandise assortment. We also are subject to risks, such
as the unavailability of raw materials, labor disputes, union organizing activity, strikes, inclement weather, natural
disasters, war and terrorism, and adverse general economic and political conditions that might limit our vendors’
ability to provide us with quality merchandise on a timely basis. We have no contractual arrangements providing for
continued supply from our key vendors and our vendors may discontinue selling to us at any time. We may not be able




to develop relationships with new vendors, and products from alternative sources, if any, may be of a lesser quality
and more expensive than those we currently purchase. Any delay or failure in offering products to our customers
could have an adverse impact on our revenue and profitability. In addition, if the cost of fuel rises, the cost to deliver
merchandise to the customers of our Direct business and from our distribution centers to our retail stores may rise
which could have an adverse impact on our profitability.

Political and economic uncertainty and unrest in foreign countries where our merchandise vendors are
located could adversely affect our operating results.

In 2007, approximately 49% of our merchandise was obtained directly from vendors located in foreign
countries, with approximately 43% of our merchandise being obtained from vendors located in China, Taiwan,
Mexico, Vietnam, and Japan. In addition, we believe that a significant portion of our other vendors obtain their
products from foreign countries that may also be subject to political and economic uncertainty. We are subject to
risks and uncertainties associated with changing economic and political conditions in foreign countries where our
vendors are located, such as:

. increased import duties, tariffs, trade restrictions, and quotas;

s work stoppages;

e  economic uncertainties {(including inflation);

e adverse foreign government regulations;

e wars, fears of war, and terrorist attacks and organizing activities;
. adverse fluctuations of foreign currencies; and

. political unrest.

We cannot predict when, or the extent to which, the countries in which our products are manufactured will
experience any of the above events. Any event causing a disruption or delay of imports from foreign locations would
likely increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise available to us and would adversely affect our operating
results, particularly if imports of our Cabela’s branded merchandise were adversely affected as our margins are
higher on our Cabela’s branded merchandise.

Our ability to source our merchandise, or to source our merchandise at all, as well as the related
profitability, could be hurt if new trade restrictions are imposed or existing trade restrictions become more
burdensome.

Trade restrictions, including increased tariffs, safeguards, or quotas, on apparel and accessories, could
increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise available to us. Under the World Trade Organization (*“WTQ™)
Agreement, effective January 1, 2005, the United States and other WTO member countries removed quotas on
goods from WTO members, which in certain instances affords us greater flexibility in importing textile and apparel
products from WTO countries from which we source our merchandise. However, as the removal of quotas resulted in
an import surge from China, the United States in May 2005 imposed safeguard quotas on seven categories of goods
and apparel imported from China. Effective January 1, 2006, the United States imposed quotas on certain categories
of goods and apparel from China, and may impose additional quotas in the future. These and other trade restrictions
could have a significant impact on our sourcing patterns in the future. Trade restrictions, including increased tariffs
or quotas, embargoes, safeguards, and customs restrictions against apparel items, as well as U.S. or foreign labor
strikes, work stoppages, or boycotts could increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise available to us or
may require us to modify our current business practices, any of which could hurt our profitability.

Due to the seasonality of our business, our annual operating results would be adversely affected if our
revenue during the fourth quarter was substantially below expectations.

We experience seasonal fluctuations in our revenue and operating resuits. Historically, we have realized a
significant portion of our revenue and earnings for the year in the fourth quarter. In 2007, we generated 37.9% of
our revenue, and 64.0% of our net income, in the fourth quarter. We incur significant additional expenses in the
fourth quarter due to higher customer purchase volumes and increased staffing. If we miscalculate the demand for
our products generatly or for our product mix during this quarter, our revenue could decline, which would harm our
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financiat performance. In addition, abnormally warm weather conditions during the fourth quarter can reduce sales
of many of the products normally sold during this time period and inclement weather can reduce store traffic or cause
us to temporarily close stores causing a reduction in revenue. Because a substantial portion of our operating income
is derived from our fourth quarter revenue, a shortfall in expected fourth quarter revenue would cause our annual
operating results to suffer significantly.

If we lose key management or are unable to attract and retain the talent required for our business, our
operating results could suffer.

Our future success depends to a significant degree on the skills, experience and efforts of Dennis Highby,
our President and Chief Executive Officer, and other key personnel including our senior executive management
and merchandising teams. With the exception of our Chairman, Richard N. Cabela, and our Vice Chairman, James
W. Cabela, none of our senior management or directors has employment agreements other than our Management
Change of Control Severance Agreements. We do not carry key-man life insurance on any of our executives or
key management personnel. In addition, our corporate headquarters is located in a sparsely populated rural area
which may make it difficult to attract and retain qualified individuals for key management positions. The loss of the
services of any of these individuals or the inability to attract and retain qualified individuals for our key management
positions could cause our operating results to suffer.

Our business depends on our ability to meet our labor needs, and if we are unable to do so, our retail stere
expansion strategy may be delayed and our revenue growth may suffer.

Qur success depends on hiring, training, managing, and retaining quality managers, sales associates, and
employees in our retail stores and customer care centers. Our corporate headquarters, distribution centers, return
center, and some of our retail stores are located in sparsely populated rural areas. It may be difficult to attract and
retain qualified personnel, especially management and technical personnel, in these areas. Competition for qualified
management and technical employees could require us to pay higher wages or grant above market levels of stock
compensation to attract a sufficient number of employees. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified personnel
as needed, the implementation of our retail store expansion strategy may be delayed and our revenue growth may
suffer.

Our historic sales tax collection policy for our Direct business may subject us to liabilities for unpaid
sales taxes on past Direct business sales.

Many states have attempted to require that out-of-state direct marketers, whose only contacts with the state are
solicitations and delivery to their residents of products purchased through the mail or the Internet, collect sales taxes
on the sale of these products. In addition, a private litigant, purportedly on behalf of various states, has initiated
litigation against several out-of-state direct marketers alleging that the failure to collect and remit sales tax violates
various state false claims laws. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that states, absent congressional legislation, may
not impose tax collection obligations on out-of-state direct marketers unless the out-of-state direct marketer has
nexus with the state. Nexus generally is created by the physical presence of the direct marketer, its agents or its
property within the state. Qur sales tax collection policy for our Direct business is to collect and remit sales tax in
states where our Direct business has established nexus. Prior to the opening of a retail store, we historically sought
a private letter ruling from the state in which the store would be located as to whether our Direct business would
have nexus with that state as a result of the store opening, Some states have enacted legislation that requires sales
tax collection by direct marketers with no physical presence in that state. In some instances, the legislation assumes
nexus exists because of the physical presence of an affiliated entity engaged in the same line of business. We may
receive future assessments from states for unpaid sales taxes on prior Direct business sales. In addition, a competitor
has commenced an action against us alleging that our failure to collect and remit sales tax in certain states constitutes
unfair competition. We presently intend to vigorously contest any future sales tax assessments and this action, but
we may not prevail. If we do not prevail, we could be held liable for sales taxes on prior Direct business sales which
could be substantial.




The customer service enhancements we are implementing at our retail stores will cause our Direct business
to establish nexus in the states where our retail stores are located, which will cause our Direct business to pay
additional income and sales taxes and may have an adverse effect on the profitability and cash flows of our
Direct business.

The customer service enhancements we are implementing at our retail stores are designed to increase customer
convenience, purchasing, and delivery options. These enhancements include Internet kiosks, catalog order desks,
and in-store pick-up areas for catalog and internet purchases. Because these enhancements will cause our Direct
business to establish nexus in states where our retail stores are located, we began, effective January 2008, collecting
and remitting sales taxes on Direct business sales to customers located in these states. The establishment of nexus
and imposition of income and use taxes by states on sales of our Direct business:

e will increase the tax collection and payment obligations of our Direct business, which could create
administrative burdens for us;

e  could increase the total cost of our products in our Direct business to our customers relative to our
competitors that do not collect sales taxes on Direct business sales; and

e could decrease the sales of our Direct business or cause us to reduce the underlying prices for the products
sold through our Direct business.

These events could have an adverse effect on the profitability and cash flows of our Direct business.

We must successfully order and manage our inventory to reflect customer demand and anticipate changing
consumer preferences and buying trends or our revenue and profitability will be adversely affected.

Our success depends upon our ability to successfully manage our inventory and to anticipate and respond
to merchandise trends and customer demands in a timely manner. We cannot predict consumer preferences with
certainty and they may change over time. We usually must order merchandise well in advance of the applicable
selling season. The extended lead times for many of our purchases may make it difficult for us to respond rapidly
to new or changing product trends or changes in prices. If we misjudge either the market for our merchandise or
our customers’ purchasing habits, our revenue may decline significantly and we may not have sufficient quantities
of merchandise to satisfy customer demand or we may be required to mark down excess inventory, either of which
would result in lower profit margins. In addition, as we implement our retail store expansion strategy, we will need to
construct additional distribution centers or expand the size of our existing distribution centers to support our growing
number of retail stores. If we are unable to find suitable locations for new distribution centers or to timely integrate
new or expanded distribution centers into our inventory control process, we may not be able to deliver inventory to
our retail stores in a timely manner, which could have an adverse effect on the revenue and cash flows of our Retail
business.

A natural disaster or other disruption at our distribution centers or return facility could cause us to lose
merchandise and be unable to effectively deliver to our direct customers and retail steres.

We currently rely on distribution centers in Sidney, Nebraska; Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin; and Wheeling,
West Virginia, to handle our distribution needs. We operate a return center in Oshkosh, Nebraska; and our Wheeling,
West Virginia, distribution center also processes returns. Any natural disaster or other serious disruption to these
centers due to fire, tornado, or any other calamity could damage a significant portion of our inventory, and materially
impair our ability to adequately stock our retail stores, deliver merchandise to customers, and process returns to
vendors and could result in lost revenue, increased costs, and reduced profits.

Our failure to obtain or negotiate economic development packages with local and state governments
could cause us to significantly alter our retail store strategy or format and/or delay the construction of one or
more of our retail stores and could adversely affect our revenue, cash flows and profitability.

We have received economic development packages from many of the local and state governments where our
retail stores are located. In some locations, we have experienced an increased amount of government and citizen
resistance and critical review of pending and existing economic development packages. This resistance and critical
review may cause local and state government officials in future locations to deny or limit economic development
packages that might otherwise be available to us. The failure to obtain similar economic development packages in
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the future for any of these reasons could cause us to significantly alter our retail store strategy or format. As a result,
we could be forced to invest less capital in our stores which could have an adverse effect on our ability to construct
the stores as attractive tourist and entertainment shopping destinations, possibly leading to a decrease in revenue
or revenue growth. In addition, the failure to obtain similar economic development packages for stores built in the
future would have an adverse impact on our cash flows and on the return on investment in these stores.

The failure of properties to generate sufficient taxes to amortize economic development bonds owned
by us that relate to the development of such properties would have an adverse impact on our cash flows and
profitability. ’

We often purchase economic development bonds issued by state or local governmental entities in connection
with the development of our retail stores. The proceeds of these bonds are then used to fund the construction and
equipping of new retail stores and related infrastructure development. The repayments of principai and interest on
these bonds are typically tied to sales, property, or lodging taxes generated from the related retail store and, in some
cases, from other businesses in the surrounding area, over periods which range between 20 and 30 years. However,
the governmental entity from which we purchase the bonds is not otherwise liable for repayment of principal and
interest on the bonds to the extent that the associated taxes are insufficient to pay the bonds. At the time we purchase
these bonds, we make estimates of the discounted future cash flow streams they are expected to generate in the form
of interest and principal payments. Because these cash flows are based primarily on future property or sales tax
collections at our retail stores and other facilities (which in many cases may not be operating at the time we make our
estimates), these estimates are inherently subjective and the probability of ultimate realization is highly uncertain. If
sufficient tax revenue is not generated by the subject properties, we will not receive the full amount of the expected
payments due under the bonds, which would have an adverse impact on our cash flows and profitability.

Our failure to comply with the terms of current economic development agreements could result in our
repayment of grant money or other adverse consequences that would affect our cash flows and profitability.

The economic development packages which we have received in connection with the construction of our current
stores have, in some instances, contained forfeiture provisions and other remedies in the event we do not fully comply
with the terms of the economic development agreements. Among the terms which could trigger these remedies are
the failure to maintain certain employment and wage levels, failure to timely open and operate a retail store, and
failure to develop property adjacent to a retail store. At the end of 2007, the total amount of grant funding subject to
repayment pursuant to a specific contractual remedy was approximately $13 million. Other remedies that have been
included in some economic development agreements are loss of priority to tax payments supporting the repayment
of bonds held by us. Where specific remedies are not set forth, the local governments would be entitled to pursue
general contract remedies. A default by us under these economic development agreements could have an adverse
effect on our cash flows and profitability.

We may incur costs from litigation or increased regulation relating to preducts that we sell, particularly
tree stands and firearms, which could adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

We may incur damages due to lawsuits relating to products we sell. We are currently a defendant in certain
product liability lawsuits, including lawsuits relating to tree stands. We may incur losses due to lawsuits, including
potential class actions, relating to our performance of background checks on firearms purchases and compliance
with other sales laws as mandated by state and federal law. We may also incur losses from lawsuits relating to the
improper use of firearms or ammunition sold by us, including lawsuits by municipalities or other organizations
attempting o recover costs from manufacturers and retailers of firearms and ammunition. Qur insurance coverage
and the insurance provided by our vendors for certain products they sell to us may be inadequate to cover claims
and liabilities related to products that we sell. In addition, claims or lawsuits related to products that we sell or the
unavailability of insurance for product liability claims, could result in the elimination of these products from our
preduct line reducing revenue. If one or more successful claims against us are not covered by or exceed our insurance
coverage, or if insurance coverage is no longer available, our available working capital may be impaired and our
operating results could be adversely affected. Even unsuccessful claims could result in the expenditure of funds
and management time and could have a negative impact on our profitability and on future premiums we would be
required to pay on our insurance policies.
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Current and future government regulation may negatively impact demand for our products and our
ability to conduct our business.

Federal, state, and local laws and regulations can affect our business and the demand for products. These taws
and regulations include:

. FTC regulations governing the manner in which orders may be solicited and prescribing other obligations
in fulfilling orders and consummating sales;

¢ laws and regulations that prohibit or limit the sale, in certain states and localities, of certain items we offer
such as firearms, black powder firearms, ammunition, bows, knives, and similar products;

e the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives governing the manner in which we sell firearms
and ammunition;

. laws and regulations governing hunting and fishing;
. laws and regulations relating to the collecting and sharing of non-public customer information; and

s  US. customs laws and regulations pertaining to proper item classification, quotas, payment of duties
and tariffs, and maintenance of documentation and internal control programs which relate to importing
taxidermy which we display in our retail stores.

Changes in these laws and regulations or additional regulation could cause the demand for and sales of our
products to decrease. Moreover, complying with increased or changed regulations could cause our operating expenses
to increase. This could adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

Our inability or failure to protect our intellectual property conld have a negative impact on our operating
results,

Qur trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade secrets, domain names, and other intellectual property
are valuable assets that are critical to our success. Effective trademark and other intellectual property protection
may not be available in every country in which our products are made available. The unauthorized reproduction or
other misappropriation of our intellectual property could diminish the value of our brands or goodwill and cause a
decline in our revenue. Any infringement or other intellectual property claim made against us, whether or not it has
merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, cause product delays, or require us to enter into royalty or
licensing agreements. As a result, any such claim could have an adverse effect on our operating results.

Failure to successfully integrate any business we acquire could have an adverse impact on our
profitability.

We may from time to time acquire businesses which we believe to be complementary to our business. Acquisitions
may result in difficulties in assimilating acquired companies and may result in the diversion of our capital and our
management’s attention from other business issues and opportunities. We may not be able to successfully integrate
operations that we acquire, including their personnel, financial systems, distribution, operations, and general
operating procedures. If we fail to successfully integrate acquisitions, we could experience increased costs associated
with operating inefficiencies, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability.

Risks Related to Our Financial Services Business

We may experience limited availability of financing or variation in funding costs for our Financial
Services business, which could limit growth of the business and decrease our profitability,

QOur Financial Services business requires a significant amount of cash to operate. These cash requirements will
increase if our credit card originations increase or if our cardholders’ balances or spending increase. Historically, we
have relied upon external financing sources to fund these operations, and we intend to continue to access external
sources to fund our growth. A number of factors such as our financial results, changes within our organization,
disruptions in the capital markets, our corporate and regulatory structure, interest rate fluctuations, general
economic conditions, and accounting and regulatory changes and relations could make such financing more difficult
or impossible to obtain or more expensive.
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We have been, and will continue to be, particularly reliant on funding from securitization transactions for our
Financial Services business. Securitization funding sources include both a commercial paper conduit facility and
fixed and floating rate term securitizations. A failure to renew this facility, to resecuritize the term securitizations
as they mature, or to add additional term securitizations and commercial paper conduits on favorable terms as it
becomes necessary could increase our financing costs and potentially limit our ability to grow our Financial Services
business. Unfavorable conditions in the asset-backed securities markets generally, including the unavailability of
commercial bank liquidity support or credit enhancements, such as financial guaranty insurance, could have a
similar effect.

Furthermore, even if we are able-to securitize our credit card loans consistent with past practice, poor
performance of our securitized loans, including increased delinquencies and credit losses, lower payment rates, or
a decrease in excess spreads below certain thresholds, could result in a downgrade or withdrawal of the ratings on
the outstanding securities issued in our securitization transactions, cause early amortization of these securities, or
result in higher required credit enhancement levels. This could jeopardize our ability to complete other securitization
transactions on acceptable terms, decrease our liquidity, and force us to rely on other potentially more expensive
funding sources, to the extent available, which would decrease our profitability.

We may have to reallocate capital from our Retail and Direct businesses to meet the capital needs of our
Financial Services business, which could alter our retail store expansion program.

Qur bank subsidiary must satisfy the capital maintenance requirements of government regulators and its
agreement with Visa US.A., Inc. (“Visa™). A variety of factors could cause the capital requirements of our bank
subsidiary to exceed our ability to generate capital internally or from third party sources. For example, government
regulators or Visa could unilaterally increase their minimum capital requirements. Also, we have significant potential
obligations in the form of the unused credit lines of our cardholders. At the end of 2007, these unfunded amounts
totaled approximately $12 billion. Draws on these lines of credit could materially exceed predicted line usage. In
addition, the occurrence of certain events, such as significant defaults in payment of securitized loans or failure
to comply with the terms of securitization covenants, may cause previously completed securitization transactions
to amortize earlier than scheduled or be reclassified as a liability for financial accounting purposes, both of which
would have a significant effect on our ability to meet the capital maintenance requirements of our bank subsidiary,
as affected off-balance sheet ioans would immediately be recorded on our consolidated balance sheet and would be
subject to regulatory capital requirements. If any of these factors occur, we may have to contribute capital to our bank
subsidiary, which may require us to raise additional debt or equity capital and/or divert capital from our Retail and
Direct businesses, which in turn could significantly alter our retail store expansion strategy.

It may be difficult to sustain the historical growth and profitability of our Financial Services business,
and we will be subject to various risks as we attempt to grow the business,

We may not be able to retain existing cardholders, grow account balances, or attract new cardholders and the
profits from our Financial Services business could decline, for a variety of reasons, many of which are beyond our
control, including:

e credit risk related to the loans we make to cardholders and the charge-off levels of our credit card

accounts;

e lack of growth of potential new customers generated by our Retail and Direct businesses;

¢ liquidity and funding risk relating to our ability to create the liquidity necessary to extend credit to our
cardholders and provide the capital necessary to meet the requirements of government regulators and
Visa; and

s operational risk related to our ability to acquire the necessary operational and organizational infrastructure,
manage expenses as we expand, and recruit management and operations personnel with the experience to
run an increasingly complex and highly-regulated business.
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Economic downturns and secial and other factors could cause our credit card charge-offs and delinquencies
to increase, or credit card balances to decrease, which would decrease our profitability.

Economic downturns generally lead to increased charge-offs and credit losses in the consumer finance industry,
which would cause us to experience increased charge-offs and delinquencies in our credit card loan portfolio. An
economic downturn can hurt our financial performance as cardholders defauit on their balances or carry lower
balances. A variety of social and other factors also may cause changes in credit card use, payment patterns, and the
rate of defaults by cardholders. These social factors include changes in consumer confidence levels, the public’s
perception of the use of credit cards, changing attitudes about incurring debt, and the stigma of personal bankruptcy.
Additionally, credit card accounts tend to exhibit a rising trend in credit loss and delinquency rates between 18 to
30 months after they are issued. [f the rate of growth in new account generation slows, the proportion of accounts in
the portfolio that have been open for between 18 to 3¢ months will increase and the percentage of charge-offs and
delinquencies may increase. Our underwriting criteria and product design may be insufficient to protect the growth
and profitability of our Financial Services business during a sustained period of economic downturn or recession or
a material shift in social attitudes, and may be insufficient to protect against these additional negative factors.

The performance of our Financial Services business may be negatively affected by the performance of
our merchandising businesses.

Negative developments in our Retail and Direct businesses could affect our ability to grow or maintain our
Financial Services business. We believe our ability to maintain cardholders and attract new cardholders is highly
correlated with customer loyalty to our merchandising businesses and to the strength of the Cabela’s brand. In
addition, transactions on cardholder accounts produce loyalty points which the cardholder may apply to future
purchases from us. Adverse changes in the desirability of products we sell, negative trends in retail customer service
and satisfaction, or the termination or modification of the loyalty program could have a negative impact on our bank
subsidiary’s ability to grow its account base and to attract desirable co-branding opportunities with third parties.

Our Financial Services business faces the risk of a complex and changing regulatory and legal
environment.

Our Financial Services business operates in a heavily regulated industry and is therefore subject to a wide array
of banking and consumer lending laws and regulations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could
result in financial, structural, and operational penalties being imposed. In addition, as a Visa member bank, our bank
must comply with rules and regulations imposed by Visa. For example, our bank and Cabela’s could be fined by Visa
for failing to comply with Visa's data security standards.

Changes in interest rates could have a negative impact on our earnings.

In connection with our Financial Services business, we borrow money from institutions and accept funds
by issuing certificates of deposit, which we then lend to cardholders. We earn interest on the cardholders’ account
balances, and pay interest on the certificates of deposit and borrowings we use to fund those loans. Changes in these
two interest rates affect the value of the assets and liabilities of our Financial Services business. If the rate of interest
we pay on borrowings increases more (or more rapidly) than the rate of interest we earn on loans, our net interest
income, and therefore our earnings, could fall. Our earnings could also be adversely affected if the rates on our credit
card account balances fall more quickly than those on our borrowings. 1n addition, at the end of 2007, approximately
35.5% of our cardholders did not maintain balances on their credit card accounts. We do not earn any interest from
these accounts but do earn other fees from these accounts such as Visa interchange fees. In the event interest rates
rise, the spread between the interest rate we pay on our borrowings and the fees we earn from these accounts may
change and our profitability may be adversely affected.

Credit card industry litigation could adversely impact the amount of revenue generated by our Financial
Services business.

Cur Financial Services business faces possible risk from the outcomes of certain credit card industry litigation,
For example, a number of entities, each purporting to represent a class of retail merchants, have sued Visa and several
member banks, and other credit card associations, alleging, among other things, that Visa and its member banks have
violated US. antitrust laws by conspiring to fix the level of interchange fees. To date, we have not been named as a
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defendant in any credit card industry lawsuits. If the interchange fees that are charged to merchants are reduced as a result
of the interchange lawsuits or if the credit card industry is adversely affected by other credit card industry litigation, the
financial condition and results of operations of our Financial Services business may be negatively impacted.

Fluctuations in the value of our interests in our securitizations relating to cur Financial Services business
may adversely affect our earnings.

In connection with our securitizations relating to our Financial Services business, we retain certain interests
in the assets included in the securitization. These interests are carried on our consolidated financial statements
and include our “transferor’s interest” in the securitized loans; an “interest-only strip,” which represents our right
to receive excess cash available after repayment of all amounts due to the investors; servicing rights; and in some
cases cash reserve accounts and Class B securities, which securities are subordinate to the investors’ certificates
and notes. The value of these retained interests depends upon income earned on these interests which is affected by
many factors not within our control, including the performance of the securitized loans, interest paid to the holders
of securitization securities, credit losses, and transaction expenses. The value of our interests in the securitizations
will vary over time as the amount of loans in the securitized pool and the performance of those loans fluctuate. The
performance of the loans included in our securitizations is subject to the same risks and uncertainties that affect the
loans that we have not securitized, including, among others, increased delinquencies and credit losses, economic
downturns and social factors, interest rate fluctuations, changes in government policies and regulations, competition,
expenses, dependence upon third-party vendors, fluctuations in accounts and account balances, and industry risks.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In addition to our retail stores listed below, we also operate our corporate headquarters, administrative offices,
three distribution centers, a merchandise return center, five customer care centers, and a taxidermy manufacturing
facility. The following table provides information regarding the general location, use, and approximate size of our
principal non-retail properties:

Total : Segment That
Property Location Square Feet Uses Property
Corporate Headquarters ................. ... .00 Sidney, Nebraska 294,000 Retail, Direct and
Other
Administrative Offices and Customer Care Center .. ... .. Sidney, Nebraska 94,000 Retail, Direct and
Other
Distribution Center. .. ......... ... ... Sidney, Nebraska 752,000 Other
Distribution Center. . .. ...ttt s Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin 1,071,000 Other
DistributionCenter. .. ... ... ... ... .. iiiuivinnn. Wheeling, West Virginia (1) 1,165,000 Other
Retail Store, Warehouse and Administrative Office....... Winnipeg, Manitoba 84,000 Retail and Direct
Merchandise Return Cemter. .. ....vvvvrvin e vnenn.. Oshkosh, Nebraska 52,000 Other
CustomerCareCenter . ........coiiiiiirinenvrnnnns North Platte, Nebraska 12,000 Direct
Customer Care Center and Administrative Offices ....... Kearney, Nebraska 151,000 Retail store and
. Direct
Customer CareCenter . ... ... ... .. ... ... Grand [sland, Nebraska (1) 12,000 Direct
Customer Care Center and Administrative Offices ....... Lincoln, Nebraska 76,000 Direct, Financial
Services and Other
Manufacturing and Administrative Offices ............. Woonsocket, South Dakota 145,000 Direct

(1) We own all of these properties with the exception of leases we have entered into for the customer care center in
Grand Island, Nebraska, and the distribution center in Wheeling, West Virginia.

We own all of our retail stores except Boise, Idaho; and Hazelwood, Missouri; and we have a ground lease for
East Hartford, Connecticut. Also, in connection with some of the economic development packages received from
state or local governments where our stores are located, we have entered into agreements granting ownership of the
taxidermy, diorama, or other portions of our stores to these state and local governments.
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The following table shows the location, opening date, and approximate total square footage of our U. S. retail
stores used in our Retail segment:

Total Square

Location Opening Date Footage
Kearney, Nebraska . .. .. ... ................... Qctober, 1987 35,000
Sidney, Nebraska ............................ July, 1991 104,000
Owatonna, Minnesota .................ccov.n. March, 1998 159,000
Prairie Du Chien, Wisconsin . . ................. September, 1998 53,000
East Grand Forks, Minnesota. .................. September, 1999 59,000
Dundee, Michigan . ............ ... .0ievvnn.. March, 2000 228,000
Mitchell, SouthDakota. .. ..................... August, 2000 84,000
Kansas City,Kansas. . ........................ August, 2002 186,000
Hamburg, Pennsylvania . ...................... September, 2003 247,000
Wheeling, West Virginia ...................... August, 2004 176,000
Fort Worth, Texas . . ........ ... ... . ... . ...... May, 2005 234,000
Buda, Texas. ... ..ot June, 2005 192,000
Lehi,Utah.. ... ... ... . i i August, 2003 170,000
Rogers, Minnesota . ....................c..... QOctober, 2005 185,000
Glendale, Arizona. . ... .. ... ... ... .. ....... July, 2006 166,000
Boise,Idaho ......... ... ... ... .. . .. ... ... August, 2006 132,000
Richfield, Wisconsin ......................... September, 2006 166,000
LaVista,Nebraska........................... October, 2006 129,000
Hazelwood, Missouri .............. ... ... ... April, 2007 132,000 !
Hoffman Estates, [llinois . ..................... September, 2007 195,000
East Hartford, Connecticut. . . .................. October, 2007 196,000
Gonzales,Louisiana..................c.covuuns QOctober, 2007 167,000
Hammond, Indiana. .......................... October, 2007 189,000
Reno,Nevada . .......... ... .. . o, November, 2007 129,600
PostFalls,Idaho . ................. ... . ...... November, 2007 129,000
Lacey, Washington............. ... ... vvuns, November, 2007 194,000

At December 29, 2007, the total net book value of our property and equipment was $904 million. As of the end
of 2007, we believe that our properties and equipment were suitable for their intended use.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to certain lawsuits in the ordinary course of our business. The subject matter of these proceedings
primarily includes commercial disputes, employment issues, and product liability lawsuits. We do not believe that
the ultimate dispositions of these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

We have common stock and non-voting common stock. Qur common stock began trading on June 25, 2004,
on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “CAB”. Prior to that date, there was no public market
for our common steck. Our non-voting common stock is not listed on any exchange and not traded over the counter.
As of February 19, 2008, there were 944 holders of record of our common stock and no holders of record of our
non-voting common stock. This does not include persons who hold our common stock in nominee or “street name”
accounts through brokers or banks.

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our
common stock as reported on the NYSE:

2007 2006
High Low High Low
First QUATTEr . ...t e - 82649 $22.43 $21.19 $16.06
Second QUarter. . .. .. ... e 25.18 21.14 20.78 16.73
ThirdQuarter .. ... ... oo s 28.80 20.05 22.25 16.79
FourthQuarter .. ... ... ... i 24.43 13.89 26.00 21.04
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Stock Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph and table show Cabela’s cumulative total shareholder return on a
quarterly basis since the beginning of our first full quarter following the date of our initial public offering. The graph
also shows the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 Retailing Index and the S&P 500 Index. The graph assumes
that $100 was invested on July 2, 2004.
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, our revolving credit facility and our senior
notes limit our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.

Equity Compensation Plans

For information on securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, see “Item 12 —
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.”
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Fiscal Year (1)
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In Thousands Except Earnings per Share)

Operations Data:

Revenue:

Merchandise revenue . ............. $2,173995 §$1,908,801 $1,664,272 §$1.474415 §1,336,910

Financial services revenue .. ........ 159,335 137,423 105,831 69,060 49,823

Otherrevenue ................... 16,269 17,300 29,558 12,499 5,690

Total revenue . ................ 2,349,599 2,063,524 1,799,661 1,555,974 1,392,423

Costofrevenue ..................... 1,378,386 1,204,399 1,064,322 925,665 821,399
Selling, distribution, and

administrative expenses. . . ......... 820,121 715,380 620,376 533,094 479,964
Operatingincome . .................. 151,092 143,745 114,963 97,215 91,060
Interest (expense) income, net.......... (18,778} (16,126) (10,256) (7.577) (10,750}
Otherincome. ...........c.oovinn.. 6,913 9,637 10,663 10,443 5,612
Income before provision for

income taxes. ........couiirinaann 139,227 137,256 115,370 100,081 85,922
Provision for income taxes ............ 51,348 51,471 42,801 35,085 30,577
Net tncome available to common

stockholders . ................... $ 87879 § 85785 § 72569 § 64996 § 55345
Basic earnings pershare . ............. $ 134 % 132 ¢ 112§ 106 § 1.06
Diluted earnings pershare. ............ $ 1.31 % 129 § .10 § 1.03 § 1.00
Selected Balance Sheet Data: .
Cash and cash equivalents (2) .......... $ 131,182 § 172903 $ 86923 § 123934 § 112,656
Working capital (2) .................. 263,284 335,387 145,559 274,746 234,709
Totalassets. . ..............ccoooon... 2,212,830 1,751,230 1,366,280 1,228,231 969,682
Totaldebt.......................... 503,385 317,873 119,826 148,152 142,651
Total stockholders” equity . .. .......... 828,559 733,858 639,853 566,354 376,469
Other Data:
Depreciation and amortization ......... $ 59863 § 45559 % 34912 § 29843 § 26,715
Property and equipment additions .

including accrued amounts ......... 364,326 190,592 203,157 52,568 72,972
Purchases of economic development

bonds ........c i 36,223 23,397 65,077 74,492 18,201

(1) Fiscal years are based on the 52-53 week period ending on the Saturday closest to December 31, Fiscal 2007,
2006, 2005 and 2004 each consisted of 52 weeks and fiscal 2003 consisted of 53 weeks.

(2) Cash and cash equivalents includes amounts for World's Foremost Bank which were $123 million, $53 million,
$81 million, $58 million, and $77 million at years ended 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Due to regulatory
restrictions, our ability to use this cash for non-banking operations, including for working capital for our Retail
or Direct businesses or for retail store expansion, is limited.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and capital
resources should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this report.

Forward Looking Statements

Qur discussion contains forward-looking statements with respect to our plans and strategies for our businesses
and the business environment that are impacted by risks and uncertainties, Refer to “Special Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” preceding PART |, ITEM 1, and to ITEM 1A “Risk Factors” for information regarding
certain of the risks and uncertainties that affect our business and the industries in which we operate. Please note
that our actual results may differ materially from those we may estimate or project in any of these forward-looking
statements.

Cabela’s®

We are a leading specialty retailer, and the world’s largest direct marketer, of hunting, fishing, camping, and
related outdoor merchandise. We provide a quality service to our customers who enjoy an outdoor lifestyle by
supplying outdoor products through our multi-channel retail business consisting of our Retail and Direct business
segments. Our Retail business segment is comprised of 27 stores, 26 located in the United States and one in Canada.
Our Direct business segment is comprised of our catalog mail order business and our highly acclaimed Internet
website.

Cur Financial Services business segment also plays an integral role in supporting our merchandising business.
Our Financial Services business segment is comprised of our credit card services which reinforces our strong brand
and strengthens our customer loyalty through our credit card loyalty programs.

Fiscal 2007 Overview
Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease) % Change
(Dollars in Thousands)
Revenue:
Retatl ..o $1,043442 § 820,321 §223,121 27.2%
Dhrect . e 1,130,553 1,088,480 42,073 39
Total merchandisesales ........................ 2,173,995 1,908,801 265,194 13.9
Financial Services ........vtiiii i 159,335 137,423 21,912 15.9
Other revenle. . .. ..ot e et 16,269 17,300 (1,031} 6.0)
Totalrevenue ....... ... ... . ... .. . . i $2,349.599 $2.063,524 $286,075 13.9
Operating Income .. ...ttt $ 151,092 § 143,745 § 7,347 5.1
Net income perdilutedshare. . ........................ $ 131 % 1.29 § 0.02 1.6

Revenues for 2007 totated $2.35 billion, an increase of 13.9% over 2006, Revenues increased in 2007 principally
from the opening of eight new stores. Operating income totaled $151 million for 2007, an increase of 5.1% over 2006.
Net income per diluted share for 2007 was $1.31 versus $1.29 for 2006.

Our 2007 operating results were impacted by a challenging retail and macroeconomic environment resulting in
slowed retail store and Direct sales, and deterioration in merchandise gross margins from promotional and discounted
merchandise sales,

25




Other significant items which directly impact comparisons of our operating results for 2007 were:

*  new store pre-opening costs of $17 million in 2007 from the opening of eight new stores (six in the fourth
quarter, one late in the third quarter, and one in the second quarter), an increase of $7 million compared
to the pre-opening costs in 2006 from the opening of four stores;

e  certain retail stores not meeting sales expectations;
+  anincrease in the proportion of lower margin hard goods sales to higher margin soft goods sales;
e costs from advertising and promotional strategies aimed at capturing additional market share; and

s increases in Financial Services revenue principally from growth in the number of average active credit
card accounts and average managed credit card loans, partially offset by higher credit card loan charge-
offs.

Current Year Achievements

2007 was highlighted by the opening of eight new store locations, our expansion into Canada through an
acquisition, and operational achievements outlined below., .

Retail Store Openings — We opened eight new retail stores, increasing our total retail store square footage by
1.3 million square feet, or 49% of total retail space, and bringing our total square footage to over 4.0 million square
feet at the end of 2007.

Customer Service Enhancements — We completed implementation of customer service enhancements
directed at increasing sales and customer satisfaction in 10 of our retail stores including:

s in-store pick-up for catalog and Internet orders,
. installation of Internet kiosks, and
e the instatlation of catalog order desks.

We expect these customer service enhancements to be available in all existing retail stores in early 2008 and
are encouraged by early results.

Business Week magazine conducted its first ever Top 25 ranking of customer service champions — we ranked
No. 15 and were one of only two retailers to make the list.

Internet — Our Internet website continued to receive awards and high praise for excellence, including the
following awards and recognition:

¢ Qur website was ranked in the top three among ounline retailers for reliability and responsiveness - an
indication of download page speed and completing transactions for customers, according to a study on
U. S. retail websites over the 2007 holiday season by research firm Keynote.

¢  The Cabelas.com website was listed in the annual “The Internet Retailer Hot 100 Retail Web Sites.”
Websites were selected for being innovative and engaging, creating striking and effective site designs, or
having certain critical features such as site search that was better than other sites.

s QOur website was the most visited sporting goods industry eCommerce website according to a September
2007 publication from Hitwise, Incorporated, an online measurement company. Internet visits increased
by 30.2% in 2007 over 2006.

e  Qur website ranked among the top websites for total eCommerce sales (measured by industry
publications).

International Expansion — In September 2007, we acquired S.1.R. Warehouse Sports in Winnipeg, Manitoba,
which will serve as our platform for expansion into Canada. :

Cabela’s CLUB Visa Credit Card — Our Cabela’s CLUB Visa credit card was ranked among the Top 5 in
customer satisfaction by Consumer Reports in a 2007 reader survey on their satisfaction as credit card holders.
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The Future

While we anticipate that the business environment in which we operate will be challenging in 2008, we believe
our multi-channel model and our strong brand name provides us with opportunities for growth and profitability.
Over our history, we have built name recognition and a quality brand that is renowned and respected in the outdoor
industry. Throughout our multi-channel business, our strategy is to continue our focus on providing legendary
customer service, quality, and selection.

For 2008, our primary focus will be on managing our business efficiently to enhance near-term and long-term
results for our shareholders, a significant portion of which are employees and directors of Cabela’s, Qur focus wiil be
on the following initiatives as established by our executives:

*  improve our advertising strategy by using more targeted campaigns throughout our multi-channel model
to increase store traffic:

e improve retail store sales and profitability through enhanced product assortment, streamlined flow of
merchandise to our retatl stores, and reduced operating expenses;

¢  maintain merchandise gross margins in our sales channels;

®  improve inventory management by actively managing quantities and product deliveries through enhanced
leveraging of existing technologies, and by reducing unproductive inventory;

*  the opening of two new stores in 2008; and

s completion of customer service enhancements for better service including in-store pick-up, catalog desks,
and Internet kiosks.

Retail Store Efficiencies — For 2008, our primary objective is to enhance our retail store efficiencies and
improve our operating results. We intend to achieve this objective by enhancing and optimizing our retail store
merchandising processes, management information systems, and distribution and logistics capabilities. To enhance
our customer service at our retail stores, we are focusing on customer service through training and mentoring
programs,

Leverage OQur Multi-Channel Model — We will advance our efforts for offering customers integrated
opportunities to access and use our retail store, catalog, and Internet channels, including completing our roll-out of
Internet kiosks, catalog order desks, and in-store pick-up for catalog and Internet purchases. Qur in-store pick-up
program allows customers to order products through our catalogs and Internet site, and have them delivered to the
retail store of their choice without incurring shipping costs, increasing foot traffic in our stores. Conversely, our
expanding retail stores introduce customers to our Internet and catalog channels. Qur multi-channel model employs
the same merchandising team, distribution centers, customer database, and infrastructure, which we intend to further
capitalize on by building on the strengths of each channel, primarily through improvements in our merchandise
planning and replenishment systems. These systems will allow us to identify the correct product mix in each of our
retail stores, and also help maintain the proper inventory levels to satisfy customer demand in both our Retail and
Direct business channels, while also driving improvements in inventory turns.

Next Generation Stores — To enhance our returns on capital we are developing a next generation store format
which incorporates the following objectives:

¢  astore development model that will be adaptable to more markets, faster to start-up, and more efficient to
operate to reduce our investment and increase sales per square foot; and

® to provide shopper-friendly layouts with regionalized product mixes, concept shops, and new product
displays/fixtures featuring an improved look.

Internet Expansion - We will pursue the following key growth objectives to continue our leadership position
in this channel:

*  natural growth by offering industry-leading selection, service, value, and quality;
®  category expansion to capitalize on the general outdoor enthusiast;
¢ anenhanced focus on the Canadian market by building on our 2007 Canada acquisition; and

s targeted marketing designed to increase sales overall and to transition customers from the catalog channel.
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Growth of Our Credit Card Business — We seek to increase Financial Services revenue by attracting new
cardholders through low cost marketing efforts with our Retail and Direct businesses. We will continue to control
costs in our Financial Services segment by actively managing default rates, delinquencies, and charge-offs by
continuing our conservative underwriting and account management standards and practices.

Operations Review

Our operating results expressed as a percentage of revenue were as follows for the years ended.:

2007 2006 2005
REVEIUE. . . ottt e e e 100.00% 100.00%  §00.00%
COSt OF TEVETILIE . . . . oottt et et ittt e e ea e 58.66 58.37 59.14
Gross profit (exclusive of depreciation and amortization} .. .............. 41.34 41.63 40.86
Selling, distribution, and administrative expenses ........................ 34.90 34.67 3447
OPerating iMCOMIE . . .. v\t v vttt ittt ittt s aai e 6.44 6.96 6.39
Other income (expense):
Interest (eXpense) iNCOME, Net. . . ... ... .ttt rranaiiianaennney (0.80) (0.78) (0.57)
Other inCOME, NEL . . ... .. it it e it ta e ens 0.29 0.47 0.59
Total other income (eXpense), Net. . ... ... oot {0.51) {0.31) 0.02
Income before provision for income taxes. . .................... R 593 6.65 6.41
Provision for iNCOME taXeS . ... ... tutrenn i it 2.19 2.49 2.38
NELINCOIIE L o vt i et ettt e e et ettt e e e e e e e a e i 3.74% 4.16% 4.03%
Results of Operations - 2007 Compared to 2006
Revenues
Increase
2007 Yo 2006 Yo (Decrease) % Change
(Dwollars in Thousands)
Retaib. ....... ... i $1,043.442 444% § 820,321 39.8% $223,121 27.2%
Direct .. ... e 1,130,553 © 48.1 1,088,480 52.7 42,073 39
Financial Services. ................... 159,335 6.8 137,423 6.7 21,912 15.9
Other. . ... . s 16,269 0.7 17,300 0.8 (1,031) (6.0)

$2,349.599 100.0% $2,063,524 100.0% §286,075 13.9%

Retail revenue includes sales and services at our retail stores. Direct revenue includes sales from orders placed
over the phone, by mail, and through our website and customer shipping charges. Financial Services revenue is
comprised of securitization income, interest income, and interchange and other fees, net of reward program costs,
interest expense, and credit losses from our credit card operations. Other revenue consists principally of sales of land
surrounding our retail store developments and fees collected from our other real estate, outfitter services, and travel
businesses. ’ ' '

In 2007, our Retail and Direct sales were impacted by a challenging retail and macroeconomic environment.
However, revenue increased in 2007 in all three of our primary business segments but declined for our Other segment
primarily due to a decrease in land sales in 2007 compared to 2006. Retail sales increased due to our new store
openings. Direct revenue increased primarily from efforts to increase traffic to our website. Financial Services
revenue growth was driven by growth in the number of average active credit card accounts and average managed
credit card loans.

Revenue from the sale of gift certificates and gift cards is recognized in earnings when the gift certificates
and gift cards are redeemed for merchandise or services. OQur gift instrument liability at the end of 2007 was $113
million compared to $87 million at the end of 2006. Customers also receive points for purchases at our retail stores or
through our Direct business on various loyalty programs. In addition, our Cabela’s CLUB Visa card loyalty program
allows customers to earn points whenever and wherever they use their credit card, and then redeem earned points for
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products and services at our retail stores or through our Direct business. The percentage of our merchandise sales
that were made on the Cabela’s CLUB card increased to 26.3% for 2007 from 24.6% for 2006. The dollar amounts
related to points are accrued as earned by the cardholder and recorded as a reduction in Financial Services revenue.
The dollar amount of unredeemed credit card points and loyaity points was $71 million at the end of 2007 compared
to $57 million at the end of 2006.

Product Sales Mix — Our five retail merchandise product categories, and the percentage of revenue contributed
by each, are presented in the following table for our Retail and Direct businesses and in total for the years ended:

Retail Direct Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Hunting Equipment . ... ....................... 38.7% 35.6% 266% 27.i1% 32.6% 30.7%
Fishingand Marine .. .. ....................... 15.6 16.7 12.3 12.5 14.0 14.3
Camping. ....... .o 129 12.1 15.4 14.8 14.1 13.7
Clothing and Footwear ........................ 27.0 29.1 36.3 36.7 31.7 335
Gifts and Furnishings . ........................ 5.8 6.5 9.4 8.9 7.6 7.8
Total . ... ... 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Retail Revenue — Retail revenue increased primarily due to an increase of $232 million in new store sales for
2007 compared to new store sales for 2006. Contributing to our Retail revenue growth were the eight new stores we
opened in 2007 as foliows:

e  Hazelwood, Missouri............. April

. Hoffman Estates, [llinois. . ........ September

. East Hartford, Connecticut ... ... .. October

. Gonzales, Louisiana ............. October

. Hammond, Indiana .............. October

e Reno,Nevada................... November

. Post Falls, Idaho. . ............... November

s  Lacey, Washington .............. November

Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease) % Change
{Dollars in Thousands)

Comparable storessales . ............................ $736,430 $745,357 5(8,927) {(1.2)%
Comparable stores sales growth percentage ............. (1.2)% 1.3%

Comparable store sales decreased 39 million, or 1.2%, for 2007 principally because of the challenging
macroeconomic and retail industry environment, competition, and a lowering of overall consumer confidence in the
United States which negatively impacted sales growth. A store is included in our comparable store sales base on the
first day of the month following the fifteen month anniversary of 1) its opening or acquisition, or 2) any expansion
by greater than 25% of its total square footage.

Average sales per square foot for stores that were open during the entire year were $332 for 2007 compared to
$348 for 2006. The decrease in average sales per square foot results from certain stores not meeting sales expectations
and a decrease in comparable store sales. The product category that contributed the largest dollar volume increase to
our Retail revenue for 2007 was hunting equipment. '
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Direct Revenue — Direct revenue increased $42 million, or 3.9%, primarily from growth in sales through our
website, Catalog mail order sales continue to decrease as these sales transition to our Internet site and our new retail
stores.

Increase
2007 2006 (Decreasey % Change
Percentage increase year over year in Internet website visits ... ... 30.2% 32.1% :
Catalog circulation in pages (inmillions) ...................... 36,499 36,705 (206) (0.6)%
Number of separate catalog titles circulated .................. .. 91 86 5

Internet site visits increased as we continue to focus our efforts on utilizing Direct marketing programs to
increase traffic to our website, The camping product category contributed the largest dollar volume increase to our
Direct revenue for 2007. The number of active Direct customers, which we define as those customers who have
purchased merchandise from us in the last twelve months, increased by 2.0% over 2006.

Financial Services Revenue — Key statistics reflecting the performance of our Financial Services business
are shown in the following chart for the years ended:

Increase
) 2007 2006 (Decrease} % Change

(Deollars in Thousands Except Average Balance per Account)
Average balance of managed credit card loans ............. $1,690,543  $1,357,671 $332,872 24.5%
Number of average active credit card accounts ... .......... 987,411 853,187 134,224 15.7
Average balance per active credit card account . ........... $ 1,712 8 1,591 5 121 7.6
Netcharge-offs. . ... ... .o i 33,898 25,199 8,699 345
Net charge-offs as a percentage of average managed credit

Card JoaNS . .. e 2.01% 1.86% 0.15%

The balance of average managed credit card loans increased to $1.69 billion, or 24.5%, because of the increase
in the number of accounts and the average balance per account. The number of accounts increased to 987,411,
or 15.7%, due to our marketing efforts to add additional accounts. Net charge-offs increased to 2.01% for 2007
principally because of the challenging economic environment. Net charge-offs for 2007 approximate those levels
experienced before the 2005 bankruptcy law changes.

The components of Financial Services revenue on a generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP™) basis
are as follows for the years ended:

2007 2006 2005
{In Thousands)
Interest and fee income, net of provision for loan losses .............. $ 28974 $ 23,973 $ 17,196
ISt X PEISE . ot ettt e (7,288) (5,008) (3,241)
Net interest income, net of provision forloanlosses ................. 21,686 18,965 13,955
Non-interest income:
Securitization income (including gains on sales of credit card loans of
$22,740 and S17,410). .. ot 194,516 169,173 133,032
Other nON-INtEresSt INCOME . .. . oottt i et it e 51,670 39,381 31,836
Total NoN-INtereSt INCOIMIE . . . . v v e e e e e i e 246,186 208,554 164,868
Less: Customer rewards CostS. . .. .o oo it i (108,537) {90,096) (72,992)
Financial SErvices TEVENUE . . . . ..ottt et in e eaaaaen $ 159335 $137.423 $105,831

Financial Services revenue increased $22 million, or 15.9%, in 2007 compared to 2006. Credit card loans
securitized and sold are removed from our consolidated balance sheet, and the net earnings on these securitized
assets, after paying costs associated with outside investors, are reflected as a component of our securitization income
shown above on a GAAP basis. Net interest income includes operating results on our credit card loans receivable
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we own. Non-interest income includes servicing incdme, gains on sales of loans, and income recognized on our
retained interests, as well as interchange income on the entire managed portfolio. Excluding the effect of gains on
the sale of credit card loans, securitization income increased $20 million over 2006, due primarily to growth in the
securitized loan portfolio. Other non-interest income increased $12 million primarily from increases in servicing
fees on securitized loans year over year and account growth. Customer rewards costs increased $18 million from
continued growth in the Cabela’s CLUB Visa card usage by our customers.

Managed credit card loans of the Financial Services business segment include both credit card loans receivable
we own and securitized credit card loans. The process by which credit card loans are securitized converts interest
income, interchange income, credit card fees, credit losses, and other income and expenses on the securitized loans
into securitization income. Because the financial performance of the total managed portfolio has a significant impact
on earnings we receive from servicing the portfolio, management believes evaluating the components of Financial
Services revenue for both owned loans and securitized loans is important to analyzing results.

Non-GAAP Presentation — The “non-GAAP” presentation shown below presents the financial performance
of the total managed portfolio of credit card loans. Although our consolidated financial statements are not presented
in this manner, we review the performance of the managed portfolio as presented below. Interest income, interchange
income (net of customer rewards), and fee income on both the owned and securitized portfolio are reflected in the
respective line items. Interest paid to outside investors on the securitized credit card loans is included in interest
expense. Credit losses on the entire managed porifolio are reflected in the provision for loan losses.

The following table sets forth the revenue components of our Financial Services segment managed portfolio on
anon-GAAP basis for the years ended:

2007 2006 2005
(Dollars in Thousands)
I Erest IMCOMIE . L ottt e e e e e e $186,341 $145.425 $102,824
Interchange income, net of customer rewards costs. .. ............... 62,066 51,086 42,468
Other fee INCOME . .. ... e e 27,233 22,829 20,738
Interest EXPense ... ... e e (83,120) (64,910) (41,654)
Provision for loan lo8ses. . . ... (35.415) (26,064) (24,254)
Other..........oiviiiann. e e b 2,230 9,057 5,709
Managed Financial Servicesrevenue...................cccivvun... $159,335 $137.423 $105.831

Managed Financial Services Revenue as a Percentage of Averuge Managed Credit Card Loans:

I ErE St HCOMMIE . ..ttt e et e e e 11.0% 10.7% 9.4%
Interchange income, net of customer rewardscosts. . ................ 3.7 3.8 39
Otherfeeincome ........ ... .covirniin, e 1.6 1.7 1.9
INEEIESt EXPENSE . . ..ot e e e e (4.9) (4.8) (3.8)
Provision for loan [0sses. . ... .. ... 2.0 (1.9) (2.2)
Other. .. e e e 0.1 0.6 0.5
Managed Financial Servicesrevenue. .. ..................c....... 9.4% 10.1% 9.7%

The increase in interest income of $41 million in 2007 from 2006 was due to an increase in interest rates and
managed credit card loans. The increase in interchange income of $11 million in 2007 from 2006 was driven by net
credit card purchases, which increased 20.6%. Other fee income increased $4 million due to increases of $2 million
in late fees and $2 million in payment assurance fees. The increases in interest income and interchange income were
offset by an increase in interest expense of $18 million from increases in securitized credit card loans, borrowings,
and interest rates, and by an increase in loan losses of $9 million because of increases in managed credit card loans
and increases in net charge-offs.

31




Other Revenue

Other revenue sources include sales of land held for sale, amounts received from our outfitter services, and fees
earned through our travel business and other complementary business services.

: Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease) % Change
(Dollars in Thousands)
OtherF TEVEIUE . . .ttt r sttt et e $16,269 $17,300 $(1,031) {6.0)%
Land sales (included in Otherrevenue) . .............. ... . ... 8,866 10,471 (1,605) (153)

Gross Profit

Gross profit, or gross margin, is defined as total revenue less the costs of related merchandise sold and shipping
costs. Comparisons of gross profit and gross profit as a percentage of revenue for our operations, year over year, and
to the retail industry in general, are impacted by:

. retail store, distribution, and warehousing costs which we exclude from our cost of revenue;

. Financial Services revenue that we include in revenue for which there are no costs of revenue;

s real estate land sales we include in revenue for which costs vary by transaction,

. outfitter services revenue that we included in revenue for which there are no costs of revenue; and

e  customer shipping charges in revenue which are slightly higher than shipping costs in costs of revenue
because of our practice of pricing shipping charges to match costs.

Accordingly, comparisons of gross margins on merchandising revenue presented below are the best metrics for
analysis of our gross profit:

Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease) % Change
{Dollars in Thousands)
Merchandisesales. .......... ... .. oo $2,173,995 $1,908,801 $265,194 13.9%
Merchandise grossmargin. . ........... .. ..o o 797,304 708,950 88,354 12,5
Merchandise gross margin as a percentage of
merchandiserevenue. . . .......... .. ..t 36.7% 37.1%

Merchandise Gross Margins — Gross margins of our merchandising business increased $88 million, or 12.5%,
to $797 million for 2007. Merchandise gross margins as a percentage of revenue of our merchandising business
decreased to 36.7% for 2007 from 37.1%. Merchandise gross margins for 2007 were negatively impacted by discounts
on merchandise sales associated with advertising and promotional strategies designed to capture additional market
share, an increase in hard goods sales with lower margins, and a decrease in apparel sales with higher margins. This
decrease was partially offset by an increase in our shipping margin for 2007.

Selling, Distribution, and Administrative Expenses

Increase
2007 2006 (Decrease) % Change
(Dollars in Thousands)
Selling, distribution, and administrative expenses ... ..... $820,121 $715,380 $104,741 14.6%
S,D&A expenses as a percentage of total revenue. ... ... .. 349% 34.7%
Retail store pre-opening costs . .. ...oovenrnvriirianns % 17,136 $ 10,508 $ 6,628 63.1%

Selling, distribution, and administrative expenses include all operating expenses related to our retail stores,
Internet website, distribution centers, product procurement, and overhead costs, including: advertising and
marketing, catalog costs, employee compensation and benefits, occupancy costs, information systems processing,
and depreciation and amortization.
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Selling, distribution, and administrative expenses on a consolidated basis increased $105 million, or 14.6%,
for 2007 over 2006. The primary reason for the increase in 2007 was the addition of eight new stores in 2007
compared to four added in 2006 along with the addition of infrastructure necessary to support this store expansion.
The most significant factors contributing to the increase in selling, distribution, and administrative expenses, and the
infrastructure expansion required to support the revenue growth in 2007 from our retail store expansion, included
tncreases in:

s employee compensation, benefits, training, and recruitment costs of $56 million;

. facility and information system depreciation of $15 million;

¢ advertising costs of 8§11 million;

s  catalog and Internet marketing costs of $7 million;

s credit card processing fees of $6 million; and

. information systems costs of $4 million.

Significant selling, distribution, and administrative expense increases and decreases related to specific business
segments included the following:

Retail Business Segment:

e New store pre-opening costs of $17 millien, an increase of $7 million over 2006,

e Operating costs for new stores that were not open in the comparable period of 2006 of $54 million,
including employee compensation and benefits costs of $31 million,

® A decrease in comparable store employee compensation and benefits of $1 million resulting from declining
sales in comparable stores.

®  Depreciation on new stores not open in the comparable period of 2006 of $9 million.

Direct Business Segment:

*  Anincrease of $6 million in marketing costs primarily from Internet marketing and mailing promotions,
catalog costs from higher postage and print rates, and the addition of five catalogs not circulated in

2006.
. Increases in employee compensation and benefits of $2 million principally for positions added to support
our growth.
. Increases in incidental information system costs of $2 million specifically related to our website.
Financial Services:

¢ Increases in advertising and promotional costs of $1 million due to increases in new account acquisition
costs, increases in Visa charges driven by increases in credit card transactions, and account retention
tools.

¢  Third party data credit card processing services increased by $2 million as the number of credit card
accounts and credit card transactions increased.

s Postage cost increases of §1 million from increases in the number of accounts and postage rate
increases.

*  An increase in employee compensation and benefits of $1 million to support our credit card account
growth.
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Corporate Overhead, Distribution Centers, and Other:

e An increase in employee compensation and benefits of $9 million from the expansion and improvement
of our infrastructure to support our growth.

e  Depreciation expense increase of $3 million on information system upgrades implemented in 2006 and
2007.

e  An increase in contract labor costs and software expense of $1 million on information system upgrades
and expansion.
Operating Income

Operating income is revenue less cost of revenue and selling, distribution, and administrative expenses.
Operating income for our business segments excludes costs associated with operating expenses of distribution
centers, procurement activities, and other corporate overhead costs.

Increase
1007 2006 (Decrease) % Change
(Dollars in Thousands)

Total operating income . .........ooviinnrr i $151,092 $143,745 $ 7,347 5.1%
Total operating income as a percentage of total revenue . . . .. 6.4% 7.0%
Operating income by business segment:

Retail ... ... . $127,744 5124122 3.622 29

DIreCt . ot e 190,046 179,182 10,864 6.1

Financial Services ... ....... ... ... i, 37,448 30,061 7,387 246
Operating income as a percentage of segment revenue:

Retail .. .. o 12.2% 15.1%

DHrect .. 16.8 16.5

Financial Services ......... ..ot 235 21.9

Operating income increased $7 million, or 5.1%, for 2007. Operating income as a percentage of revenue decreased
to 6.4% for 2007 from 7.0% for 2006. Operating income comparisons between 2007 and 2006 are impacted by 1) the
addition of new retail stores in 2007 and 2006, 2) sales increases for our Direct business, and 3} the profitability of
our Financial Services business segment. The Financial Services segment incurs a marketing fee paid to the Retail
and Direct business segments. This marketing fee is included in selling, distribution, and administrative expenses as
an expense for the Financial Services segment and as a credit to expense for the Retail and Direct business segments.
The marketing fee paid by the Financial Services segment to these two business segments increased $4 million in
2007 compared to 2006 —a $1 million increase to the Direct business segment and a $3 million increase to the Retail
segment.

Interest {Expense) Income, Net

Interest expense, net of interest income, increased $3 million to $19 million for 2007 compared to 2006. The net
increase in interest expense was primarily due to additional debt incurred for financing our retail store expansion.
During 2007, we capitalized interest totaling $4 million on qualifying fixed assets relating primarily to retail store
construction compared to $0.4 million during 2006.

Other Non-Operating Income, Net

Other income decreased $3 million to $7 million for 2007 from $10 million in 2006 due to a decrease in interest
earned on economic development bonds. Our investment in economic development bonds was lower in 2007 than
2006 because of retirements as we monetized bonds in both years.

Provision for Income Taxes

QOur effective tax rate was 36.9% for 2007 compared to 37.5% for 2006. The decrease in the effective tax rate
for 2007 was due to less state income taxes in 2007 compared to 2006.
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Results of Operations - 2006 Compared to 2005

Increase
Financial Highlights 2006 2005 {Decrease) % Change
(Dollars in Thousands)
NetinCOmE. .. ..ottt i $ 85,785 $ 72,569 g 13,216 18.2%
Net income as a percentage of revenue. . .......... 4.2% 4.0%
Net income perdilutedshare.................... $ 1.29 $ 1.10 $8 019 17.3
Revenue by segment:
Direct .. ... $1,088,480 $1,044,167 $ 44313 4.2
Retail ......... . 820,321 620,105 200,216 323
Financial Services ......... ... ..., 137,423 105,831 31,592 299
Other. .. ... ... .. . . .. i i 17,300 29,558 {12,258) (41.5)
Totalrevenue .......................... $2,063,524 $1.799,661 $263,863 14.7
Newstoresales . ..., $ 282,652 $ 88,226 $194,426 2204
Comparable storesales ........................ 537,669 531,010 6,659 1.3
Average sales persquare foot ., ,................ 348 367 (19) (5.2)
GrossProfit .. ... ... .. ... $ 859,125 $ 735339 123,786 16.8
Gross Profit as a percentof revenue . .. ........... 41.6% 40.9%
Merchandising gross margin. . .................. $ 708,950 $ 620,244 88,706 14.3
Merchandising gross margin as a percent of
merchandising revenue ..................... 37.1% 37.3%
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses . . . $ 715,380 $ 620,376 95,004 15.3
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses
asapercentofrevenue. ... .................. 34.7% 34.5%
Operating income .. .............ooecnennren.. $ 143,745 $ 114,963 28,782 25.0
Operating income margin . .. ................... 7.0% 6.4%
Revenue

Revenue increased by $264 million, or 14.7%, in 2006 from growth in the three major segments, Other revenue
decreased in 2006 from a decrease in land sales.

Retail Revenue. Retail revenue increased by $200 million, or 32.3%, from new store sales of $194 million,
and an increase in comparable store sales of $7 million, or 1.3%. Revenue increases are attributable to operational
improvements in assortment and replenishment as well as advertising efforts. The product category that contributed
the largest increase to our Retail revenue growth in 2006 was hunting equipment.

Direct Revenue. Direct revenue increased by $44 million, or 4.2%, due primarily to growth in Internet sales
through our website. Circulation of our catalogs increased by 1.6 billion pages, or 4.5%, to 36.8 billion pages in 2006
from 35.2 billion pages in 2005, The number of active customers in our Direct business segment increased by 4.6%.
The product category that contributed the largest dollar volume increase to our 2006 Direct revenue growth was
hunting equipment.

Financial Services Revenue. Financial Services revenue increased by $32 million, or 29.9%. Securitization
income increased $36 million primarily from growth in the securitized portfolio. Other non-interest income increased
$8 million due to increases in servicing fees on securitized loans and card account growth. Net interest income on
loans receivable increased $5 million. Customer rewards costs increased $17 million from continued growth in the
Cabela’s CLUB Visa card usage by our customers.

We also measure the results of our Financial Services business on a non-GAAP managed basis as explained
earlier. Interest income measured on a non-GAAP managed basis increased $43 million. The increase in interest
income was due to an increase in interest rates and managed credit card loans. Interchange income, net of reward
costs, increased by $9 million, or 20.3%. Interchange incaome is driven by net purchases, which increased 21.4%. The
increases in interest income, interchange income, and other income were offset by an increase in interest expense
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of $23 million due to increases in securitized credit card loans, borrowings, and interest rates. Compared to 2005,
the number of average active accounts in 2006 grew by 17.5% to 853,187, and the average balance per active account
grew by 5.5% to $1,591.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased by $124 million, or 16.8%, to $859 million for 2006. Financial Services revenue growth
of $32 million resulted in a gross profit percentage increase of 0.5%. Sales of land at higher gross profit margins in
2006 resulted in a gross profit percentage increase of 0.4%. These increases were offset by a decline in merchandising
gross profits discussed below.

Merchandising Gross Margin., Gross margin for our merchandising business increased by 389 million, or
14.3%, to $709 million for 2006. Better merchandising practices, increased sales of our Cabela’s branded merchandise,
and other operations improvements resulted in increased gross margins. These improvemenits, however, were largely
offset by an increase in sales discounts. Increased discounts, representing 0.7% of merchandise revenue, resulted
from our promotional gift card campaign in our Retail segment and a new promotional campaign in the Direct
business segment. Our shipping margin — the shipping income we collect less the cost we pay to ship merchandise to
our customers — declined, representing 0.3% of merchandise revenue. The primary reason for the decline in shipping
margin was the implementation of our new warchouse management software, causing us to ship more packages per
order due to the inability to transfer products between distribution centers during the software phase-in period.

Selling, Distribution, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution, and administrative expenses increased by $95 million, or 15.3%, to $715 million for 2006.
We recognized $4 million of stock based compensation expense in 2006, which primarily accounted for the 0.20%
increase in selling, distribution, and administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue. The most significant
factors contributing to the increase in selling, distribution, and administrative expenses also included:

Retail Business Segment:

e  New store operating costs for new stores that were not open in the comparable period of 2005 increased
by $37 million.

s A decrease in comparable store salaries and wages and related benefits of $1 million resulting from a
focus on labor scheduting practices.
Direct Business Segment:

*  Anincrease in catalog costs of $8 million from higher postage and print rates and the addition of three
catalogs not circulated in 2005. As a percentage of Direct revenue, catalog costs increased to 14.7% in
2006 from 14.5% in 2005.

e  Increases in salary, wages, and related benefits in the Direct business segment of $3 million for positions
added to support our growth.

. Increases in incidental equipment and software expenses of $3 million specifically related to our
website.

. An increase in Direct advertising costs of $3 million primarily from a new postcard promotion.

Financial Services:

e  Advertising and promotional costs increased by $7 million from increases in new account acquisition
costs and increases in Visa charges driven by increases in credit card transactions.

e  Third party data processing services for credit card processing increased by $2 million as the number of
credit card accounts and credit card transactions increased.

. Postage increases of $1 million from increases in the number of accounts and postage rate increases.
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Corporate Overhead, Distribution Centers and Other:

»  Strategic initiatives to expand and improve our infrastructure to support our growth resulted in an increase
in wages and benefits of $17 million primarily at our distribution centers.

*  Anincrease in depreciation expense of $6 million from two system upgrades implemented at the end of
2005, new systems put in service during 2006, and new equipment purchases in our distribution centers.

®  An increase in contract labor costs of $3 million from consulting costs related to system upgrades and
expansion.

¢ Anincrease in computer equipment and software cost of $1 million primarily from increased software
licenses.

Operating Income

Operating income increased by $29 million, or 25.0%, to $144 million for 2006. Operating income as a
percentage of revenue increased to 7.0% for 2006 from 6.4% for 2005. Our Retail segment operating income as a
percentage of revenue improved to 15,1% from 13.9% as the continued expansion helped to offset overhead costs,
and our comparable store operating costs improved with a focus on efficient labor scheduling, Operating income
as a percentage of revenue from our Direct segment was flat at 16.5% in both 2006 and 2005, Financial Services
operating income as a percentage of revenue was comparable between years, up 0.1%, to 21.9% from 21.8%, as
growth in our customer loyalty program continued to contribute positive returns. The Financial Services segment
incurs a marketing fee paid to the Retail and Direct business segments. This marketing fee is included in selling,
distribution, and administrative expenses as an expense for the Financial Services segment and as a credit to expense
for the Retail and Direct business segments. The marketing fee paid by the Financial Services segment to these two
business segments increased $16 million compared to 2005 — a $9 million increase to the Direct business segment
and a $7 million increase to the Retail segment.

Interest (Expense) Income, Net

Interest expense, net of interest income, increased by $6 million for 2006 to 316 million from property and
equipment expenditures funded by the $215 million private placement of notes completed in February 2006. This
increase was partially offset by an increase in interest income earned on invested cash of $1 million in 2006.

Other Non-Operating Income, Net

Other income decreased by $1 million to $10 million for 2006 primarily due to a decrease in interest earned on
economic development bonds. Our investment in economic development bonds decreased by $28 million from the
monetization of certain bonds.

Provisien for Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 37.5% for 2006 compared to 37.1% in 2005. The increase in our effective tax rate
primarily resulted from higher state taxes in states we opened stores in during 2006.

Bank Asset Quality

Overview

We securitize a majority of our credit card loans. On a quarterly basis, we transfer eligible credit card loans
into a securitization trust. We are required to own at least a minimum twenty day average of 5% of the interests in
the securitization trust, which is our transferor’s interest that totaled $167 million at the end of 2007. Accordingly,
retained credit card loans have the same characteristics as credit card loans sold to outside investors. Certain accounts
are ineligible for securitization for reasons such as: 1) they are delinquent, 2) they originated from sources other than
Cabela’s CLUB Visa credit cards, or 3) various other requirements. Loans ineligible for securitization totaled $15
million at the end of 2007.
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The quality of our managed credit card loan portfolio at any time reflects, among other factors: 1) the
creditworthiness of cardholders, 2) general economic conditions, 3) the success of our account management and
collection activities, and 4) the life-cycle stage of the portfolio. During periods of economic weakness, delinquencies
and net charge-offs are more likely to increase. We have mitigated periods of economic weakness by selecting a
customer base that is very creditworthy. The median FICO scores of our securitized loans were 787 in 2007 and 785
in 2006,

We believe that as our credit card accounts mature, they are less likely to result in a charge-off and less likely
to be closed. The following table shows our managed credit card loans outstanding at the end of 2007 and 2006
segregated by the number of months passed since the accounts were opened.

2007 2006
Loans Percentage of Loans Percentage of
Outstanding Total Outstanding Total
Months Since Account Opened (Dollars in Thousands}
6monthsorless ............ ... . ol $ 138,021 6.7% $ 105,101 6.3%
T—12months . ....... ... ... ... . ol 131,988 6.4 103,296 6.3
13-24months ........... ... o 272,830 13.3 223,209 13.3
25-36months . ....... ... ol 243,092 11.8 193,384 1.6
37—-48months .. ... ... oo 205,909 10.0 186,078 1.1
49-60months . ....... ... .. .. o o 194,066 9.4 191,372 1.4
6l-72months ... ... .. ... 196,949 9.6 197,928 11.8
T3—-84months . .......... . ... 200,461 9.7 247,771 14.8
85+months . ... ... . . 474,918 23.1 223,925 13.4
Total ... .o e $2,058,234 100.0% $1,674,064 100.0%

Delinquencies

We consider the entire balance of an account, including any accrued interest and fees, delinquent if the minimum
payment is not received by the payment due date. Our aging method is based on the number of completed billing
cycles during which a customer has failed to make a required payment. The following chart shows the percentage of
our managed credit card loans that have been delinquent at year end:

Number of days delinquent 2007 2006 2005
Greater than 30 days.........ooeeeeminirrmneisiennisre i 0.97% 0.75% 0.67%
Greater than 60 days........ccoveeeiecriiiencnnen e, 0.57 0.44 0.38
Greater than 90 days......occeeerecinrr s, 0.28 0.18 0.16

Charge-offs

Charge-offs consist of the uncollectible principal, interest, and fees on a customer’s account. Recoveries are
the amounts collected on previously charged-off accounts. Most bankcard issuers charge-off accounts at 180 days.
Beginning in June 2007, we began charging off credit card loans on a daily basis after an account becomes at a
minimum 130 days contractually delinquent to allow us to manage the collection process more efficiently. Accounts
relating to cardholder bankruptcies, cardholder deaths, and fraudulent transactions are charged off earlier. Prior
to June 2007, we charged-off credit card loans on the 24" day of the month after an account became 115 days
contractually delinquent resulting in a 129-day average for charging-off an account. Qur charge-off activity for the
managed portfolio is summarized below for the years ended:

1007 2006 2005
(Dollars in Thousands)
Charge-offs. .. ....... ... .. i i $42,853 $31,068 $27.829
Recoveries. . ... i e 8,955 5,869 4,227
Netcharge-offs......... ... ... ... ... ... $33,898 $25.199 $23,602
Net charge-offs as a percentage of
average managed credit card loans. .. .. ....... 2.01% 1.86% 2.15%
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our Retail and Direct business segments and our Financial Services business segment have significantly
differing liquidity and capital needs. The primary cash requirements of our merchandising business relate to capital
for new retail stores, purchases of inventory, investments in our management information systems and infrastructure,
purchases of economic development bonds related to the construction of new retail stores, and general working capital
needs. We historically have met these requirements with cash generated from our merchandising business operations,
borrowing under revolving credit facilities, issuing debt and equity securities, obtaining economic development
grants from state and local governments in connection with developing our retail stores, collecting principal and
interest payments on our economic development bonds, and from the retirement of economic development bonds.

Retail and Direct Business Segments — The cash flow we generate from our merchandising business is
seasonal, with our peak cash requirements for inventory occurring from April through November. While we have
consistently generated overall positive annual cash flow from our operating activities, other sources of liquidity are
required by our merchandising business during these peak cash use periods. These sources historically have included
short-term borrowings under our revolving credit facility and access to debt markets. While we generally have been
able to manage our cash needs during peak periods, if any disruption occurred to our funding sources, or if we
underestimated our cash needs, we would be unable to purchase inventory and otherwise conduct our merchandising
business to its maximum effectiveness, which could result in reduced revenue and profits.

Financial Services Business Segment (the “bank”) — The primary cash requirements of our bank relate
to the financing of credit card loans. The bank sources operating funds in the ordinary course of business through
various financing activities, which include funding obtained from securitization transactions, borrowing under its
credit agreement or federal funds purchase agreements, accepting certificates of deposit, and generating cash from
operations. The bank is prohibited by regulations from lending money to Cabela’s or other affiliates. The bank is
subject to capital requirements imposed by Nebraska banking law and the Visa membership rules, and its ability to
pay dividends is also limited by Nebraska and Federal banking law.

We believe that we will have sufficient capital available from cash on hand, our revolving credit facility, and
other borrowing sources to fund our cash requirements and near-term growth plans,

Operating, Investing and Financing Activities

The following table presents changes in our cash and cash equivalents for the years ended:

2007 2006 2005
{In Thousands)
Net cash derived from operating aCtivities .....ccocivieinemrivressesiiie e, $ 31,828 $ 54,957 $ 72,564
Net cash used in investing activities ...........ccveievecieeieeceeeeeeee e (331,493) (144,696) (80,617)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ......c.ccccvivevnecevernnne, 257,544 175,719 (28,958)

2007 versus 2006

Operating Activities — Cash derived from operating activities decreased $23 million for 2007 compared to
2006. This net decrease in cash was primarily due to a net change of $31 million in inventories, as inventory balances
increased $124 million over 2006 due to more new store openings in 2007. The inventory increase was funded by
accounts payable, which had a net increase of $42 million compared to 2006. The net increase in accounts payable
was impacted by a $40 million decrease compared to 2006 due to a decrease in the payable to the third party processor
for the bank’s credit card transactions. In addition, land held for sale or development was up $11 million over 2006 as
we increased our holdings in land investment. These uses of cash from operating activities were partially offset by an
$18 million net increase between years related to the bank’s funding from securitization transactions. For 2007, the
bank used cash for credit card originations (net of cash received from collections, proceeds from new securitizations,
and changes in retained interests) of $53 million compared to $71 million in 2006. We received $17 million in tenant
allowances during 2007, which accounts for most of the net increase of $19 million in other long-term liabilities;
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and the liability for gift certificates and credit card reward points increased $17 million over 2006 from increased
sales of gift cards. In addition, depreciation and amortization increased $14 million offsetting cash used in operating
activities.

We will incur a total cash outlay of approximately $19 miltion over four years based on our election in our
2007 federal income tax return to change our method of accounting for inventory from LIFO to FIFO for income tax
purposes. At the end of 2007, we owed approximately $14 million, which is included in the current portion of deferred
income taxes payable in our consolidated balance sheet.

Investing Activities — Cash used in investing activities increased $187 million for 2007 compared to 2006.
This net increase was primarily due to expenditures related to the development and construction of new retail stores
in 2007. For 2007, cash paid for property and equipment additions totaled $336 million. At December 29, 2007, we
estimated total capital expenditures, including the purchase of economic development bonds, to be in the range of
approximately $100-$125 million to be paid in 2008 relating to the development, construction, and completion of
retail stores. Certain contractual aspects of our retail store locations are in various stages of negotiations, and are
subject to customary conditions to closing. Economic development bonds totaling $1 million relating to our Lehi,
Utah, retail store were redeemed in 2007. In addition, economic development bonds totaling $43 million and $53
million relating to our Wheeling, West Virginia, retail store and distribution center were retired during 2007 and
2006, respectively.

The following table highlights the growth of our retail stores, and the activity of economic development bonds
related to the construction of these stores and related projects, for the years ended:

2007 2006
(Dollars In Thousands)
Property and equipment additions . ... ... .. e $335,644 §$179,238
Purchases of economic developmentbonds. ... ... ... .. oo 36,223 23,397
Acquisition of outdoor equipment retailer, net of cash acquired...................... 9,277 —
TOtaL. . .ot e e $381,144 $202,635
Proceeds from retirements and maturities of economic developmentbonds .. .......... $ 45427 § 54,065
Number of new retail stores opened and acquired during theyear ................... 9 4
Number of retail stores attheend of theyear .. ..... ... ... oo i it 27 18

Financing Activities — Cash provided by financing activities increased $82 miilion for 2007 compared to
2006. This net increase from financing activities comparing periods was due to a net increase of $66 million in time
deposits, the bank increasing its short-term borrowings to $100 million to fund its credit card operations, and a net
increase of $35 million in borrowings primarily on lines of credit related to new stores which opened in 2007. In
addition, unpresented checks net of bank balance increased $33 million due to timing of when checks cleared our
bank. Partially offsetting these increases was a net decrease of $152 million in long-term debt ($215 million borrowed
in 2006) used to support our retail store expansion.

The following table highlights the borrowing activity of our merchandising business and bank operations for
the years ended:

2007 2006
(In Thousands)
Borrowings on lines of credit and short-term debt, net of repayments .............. ... $ 49691 § 14,877
Borrowing on variable funding facility — financial services subsidiary ................ 100,000 —
Issuances of long-term debt, net of repayments .. ........ ... ... oo it 33,792 185,907
81 71 e $183,483  $200,784
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The following table summarizes our availability under debt and credit facilities, excluding the bank’s facilities,
at the end of vears:

2007 2006
{In Thoeusands)
Amounts available for borrowing under credit facilities. . ................ ... .... $ 340,000 $325,000
Principal amounts outstanding. . . ... ... . i e e (58,023) —
Outstanding letters of credit and standby letters of credit. ... .................... (59,596) (54,582)
Remaining borrowing capacity . ........... ... . i e $222,381 $£270.418

In addition, the bank has total borrowing availability of $185 million under its transferor’s interest credit
agreement and agreements to borrow federal funds. Our bank entered into a credit agreement in 2007 for a $100
mitlion variable funding facility secured by a participation interest in the bank’s transferor’s interest of the Cabela’s
Master Credit Card Trust. These funds were used to fund continued growth of the bank’s credit card portfolio. At
the end of 2007, $100 million was outstanding under the bank’s transferor’s interest credit agreement, leaving $85
million of borrowing capacity remaining at the end of 2007.

In 2007, we issued $60 million aggregate principal amount of 6.08% senior unsecured notes. We used the
proceeds from this offering for new retail store expansion, including property and equipment additions, purchase of
economic development bonds, and general corporate purposes.

On January 16, 2008, we issued and sold $57 million of 7.20% unsecured notes to institutional buyers. The
notes have a final maturity of 10 years and an average life of seven years. We intend to use the proceeds to pay down
existing debt and for general corporate purposes.

2006 versus 2005

Operating Activities — Cash provided by operating activities decreased $18 miltion for 2006 compared to
2005, This net decrease was primarily due to a $51 million net decrease between years related to the bank’s funding
from securitization transactions. For 2006, the bank used cash for credit card originations (net of cash received from
collections, proceeds from new securitizations, and changes in retained interests) of $71 million compared to $20
million in 2005, Cash used for inventory increased $4 million over 2005 as we added four new retail stores. Cash
used for income taxes payable also increased by $7 million over 2005 due to the timing of federal and state income
tax payments and our increased profitability.

In addition, increases totaling $17 million comparing 2006 over 2005 relate to the use of cash from accounts
receivable, land held for sale and other assets. Partially offsetting these decreases to cash from operating activities
was a net increase of $41 million in net income adjusted for non-cash expenditures for deferred income taxes,
depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, and other items. Cash provided from prepaid expenses
and deferred catalog costs increased by $12 million over 2005 primarily due to the timing of catalog production
costs. Cash was also provided from various liabilities and accruals that increased by a net of $4 million over 2005.
In addition, accounts payable increased by $5 million from 2005 due to net increases in inventory payables of $10
million over 2005, partially offset by decreases of $4 million in the payable to the third party processor for the
bank’s credit card transactions and $1 million in payables for catalog costs. The decreases were related to third party
processor timing issues from 2005 and the timing in the catalog production work.

Investing Activities — Cash used in investing activities increased $64 million in 2006 compared to 2005.
The net increase in cash used was primarily due to the purchases, net of maturities, of short-term investments of
$124 million during 2006 compared to 2005. Partially offsetting this increase were net decreases in the purchases
of economic development bonds of $42 million and in property and equipment expenditures of $15 million. The
decrease in the purchases of economic development bonds related to the timing on the opening of certain new retail
stores and the incentives related to those stores. In 2006, $53 million in bonds we owned related to our Wheeling,
West Virginia, retail store and distribution center were retired in connection with a transaction whereby we took a
subordinate position on the remaining bonds we held related to this location.
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Financing Activities — Cash provided by financing activities totaled $176 million in 2006 compared with
cash used of $29 million in 2005. This net increase in cash was primarily due to the debt issuance of $215 million in
February 2006 to support our retail store expansion and the net increase of $14 million in short-term borrowings and
inventory financing. Partiatly offsetting this increase were decreases in time deposits of $16 million.

Grants and Economic Development Bonds

In the past, we have negotiated economic development arrangements relating to the construction of a number
of our new retail stores, including free land, monetary grants, and the recapture of incremental sales, property, or
other taxes through economic development bonds, with many local and state governments. We design our retail
stores to provide exciting tourist and entertainment shopping experiences for the entire family. Our retail stores also
employ many people from the local community, draw customer traffic from a broad geographic range, and serve as a
catalyst for the opening of additional retail businesses such as restaurants, hotels, and gas stations in the surrounding
areas. We believe these factors increase the revenue for the state and the local municipality where the retail store is
located, making us a compelling partner for community development and expansion. Where appropriate, we intend
to continue to utilize economic development arrangements with state and local governments to offset some of the
construction costs and improve the return on investment of our new retail stores.

Grants — We generally have received grant funding in exchange for commitments made by us to the state
or local government providing the funding. The commitments, such as assurance of agreed employment and wage
levels at our retail stores or that the retail store will remain open, typically phase out over approximately five to 10
years. If we fail to maintain the commitments during the applicable period, the funds we received may have to be
repaid or other adverse consequences may arise, which could affect our cash flows and profitability. As of December
29, 2007, the total amount of grant funding subject to a specific contractual remedy was $13 million.

Economic Development Bonds —~ Through economic development bonds, the state or local government sells
bonds to provide funding for land acquisition, readying the site, building infrastructure and related eligible expenses
associated with the construction and equipping of our retail stores. In the past, we have primarily been the sole
purchaser of these bonds. The bond proceeds that are received by the governmental entity are then used to fund
the construction and equipping of new retail stores and related infrastructure development. While purchasing these
bonds involves an initial cash outlay by us in connection with a new store, some or all of these costs can be recaptured
through the repayments of the bonds. The payments of principal and interest on the bonds are typically tied to
sales, property, or lodging taxes generated from the store and, in some cases, from businesses in the surrounding
area, over periods which range between 20 and 30 years. In addition, some of the bonds that we have purchased
may be repurchased for par value by the governmental entity prior to the maturity date of the bonds. However, the
governmental entity from which we purchase the bonds is not otherwise liable for repayment of principal and interest
on the bonds to the extent that the associated taxes are insufficient to pay the bonds.

After purchasing the bonds, we typically record them on our consolidated balance sheet classified as “available
for sale” and value them based upon management’s projections of the amount of tax revenue expected to be generated
to support principal and interest payments on the bonds. Because of the unique features of each project, there is no
independent market data for valuation of these types of bonds. If sufficient tax revenue is not generated by the subject
properties, we will not receive scheduled payments and will be unable to realize the full value of the bonds carried on
our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 29, 2007, $98 million of economic development bonds were recorded
on our consolidated balance sheet.

The negotiation of these economic development arrangements has been important to our retail store expansion
in the past, and these arrangements may be an important factor in our retail store expansion strategy in certain
locations because they allow us to avoid or recapture a portion of the costs involved with opening a new store.

Securitization of Credit Card Loans

Qur Financial Services business historically has funded most of its growth in credit card loans through an
asset securitization program. Asset securitization is a practice commonly used by credit card issuers to fund credit
card loans at attractive rates. The bank enters into asset securitization transactions, which involve the two-tier sale
of a pool of credit card loans from the bank to a wholly owned special purpose entity, and from that wholly owned
special purpose entity to a second special purpose entity that is organized as a trust. The trust is administered by
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an independent trustee. Because the trust qualifies as a “qualified special purpose entity” within the meaning of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities (“FAS 140™), its assets and liabilities are not consolidated in our balance sheet in
accordance with FAS 140.

The trust issues to outside investors various forms of certificates and notes each of which has an undivided
interest in the assets of the trust. The trust pays to the holders of the certificates and notes a portion of future
scheduled cash flows under preset terms and conditions, the receipt of which is dependent upon cash flows generated
by the underlying performance of the assets of the trust.

We retain a “transferor’s interest™ in the securitized loans, which ranks equal with the investor certificates
and notes; an “interest-only strip,” which represeat the right to receive excess cash available after repayment of all
amounts to the investors; servicing rights; cash reserve accounts in some cases and Class B securities in one of the
securitizations. Neither the investors nor the trust have recourse against us beyond the assets of the trust, other than
for breaches of certain customary representations, warranties, and covenants and minimum account balance levels
which must be maintained to support our retained interests. These representations, warranties, covenants, and the
related indemnities do not protect the trust or the outside investors against credit-related losses on the loans.

We record our interest-only strips as an asset at fair value, which is an amount equal to the estimated present
value of cash flows to be received by us over the expected outstanding period of the loans. These cash flows essentially
represent finance charges and late fees in excess of the amounts paid to certificate and note holders, credit losses, and
servicing and administration fees. We use certain valuation assumptions related to the average lives of the loans sold
and anticipated credit losses, as well as the appropriate market discount rate, in determining the estimated present
value of the interest-only strips. Changes in the average life of the loans sold, discount rate, and credit-loss percentage
could adversely impact the actual value of the interest-only strips. Accordingly, actual results could differ materially
from the estimates, and changes in circumstances could result in significant future changes to the assumptions
currently being used.

Gains on securitization transactions, fair value adjustments, and earnings on our securitizations are included
in consolidated revenue in the consolidated statement of income, and the cash reserve accounts, Class B securities,
and the interest-only strips are included on our consolidated balance sheet as “retained interests in securitized loans.”
All of the bank’s securitization transactions are currently accounted for as sale transactions. As a result, the loans
relating to those pools of assets are not reflected on our consolidated balance sheet, other than our transferor’s
interest, cash reserve accounts, Class B securities and interest-only strips.

A credit card loan represents a financial asset. Unlike a mortgage or other closed-end loan account, the terms
of a credit card account permit a customer to borrow additional amounts and to repay each month an amount the
customner chooses, subject to a monthly minimum payment requirement. The credit card account remains open after
repayment of the balance and the customer may continue to use it to borrow additional amounts. We reserve the
right to change the credit card account terms, including interest rates and fees, in accordance with the terms of the
credit card agreement and applicable law. The credit card account is, therefore, separate and distinct from the loan.
In a credit card securitization, the credit card account relationships are not sold to the securitization entity. We retain
ownership of the credit card account refationship, including the right to change the terms of the credit card account.

We sell our credit card loans in the ordinary course of business through a commercial paper conduit program
and longer-term fixed and floating rate securitization transactions. In a conduit securitization, our credit card loans
are converted into securities and sold to commercial paper issuers, which pool the securities with those of other
issuers. The amount securitized in a conduit structure is allowed to fluctuate within the terms of the facility, which
may provide greater flexibility for liquidity needs.
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The total amounts and maturities for our credit card securitizations as of December 29, 2007, were as follows:

Initial
Series Type Amount Interest Rate Expected Final Maturity
(Dollars in Thousands)
Series 2003-1 Term $300,000(1) Floating (1) January 2008
Series 2004-1 Term 75,000 Fixed March 2009
Series 2004-11 Term 175,000 Floating March 2009
Series 2005-1 Term 140,000 Fixed October 2010
Series 2005-1 Term 110,000 Floating October 2010
Series 2006-111 Term 250,000 Fixed October 2011
Series 2006-111 Term 250,000 Floating October 2011
Series 2006-1 Variable Funding 550,000(2y  Floating October 2008

(1) The trust entered into an agreement to convert the floating rate certificate into a fixed rate obligation. On
January 18, 2008, the trust completed a $500 million securitization (“Series 2008-17). This securitization
refinanced the $300 million securitization that matured January 2008, with the remainder funding continued
growth of the bank’s credit card portfolio.

(2) Includes a temporary increase of $200 million that expires in March 2008.

We have been, and will continue to be, particularly reliant on funding from securitization transactions for our
Financial Services segment. A failure to renew existing facilities or to add additional capacity on favorable terms as it
becomes necessary could increase our financing costs and potentially limit our ability to grow our Financial Services
business. Unfavorable conditions in the assel-backed securities markets generally, including the unavailability of
commercial bank liquidity support or credit enhancements, such as financial guaranty insurance, could have a
similar effect.

Furthermore, poor performance of our securitized credit card loans, including increased delinquencies and
credit losses, lower payment rates, or a decrease in excess spreads below certain thresholds, could result in a
downgrade or withdrawal of the ratings on the outstanding securities issued in our securitization transactions, cause
early amortization of these securities, or result in higher required credit enhancement levels. This could jeopardize
our ability to complete other securitization transactions on acceptable terms, decrease our liquidity, and force us
to rely on other potentiatly more expensive funding sources, to the extent available, which would decrease our
profitability.

Certificates of Deposit

We utilize certificates of deposit to partially finance the operating activities of our bank. Our bank issues
certificates of deposit in a minimum amount of one hundred thousand dollars in various maturities. As of December
29, 2007, we had $161 million of certificates of deposit outstanding with maturities ranging from January 2008 to
April 2016 and with a weighted average effective annual fixed rate of 5.01%. Certificate of deposit borrowings are
subject to regulatory capital requirements,

Impact of Inflation

We do not believe that our operating results have been materially affected by inflation during the preceding
three years. We cannot assure, however, that our operating results will not be adversely affected by inflation in the
future.
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Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following tables provide summary information concerning our future contractual obligations at the end of

2007.
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter Total
(In Thousands)

Long-termdebt(1)............. § 26,547 § 26376 3 7990 § 494 $51,096 3276943 § 389,446
Short-term borrowings ......... 100,000 — — — — —_ 100,000
Interest payments (2). . ......... 19,353 17,994 16,675 16,645 16,615 61,583 148,865
Capital lease obligations . ... .... 1,003 1,092 1,000 1,000 1,000 23,500 28,595
Operating leases .............. 5,126 5,209 4,944 4,586 4,167 78,398 102,430
Time deposits by maturity. ... ... 49,219 36,886 37,886 22200 14,200 200 160,591
Obligations under new store and

expansion arrangements (3). , , 114,558 71,574 1,989 864 4,064 — 193,049
Purchase obligations (4) ........ 461,967 35,111 3,338 684 347 — 501,447
Deferred compensation......... 344 -— — — — 5,035 5.379
Unrecognized tax benefits. . ... .. — — — — — 2,000 2,000

Total ..................... $778,117 §194,242 873,822 546473 $91,439 $447659 $1.631.802

(0

)

3)

@

Includes $51 million owed under our $325 million credit agreement, and $7 mitlion owed under our $15 million
credit agreement for operations in Canada. Excludes amounts owed under capital lease obligations.

These amounts do not include estimated interest payments due under our revolving credit facilities because the
amount that will be borrowed under these facilities in future years is uncertain.

At December 29, 2007, obligations for new store and expansion arrangements include approximately $180
million of estimated contractual obligations associated with 1) the completion of our 2007 store expansion
obligations, 2) two retail stores scheduled 10 open in 2008 and two in 2009, and 3) certain obligations under
economic development bonds. The table does not include any amounts for contractual obligations associated
with retail store locations where we are in the process of certain negotiations.

Our purchase obligations relate primarily to purchases of inventory, shipping, and other goods and services in
the ordinary course of business under binding purchase orders or contracts. The amount of purchase obligations
shown is based on assumptions regarding the legal enforceability against us of purchase orders or contracts we
had outstanding at the end of 2007. Under different assumptions regarding our rights to cancel our purchase
orders, or different assumptions regarding the enforceability of the purchase orders under applicable laws, the
amount of purchase obligations shown in the preceding table would be less.
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The following tables provide summary information concerning other commercial commitments at the end of 2007.

2008
(In Thousands)
Letters of credit (1) . . oottt e e $46,080
Standby letters of credit (1) . . ..o ovu i e 13,516
Revolving line of credit for boat and ATV inventory (2) . ... ... iiii i 7.988
Open account document iNStrUCHONS . . ..\ v v\t 6,399
Bank —federal funds (3) .. .. oo e —
B 517 S O $73,983

(1) Our credit agreement allows for maximum borrowings of $325 million including lender letters of credit and
standby letters of credit. At December 29, 2007, the total amount available for borrowing under this revolving line
of credit, including lender letters of credit and standby letters of credit, was $215 million. Our credit agreement for
operations in Canada is for $15 million, with $8 million available for borrowing at December 29, 2007.

(2) The line of credit for boat and ATV financing is limited by the aforementioned $325 miliion revolving line of
credit to $50 million of secured collateral.

(3) The maximum amount that can be borrowed on the federal funds agreements is $85 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Operating Leases — We lease various items of office equipment and buildings. Rent expense for these operating
leases is recorded in selling, distribution, and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.
Future obligations are shown in the preceding contractual obligations table.

Credit Card Limits — The bank bears off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of its business. One form
of this risk is through the bank’s commitment to extend credit to cardholders up to the maximum amount of their
credit limits. The aggregate of such potential funding requirements totaled $12 billion above existing balances as of
December 29, 2007. These funding obligations are not included on our consolidated balance sheet. While the bank
has not experienced, and does not anticipate that it will experience, a significant draw down of unfunded credit lines
by its cardholders, a significant draw down would create a cash need at the bank which likely could not be met by
our available cash and funding sources. The bank has the right to reduce or cancel these available lines of credit at
any time.

Securitizations — All of the bank’s securitization transactions have been accounted for as sales transactions and
the credit card loans relating to those pools of assets are not reflected in our consolidated balance sheet.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America which requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect
amounits reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Management has discussed the
development, selection, and disclosure of critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit Committee of
Cabela’s Board of Directors. While our estimates and assumptions are based on our knowledge of current events and
actions we may undertake in the future, actual results may ultimately differ from our estimates and assumptions.
Our estimation processes contain uncertainties because they require management to make assumptions and apply
judgment to make these estimates. Should actual results be different than our estimates, we could be exposed to gains
or losses from differences that are material.

For a summary of our significant accounting policies, please refer to Note 1 of our consolidated financial
statements. We believe the accounting policies discussed below are our accounting policies that are the most critical
to understanding our consolidated financial statements.

Merchandise Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized on our Internet and catalog sales when merchandise is delivered to customers at the
point of delivery, with the point of delivery based on our estimate of shipping time from our distribution centers
to the customer. We recognize reserves for estimated product returns based upon our historical return experience
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and expectations. Sales of giftlcertificates and gift cards (“gift instruments™) are recorded in revenue when the gift
instruments are redeemed in ¢xchange for merchandise and as a liability prior to redemption. Had our estimate
of merchandise in-transit to customers and our estimate of product returns been different by 10%, our operating
income would have been highel or lower by approximately $2 million, We record breakage on gift instruments (gift
instruments never presented for merchandise} as revenue when the probability of redemption is remote, Had our
estimate of breakage on our recorded liability for gift instruments been different by 1% of the recorded liability at the
end of 2007, our operating income would have been higher or lower by approximately $11 million.

Inventories

We estimate provisions for {nventory shrinkage, damaged goods returned values, and obsolete and slow-moving
items based on historical loss angl product performance statistics and future merchandising objectives. While we do
not believe there is a reasonable |ikelihood there will be a material change in the future impacting these estimates,
actual losses can be higher or lower based on future merchandising decisions and retail economic trends. Had our
estimated inventory reserves beeh different by 10% at the end of 2007, our cost of sales would have been higher or
lower by approximately $1 million.

Catalog Costs

Deferred catalog costs consist of incremental internal and third-party direct costs incurred in the development,
production, and circulation of our direct mail catalogs, composed principally of creative design, prepress/production,
paper, printing, postal, and mailing costs. Deferred catalog costs are amortized over their expected period of future
benefit or twelve months, whichever is shorter, based upon sales forecasis developed using historical sales for similar
catalog offerings. Deferred catalogiexpenses are evaluated for recoverability at each reporting period by comparing
the carrying amount associated with each catalog to actual sales data and to projected future cash flows. Had our
amortization estimate of deferred catalog costs been different by 10% for 2007, our catalog costs expense would have
been higher or lower by approximately $3 million.

Economic Development Bonds

We record economic development bonds based on estimates of the discounted future cash payments to be
received under these bonds. These ¢stimates are also the basis for our recognition of deferred grant revenue to be
received under the economic development grants as an offset to construction costs which is amortized over the asset
lives of the development. These cashiflow estimates are dependent on property and/or sales tax coltections derived
from our operations, and potentially dther businesses, some of which may be in the development stage. Had our fair
value estimates been lower by 10% as of the end of 2007, the value of economic development bonds reflected in our
consolidated financial statements would have been approximately $9 million less with the unrealized loss reflected
in comprehensive income (loss) if thej loss was deemed to be temporary. Any declines in the fair value of held-to-
maturity and available-for-sale economic development bonds below cost that are deemed to be other than temporary
are reflected in earnings as realized logses. Gains and losses on sales are recorded on the trade date and determined
using the specific identification methoyl.

Asset Securitization

We securitize the majority of our ¢redit card loans, and recognize gains or losses on the sales, as well as record
certain retained interests including seller’s transferor’s interest, interest only strips, and cash reserve accounts, which
are all subject to significant valuation assumptions. The interests in securitized receivables, including the transferor’s
interest, interest only strips, and cash reserve accounts, are reported at fair value or cost in the consolidated balance
sheets. Certain estimates used in the determinations of gains on sales, and the related fair values of the asset accounts,
are influenced by factors outside of our gontrol, and as a result, such estimates could materially change in the near
term. On a quarterly basis, we review and adjust, as appropriate, the assumptions and estimates used in determining
the fair value of the related accounts recognized in connection with the our securitization transactions. If these
assumptions change, or actual results differ from projected results, asset balances and securitization income would
be affected. If we had made different assumptions for the periods covered by the consolidated financial statements,
our financial position and results of operations could have differed materially.
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Certain of these assumptions and estimates will change in the future with changes in market and economic
conditions. For example, rates paid to investors, as well as projected interest income, are primarily variable rates
which change with market interest rate changes, and loan payment rates could fluctuate based on general economic
conditions. Changes in these factors may result in future estimates of the excess spread and payment rates being
materially different from the estimates used in 2007. Refer to Note 4 for the sensitivity analysis of the current fair
value of retained interests and the impact on fair value from an immediate adverse change of 10% and 20% in the key
economic assumptions used to determine fair value.

Recent Accounting Standards and Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“FAS 1577). This statement
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires expanded disclosures about fair
value measurements. FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued in fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007, or beginning in 2008 for us. We have evaluated the impact of this statement to us, and we do not believe
that the adoption of the provisions of this statement will have a material impact on our financial position or results
of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“FAS 159”). This statement permits entities to
choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. FAS 159 is effective as of the
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. We evaluated the provisions of this
statement and did not elect to adopt the fair value option on any financial instruments or other items held by us on
December 29, 2007.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 14iR, Business Combinations (“FAS 14IR), which replaces
FAS No. 141. FAS 14IR establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and
measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. This statement
applies prospectively to all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. FAS [41R will be applicabie to us beginning
in 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“FAS 160”). This staternent amends ARB No. 51 to establish accounting
and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
FAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, including interim periods. We do
not believe that the adoption of this statement will have a material effect on our financial position or results of
operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to interest rate risk through our bank’s operations and, to a lesser extent, through our
merchandising operations. We also are exposed to foreign currency risk through our merchandising operations.

Financial Services Interest Rate Risk

[nterest rate risk refers to changes in earnings or the net present value of assets and off-balance sheet positions,
less liabilities (termed “economic value of equity”) due to interest rate changes. To the extent that interest income
collected on managed credit card loans and interest expense do not respond equally to changes in interest rates, or
that rates do not change uniformly, securitization earnings and economic value of equity could be affected. Our net
interest income on managed credit card loans is affected primarily by changes in short term interest rate indices
such as London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and the prime rate. The variable rate credit card loans are
indexed to the prime rate. Securitization certificates and notes are indexed to LIBOR-based rates of interest and are
periodically repriced. Certificate of deposits are priced at the current prevailing market rate at the time of issuance.
We manage and mitigate our interest rate sensitivity through several techniques, but primarily by modifying the
contract terms with our cardholders, including interest rates charged, in response to changing market conditions.
Additional techniques we use include managing the maturity, repricing, and distribution of assets and liabilities by
issuing fixed rate securitization certificates and notes, and by entering into interest rate swaps to hedge our fixed rate
exposure from interest strips. The table below shows the mix of our credit card account balances at the years ended:
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2007 2006 2005
As a percentage of total balandes ouistanding:
Balances carrying interest rate based upon the national prime lending rate. . . .. ... 61.1% 602%  58.0%
Balances carrying an interest rqte of 9.99%. ... .. ... ... . il 3.1 33 3.0
Balances carrying an interest rate of 0.00% ... ... ... ... .. i, 03 0.1 0.1
Balances not carrying interest Hecause their previous
month’s balance was paidin|full. . ... .. ... . ... o il 35.5 364 38.9
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Charges on the credit car
national prime lending rate, su
certain other charges, and balar

balances on these credit cards ref

if the account is paid in full with

issued by our Financial Services segment are priced at a margin over the defined
ject to certain interest rate floors. However, purchases of Cabela’s merchandise,
ce transfer programs are financed at a fixed interest rate of 9.99%. Together, the
resent 64.2% of total balances outstanding at the end of 2007. No interest is charged
n 20 days of the billing cycle, which represent 35.5% of total balances outstanding.

Credit card balances with a zer|
promotional merchandise offers.

D percentage interest rate have increased over prior years due to an increase in

Management has performed an interest rate gap analysis to measure the effects of the timing of the repricing
of our interest sensitive assets angl liabilities. Based on this analysis, we believe that if there had been an immediate
100 basis point, or 1.0%, increase in the market rates for which our assets and liabilities are indexed during the next
twelve months, our projected opdrating results would not be materially affected. Management also has performed
a projected interest rate gap anaiysis for the same future twelve month period to measure the effects of a change in
the spread between the prime interest rate and the LIBOR interest rate. Based on this analysis, we believe that an
immediate spread decrease of 50 hasis point, or .5%, would cause a pre-tax decrease to income of $5 million, and an
immediate spread increase of 50 bjsis points would cause a pre-tax increase to income of $7 million on our Financial
Services segment over the next twelve months, which could have a material effect on our operating results.

Merchandising Business Interesf Rate Risk

One of our economic development bond agreements, priced at a variable interest rate, had a portion of those
bonds retired in June 2006, and thp interest rates were renegotiated. The remaining $43 million of these particular
economic development bonds werd redeemed in full in April 2007,

The interest payable on our lihe of credit is based on variable interest rates and therefore affected by changes in
market interest rates. [f interest ratgs on existing variable rate debt increased 1.0%, our interest expense and results
from operations and cash flows wolild not be materially affected.

Foreign Currency Risk

We purchase a significant amount of inventory from vendors outside of the United States in transactions that are
primarily U. S. dollar transactions. |A small percentage of our international purchase transactions are in currencies
other than the U. S. dollar. Any currency risks related to these transactions are immaterial to us. A decline in the
relative value of the U. S. dollar to other foreign currencies could, however, lead to increased merchandise costs, For
our retail store in Canada, we intend to fund all transactions in Canadian dollars, and we will utilize our unsecured
revolving credit agreement for $14.9|million to fund such operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cabela’s Incorporated and Subsidiarjes
Sidney, Nebraska

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cabela’s Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the
“Company”} as of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flowsjfor each of the three years in the period ended December 29, 2007. Our audits
also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the financial statements and finangial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards reqpire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reascnable assurance about
whether the financial statements are|free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation, We believe thit our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, such consolidated fingncial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Cabela’s Incorporated and Subsidigries as of December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for e3ch of the three years in the period ended December 29, 2007, in conformity
with accounting principles generally gccepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial
statement schedule, when considered|in relation 1o the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects| the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance wiith the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company’s interna! contrpl over financial reporting as of December 29, 2007, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report gdated February 26, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting,.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
February 26, 2008
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in Thousands Except Earnings Per Share)

Fiscal Years

2007

2006

2005

Revenue:

Merchandise sales ... ...ttt e s $ 2,173,995

$ 1,908,301

$ 1,664,272

Financial SErviCeS TeVENUE . .. ..o\ vu v i e ii e nniinnae v 159,335 137,423 105,831
OREr FEVENUE . . . v oo et it e eeaa e e e 16,269 17,300 29,558
Total LEVENUE . . o oottt i it a et e aaans 2,349,599 2,063,524 1,799,661
Cost of revenue:
MerchandisSe COSIS .. v vttt ema e e m et i 1,376,691 1,199,851 1,044,028
Cost Of Other FEVENUER . - - . i e cs i niee s 1,695 4,548 20,294
! Total cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
- AMOrtiZAtioN). .« .o v v v r e 1,378,386 1,204,399 1,064,322
Selling, distribution, and administrative expenses. ........... 820,121 715,380 620,376
Operating iNCOME . ... ..u et 151,092 143,745 114,963
| Interest (€Xpense) iNCOME, NEL. .. ..+« v evneennnerrennnns (18,778) (16,126) (10,256)
Other non-operating inCome, NEL. ... .. ...ovu i 6,913 9,637 10,663
Income before provision for income taxes .................. 139,227 137,256 115,370
! Provision for iNCOMEtaXxes ... .ov e i ueiunriraacenannn 51,348 51,471 42,801
| NELIMCOIMIE . « o v ot vt e e ettt ta et iaees $ 87879 § 85785 $ 72,569
Basic netincome pershare ........ ... o i 3 134 § 1.32 ) 1.12
Diluted net income pershare. . ... . oo 3 1.31 $ 1.29 $ 1.10
Basic weighted average shares outstanding ................. 65,744,077 65,221,339 64,668,973
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding. . .............. 67,275,531 66,643,856 66,268,374

Refer to notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CABELA}S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Daollars in Thousands Except Par Values)
December 29, December 30,
2007 2006
ASSETS
CURRENT
Cashandcashequivalents . ..... | ... . i § 131,182 § 172,903
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,851 and $1,932 . ... 46,857 37.812
Credit card loans, net of allowanceg of $1,197and 3699 ... ... .. ... . ... ... ..... 191,893 152,683
IVeNEOTIES o ot e b e 608,159 484, 414
Prepaid expenses and othercumrenthssets . ... L. o i e 116,297 106,409
Total CUITENL ASSES. . . vt vee bttt et e et et i 1,094,388 954,221
Property and equipment, net. ... ... .. it e 904,052 600,065
Land held forsale ordevelopment ... .. .. o . .o 34,802 20,947
Retained interests in securitized loans | . . ... ... .. e 51,777 39,033
Economic developmentbonds. . ... ... ... . . ... . e 98,035 117,360
Otherassels . ..ot et e e e 29,776 19,604
Total BSSELS . . . . ottt e e e e e $2,212.830  $1,751,230
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT
Accounts payable, including unpresgnted checks of $11,340in 2007 ............... $ 281,391 $ 239,285
Gift certificates, and credit card and |oyalty rewards programs .. ............... ... 184,257 144,210
ACCTUR BXPBISES. . ., .o v it b e e e e 139,510 133,399
Timedeposits. ... b 49,219 33,401
Short-term borrowings of financial s¢rvices subsidiary ............ . ... 100,000 6,491
Current maturities of long-termdebt| . ...... .. ... .. . 26,785 26,803
Income taxes pavable. . . ... . e 34,341 17,267
Deferred INCOME 1AXES . . .. ot e it e e e e 15,601 17,978
Total current liabilities. .. .. ... . . 831,104 618,834
Long-term debt, less current maturities J. ... ... 376,600 284,579
Long-termtimedeposits . . ......... . oo i e 111,372 68,793
Deferred income taxes. . .. ... oo b o e 31,113 30,440
Other long-term liabilities. ... ... .. o 34,082 14,724
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; Authprized - 10,000,000 shares; Issued - none. . . ... — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value:
Class A Voting, Authorized — 245,000,000 shares; Issued — 65,888,384 and
59,556,431 shares. ... ... ...l 659 ’ 596
Class B Non-voting, Authorized — 45,000,000 shares; Issued — none and
5807305shares ......... . — 58
Additional paid-incapital . ......... . o e e 257,351 247,741
Retainedearnings .................. L o oo 571,272 485,148
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),met ... ... .. o o i {(723) 315
Total stockholders equity ... .1 .. e 828,559 733,858
Total {iabilities and stockholders’ eLuity ................................... $2,212,830 $1,751,230
Refer to|notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
T e} s 11 -2 R
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amMOrtization. . ... ..o oe et
Stock based COMPENSALION. . . ... vu it it e e e i
Deferred iMCOME BRXES . . . oot tviia st e tiemae i bt e anaa et
(0] 171 o 1L SO R R
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net ol business acquisition:
Accounts receivable, . .. .. .. e s
Originations of credit card loans held forsale. ...
Proceeds from securitizations of creditcard loans ..................... P
Retained interests in securitized loans. . .....ooo o e e
IVETILOTIES « © o vt et v et e e et et e et et et et s nm e e aa e e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . .. .. c..vvviiiiiiii i
Land held for sale ordevelopment . ... ...
Accounts payable and acerted EXPENSES. .. .. LL i
Gift certificates, and credit card and loyalty rewards programs .. .........ovonentns
Other long-term Habililies . .. ... ... oo
Income taxes Payable. ... ... s
Net cash derived from operating activities . ... .......vneien i,
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Property and equipment additions . ... .. .eoiiia e
Proceeds from dispositions of property and equipment . .. ... ... iiiai e
Purchases of economic developmentbonds. . ... oo e
Proceeds from retirements and maturities of economic developmentbonds . .............
Purchases of ShOTt-1erm INVESTIMENLS . .. ...\ .v v e et iarnn i sssararrs
Praceeds from sales or maturities of short-term investments. . ... ... ... ool
Change in credit card loans receivable,net ........ ...l
Acquisition, net of cash acquired . .. ... it i
Other investing changes, Nl . ... ..ot e ot i
Net cash used in investing activities. ... ..o iiin i
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Change in unpresented checks netofbank balance . ....... ...

Change in time dePosIts, NEL. . ... i ittty et o e a e et ’

Changes in short-term borrowings of financial services subsidiary,net .................
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities and inventory finaneing ......... ..ot
Repayments on revolving credit facilities and inventory financing. ............oovnene
Issuances of long-termdebt ... ... .
Payments on long-termdebt. .. .. ... L
Exercise of employee SOCK OPLONS . .. ...
Other financing changes, MEL .. ... vvrinvie e

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . ............ooiaienn .

Net change in cash and cash equivalents . ..o

Cash and cash equivalents, at beginningof year ... ... oo
Cash and cash equivalents, atend of year . ... oo

Fiscal Years

2007 2006 2005
§ 87.87% § 85785  § 72,569
50,863 45,559 14,912
4,944 3,615 941
(1,077 24,030 11.308
(167) 1,188 (354)
(8,425) {11,506) (3.803)
(378.186) (325,382) (250,671)
336,000 267,000 237,000
(11,244) {12,818) (6,492)
(119,051) (87.779) (83,633)
(10,964) (14,974 (22.697)
(10,379) 602 5,554
9,756 73,936 63,243
39,789 23,090 23,878
15,926 (3,269) (2,329)
17,164 (14,120) (6.862)
31,828 54,957 72,564
(335,644) (179,238) (194,659)
3,931 — —
(36,223) (23,397) (65,077)
45427 54,065 66,188
—- (131,225) (21,000)

— 131,225 145,250
1,228 (5.308) (7,479)
9,277) — —
(935) 9,182 (3,840)
(331,493) (144,696) (80,617
11,340 (21,652) (13,001)
58,395 (7.292) 8,829
93,509 6491 —
510,939 391,589 554,137
(454,757) (383.203) (553,116)
60,800 215,000 —
(27,008) (29,093) (28,326)
3,978 3,832 2,519
748 47 —
257,944 175,719 (28,958)
(41,721) 85,980 (37,011
172,903 86,923 123,934
$ 131,182 $ 172903  § 86,923

Refer to notes to consolidated financial statements,
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CABELA
CONSOLIDA

BALANCE, beginning of 2005
Comprehensive income:

Nelingcome. . ..ooovvnvunnnrnnns

(Dollars in Thousands)

S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
ED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Unrealized loss on economic development bonds, net

of taxes of $1,428
Derivative adjustment, net of taxes of

Total comprehensive income

Stock based compensation .. .........
Employee stock purchase plan issuances
Exercise of employee stock options . . ..
Tax benefit on employee stock option
EXETCISES. .\ . \ivene i,
BALANCE, end of 2005...............,
Comprehensive income:
Netincome..........oovvvvnnn.

Unrealized gain on economic develogment

bonds, net of taxes of $187. ... .
Derivative adjustment, net of taxes of
Total comprehensive income. .

Stock based compensation
Employee stock purchase plan issuances .

Exercise of employee stock options
Tax benefit on employee stock option exeq

BALANCE, endof 2006.................
Cumulative effect adjustment to adopt FIN
Comprehensive income:

Netincome. ....cccvvvvenennn..

Unrealized loss on economic development bonds, net

of taxes of $659
Denivative adjustment, net of taxes of

Foreign currency translation adjustme
Total comprehensive income. .

Stock based compensation
Exercise of employce stock options . . . . .

Tax benefit on employee stock option
BXETCISES. . vt ie e

Accumulated
Common Additional Other
Stock  Common  Paid-In  Retained Comprehensive
Shares Stock Capital Earnings Income {Loss) Total

............. 64,568,180 5646 $236,198 $326,794 $ 2716 $566,354
............. — — — 72,569 — 72,569
............. — — — —_ {2,584) (2,584}
588 ..., — — — _ (158) (158}
............. 69,827
............. — — 941 — — 941
............. 106,897 1 1,772 — — 1,773
............. 89,377 t 745 —_— — 746
............. — — 212 — — 212
............. 64,764,454 648 239,868 399,363 (26) 639,853
............. S — — 85785 — 85,785
............. — — — — 31 31
SO ...l — — — — 30 30
............. 86,126
............. — — 3,462 — — 3,462
............. 101,336 1 1,643 _ — 1,644
............. 497,946 35 2,183 —_ — 2,188
CiSes. ..t = - 585 —_ — 585

............ 65,363,736 654 247,741 485,148 315 733,858
48 ... — — — (1,755) — (1,755)

............ S — — 87879 — 87,879

............ — — — —_ {1,098) {1,098)
B32 ......... — — — — 53 53
it .o 7 7

............ 86,841

............ — — 4,465 — — 4,465

............ 524,648 5 3.973 — — 3,978
............. — — 1,172 — — 1,172
............. 65,888,384 $659 $257,351 §571,272 § (723) $828,559
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Dollars in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

I. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business — Cabela’s Incorporated is a retailer of hunting, fishing, and outdoor gear, offering
products through retail stores, the Internet, and regular and special catalog mailings. Cabela’s operates 27 retail
stores, 26 located in 19 states and one located in Winnipeg, Manitoba. World’s Foremost Bank (“WFB” or “bank™), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Cabela’s, is a limited purpose bank formed under the Competitive Equality Banking Act
of 1987. The lending activities of WFB are limited to credit card lending and its deposit issuance is limited to time
deposits of at least one hundred thousand dollars.

Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cabela’s
M & ”

Incorporated and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“Cabela’s,” “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”). All material
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reporting Year — Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31. Unless otherwise stated, the
fiscal years referred to in the notes to these consolidated financial statements are the 52 weeks ended December 29,
2007 (“2007" or “year ended 2007""), the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2006 (2006 or “year ended 2006”), and the
52 weeks ended December 31, 2005 (“2005” or “year ended 2005”). The year-end of WFB is December 31.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Reclassifications — We reclassified an accrued interest receivable totaling $5,864 associated with our
economic development bonds from accounts receivable to other current assets in the 2006 consolidated balance
sheet to conform to the current year presentation. The corresponding line items in the consolidated statements of
cash flows were also reclassified and there was no change in the total of net cash used in operating activities for 2006.
Total current assets were not affected by this reclassification and there was no impact on cash flows or covenant
provisions.

Revenue Recognition - Revenue is recognized for retail store sales at the time of the sale in the store and
for Direct sales when the merchandise is delivered to the customer. We record a reserve for estimated product
returns based on our historical returns experience. Shipping fees charged to customers are included in net revenue
and shipping costs are included in cost of revenue. Revenue from the sale of gift certificates and gift cards (“gift
instruments”) is recognized in revenue when the gift instruments are redeemed for merchandise or services. We
record gift instrument breakage as revenue when the probability of redemption is remote. Our gift instrument liability
at the end of 2007 and 2006 was $113,302 and $86,974, respectively. WFB recognizes gains on sales of credit card
loans as these loans are securitized and sold. Interchange income is earned when a charge is made to a customer’s
account.

Credit Card Interest and Fees — Financial Services revenue includes credit card interest and fees relating
to late payments, over limit, returned check, and cash advance transactions. These fees are assessed according
to the terms of the related cardhoider agreements and recognized as revenue when charged to the cardholders’
accounts. Interest and fees are accrued in accordance with the terms of the applicable cardholder agreement on
credit card loans until the date of charge-off. Charge-offs are typically recorded when accounts are, at a minimum,
130 days contractually delinquent. Accounts relating to cardholder bankruptcies, cardholder deaths, and fraudulent
transactions are charged off earlier. Prior to 2007, our policy was to charge-off accounts on the 24th day of the month
after an account became 115 days contractually past due, except in the case of cardholder bankruptcies, cardholder
deaths, and fraudulent transactions, which were charged off earlier. Interest income is accrued on accounts that carry
a balance from the statement date through the end of the month.
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CABELA
NOTEST
(Dollars i

S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Cost of Revenue and Selling,
consists of merchandise acquisitio
distribution, and administrative expe
store replenishment, and other oper.
with selling, distribution, and admi

Distribution, and Administrative Expenses — Our cost of revenue primarily
h costs, including freight-in costs, as well as shipping costs. Our selling,
nses consist of the costs associated with selling, marketing, warehousing, retail
ing expense activities. All depreciation and amortization expense is associated
histrative activities, and accordingly, is included in this same category on the

consolidated statement of operations

Cash and Cash Egquivalents + Cash'equivalents include commercial paper and other investments that are
readily convertible into cash and harve original maturities of three months or less, and credit card and debit card

receivables from other banks, which
$9,711 and $10,050 at the end of 2007
are classified as current liabilities. C4
and 2006, respectively. Due to reguid
for non-banking operations.

Securitization of Credit Card I
and recognizes related gains or losseq
card loans classified as held for sale,
carried at the lower of cost or marke
allowance. Although WFB continue:
relationships, these securitization tra
consolidated balance sheet. Gains or
amount assigned to the credit card lo

on their relative fair values at date of

$22,740, $17,410 and $17,020, respecti

compensation relative to current mark

WPFB retains certain interests in s

rights, and in some cases, cash rese

estimates related fair values based on
losses, payment rates, and discount rat
cash flows (including interchange fes

settle within one to four business days. Receivables from other banks totaled

and 2006, respectively. Unpresented checks, net of available cash bank balances,
1sh and cash equivalents of WFB were $123,163 and $52,830 at the end of 2007
itory restrictions on our bank, we are restricted from using cash held by WFB

oans — WFB sells the majority of its credit card loans to a securitization trust
as a component of securitization income in Financial Services revenue. Credit
which includes WFB’s transferor’s interest in securitized credit card loans, are
. Net unrealized losses, if any, are recognized in income through a valuation
to service the underlying credit card accounts and maintains the customer
sactions are treated as sales and the securitized loans are not included in our
osses are recognized at the time of sale, and depend, in part, on the carrying
ns sold, which is allocated between the assets sold and retained interest based
transfer. For 2007, 2006 and 2005, WFB recognized gains on sales totaling
vely. A servicing asset or liability is not recognized as WFB receives adequate
et servicing rates.

ccuritized loans, including a transferor’s interest, interest-only strips, servicing
ve accounts, and Class B securities. For interest-only strips, the Company
the present value of future expected cash flows using assumptions for credit
bs commensurate with the risks involved. WFB retains the rights to remaining
s) after the other costs of the trust are paid. However, future expected cash

i

flows for valuation of the interest-only strips do not include interchange income since interchange income is earned

only when a charge is made to a custo

mer’s account. Interchange income on securitized credit card loans is reflected

as a component of securitization income included in Financial Services revenue,

WFB is required to maintain ac

owns Class B securities from one of

by discounting future cash flows using

ish reserve account under certain securitization programs. In addition, WFB
he securitizations, The fair value of the cash reserve accounts are estimated
a rate reflecting the risks commensurate with similar types of instruments.

t

For the Class B securities, fair value

proximates the book value of the underlying loans. Interest-only strips are

recorded at fair value with fair value changes recorded to income,

Inventories — Inventories are stdted at the lower of cost or market, Effective December 31, 2006, we changed

our method for valuing inventories frém the last-in, first-out (“LIFO™) method to the first-in, first-out (“FIFQ™)
method. The effect of this change was got material to our consolidated financial statements for 2007, 2006, or 2005.

Refer to Note 2 for additional informat{on on this change.

Allinventories are finished goods
was $6,875 and $3,193 at the end of
obsolescence, and slow-moving items,
identification, were $6,805 and $5,862

The shrink reserve, estimated based on cycle counts and physical inventories,
2007 and 2006, respectively. The reserves for returns of damaged goods,
estimated based upon historical experience, inventory aging, and specific
t the end of 2007 and 2006, respectively.

g

57




CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Vendor Allowances — Vendor allowances include price allowances, volume rebates, store opening costs
reimbursements, and advertising reimbursements received from vendors under vendor contracts. Vendor merchandise
allowances are recognized as a reduction of the costs of merchandise as sold. Vendor reimbursements of costs are
recorded as a reduction to expense in the period the related cost is incurred based on actual costs incurred. Any cost
reimbursements exceeding expenses incurred are recognized as a reduction of the cost of merchandise sold. Volume
allowances may be estimated based on historical purchases and estimates of projected purchases.

Deferred Catalog Costs and Advertising — Advertising production costs are expensed as the advertising
occurs except for catalog costs which are amortized over the expected period of benefit estimated at 3 to 12 months
after mailing. Unamortized catalog costs totaled $32,56% and $34,869 at the end of 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Advertising expense, including catalog costs amortization, and website marketing paid search fees, was $207,373,
$191,533 and $170,024 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Advertising vendor reimbursements netted in advertising
expense above totaled $7,058, $4,546 and $4,783 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Store Pre-opening Expenses — Non-capital costs associated with the opening of new stores is expensed as
incurred.

Property and Equipment — Property and cquipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are
provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, including assets held under capital leases, on a straight-line
basis. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lease term or, if shorter, the useful lives of the improvements.
Assets held under capital lease agreements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the
estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term, The costs of major improvements that extend the useful life of
an asset are capitalized. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Capitalized interest on projects during the
construction period totaled $4,069 and $355, for 2007 and 2006, respectively. Costs related to internally developed
software are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible Assets — Intangible assets, recorded in other assets, include deferred financing costs, non-compete
agreements, and goodwill. At the end of 2007 and 2006, intangible assets totaled $8,123 and $3,172, net of accumulated
amortization of $4,509 and $3,847, respectively. Intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are amortized over three to
17 years. Amortization expense for these intangible assets for the next five years is estimated to approximate $744
(2008), $743 (2009), $739 (2010), $606 (2011) and $392 (2012).

On September 27, 2007, we purchased the net assets, and assumed certain liabilities, of an outdoors specialty
retailer located in Winnipeg, Manitoba, totaling $11,162. The purchase price has been allocated to tangible and
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.
The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill of $3,505.
We recorded goodwill related to this acquisition based on expected future economic benefits as this acquisition will
serve as our platform for expansion into Canada. Results of operations for this acquisition for the last three months
of 2007 are included in our consolidated income statement.

Land Held for Sale or Development — Proceeds from the sale of land from development activities are
recognized in other revenue and the corresponding costs of land sold are recognized in other costs of revenue.

Government Economic Assistance — When we construct a new retail store or retail development, we
may receive economic assistance from local governments to fund a portion or all of our associated capital costs.
This assistance typically comes in the form of cash and/or land grants and has been typically funded by the local
government through proceeds from the sale of economic development bonds. We have historically purchased the
majority of the bonds associated with our developments. Cash grants are made available to fund land, retail store
construction, and/or development infrastructure costs. Economic development bonds are typically repaid through
sales and/or property taxes generated by the retail store and/or within a designated development area. Cash and land
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S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
D CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

grants are recognized as deferred grant income as a reduction to the costs, or recognized fair value in the case of land
grants, of the associated property and equipment. Deferred grant income is amortized to earnings, as a reduction of
depreciation expense, over the average estimated usefu! life of the associated assets.

Deferred grant income estimates, and their associated present value, are updated quarterly. These estimates
are determined when estimation of the fair value of associated economic development bonds are performed if there
are related bond investments, When it is determined that recorded amounts will not be recovered through projected
discounted cash flows, an adjustmenqis made to reduce deferred grant income, and accumulated amortization on the
deferred grant at that point in time is reversed as an increase to depreciation expense.

We may agree to guarantee defi
bonds. We guaranteed an economic d
respectively. As of December 29, 20(
guarantees would not have a material

ciencies in tax collections which fund the repayment of economic development
bvelopment bond totaling $3,695 and $3,960 at the end of years 2007 and 2006,
7, cash flow projections reflect that any payments required by us under these
impact on our financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

Land grants typically include |
further development. Land grants are
on land grants is recognized as a redu
developments. In 2007, we received |

ind associated with the retail store and may include other land for sale and
recognized at the fair value of the land on date of grant. Deferred grant income
tion to depreciation expense over the estimated life of the related assets of the
d under land grants with a fair value of $19,000.

Certain grants contain covenants we are required to comply with regarding minimum employment levels,
maintaining retail stores in certain logations, and maintaining office facilities in certain locations. For these grants
we recognize grant revenue as the milestones associated with the grant are met. For 2007 and 2006, we were in
compliance with all material requiremgnts under these grants.

Economic Development Bondy — Economic development bonds (“bonds™) issued by state and local
municipalities that management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity
and recorded at amortized cost. Other bonds are classified as available-for-sale and valued at their fair value. Fair
values of bonds are estimated using d|scounted cash flow projections based on available market interest rates and
management estimates including the etimated amounts and timing of expected future tax payments to be received
by the municipalities under developmept zones. These fair values do not reflect any premium or discount that could
result from offering these bonds for salk or through early redemption, or any related income tax impact. Declines in
the fair value of held-to-maturity and ayailable-for-sale economic development bonds below cost that are deemed to
be other than temporary are reflected in earnings.

Credit Card and Loyalty Rewardy
on the dollar amounts of transactions th
and services. Points may also be award
dollar amount of related points are acq
Services revenue. In addition to the W
from various loyalty programs. The dol

and $57,159 at the end of 2007 and 2004
programs was $109,619, $90,096, and 57

fncome Taxes — The Company f1
subsidiaries. The consolidated group foll
equal to the income taxes that would hav

Programs — Cabela’s CLUB Visa cardholders receive Cabela’s points based
rough WFB issued credit cards which may be redeemed for Cabela’s products
ed for special promotions for the acquisition and retention of accounts. The
rued as earned by the cardholder and recorded as a reduction in Financial
FB issued credit cards, customers receive points for purchases at Cabela’s
ar amount of unredeemed credit card points and loyalty points was $70,955
b, respectively. The total cost incurred of all credit card rewards and loyalty
2,992 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

les consolidated federal and state income tax returns with its wholly-owned
hws a policy of requiring each entity to provide for income taxes in an amount
e been incurred if each were filing separately. We recognize deferred income

tax assets and liabilities for the expecteld future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial

staternent carrying amounts and the ta
believe it is more likely than not that so

:lbases of our assets and liabilities. We establish valuation allowances if we

e or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized.
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Stock-Based Compensation — We adopted the provisions of FAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment (“FAS [23R"), on January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective transition method. Prior to January 1,
2006, we accounted for stock-based payments under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. Effective January 1, 2006, we also
adopted FASB Staff Interpretation FAS 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effect of
Share-Based Payment Awards, relating to transitional guidance on determining and reporting excess tax benefits
from stock options exercised.

Under FAS 123R, we recognize compensation expense as follows. For equity awards issued after January 1,
2006, compensation expense is estimated based on grant date fair value on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period. For awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, we estimated compensation
expense based on the grant date fair value estimated under the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25. Costs associated
with all awards are included in compensation expense as a component of selling, distribution, and administrative
expenses.

Financial Instruments and Credit Risk Concentrations — Financial instruments which may subject us to
concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash, investments, and accounts receivable. We invest primarily in money
market accounts, tax-free municipal bonds, or commercial paper, with short-term maturities, limiting the amount of
credit exposure to any one entity. Concentrations of credit risk on accounts receivable are limited due to the nature
of our receivables.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, credit
card loans held for sale, retained interests in asset securitizations, accounts payable, short-term borrowings, notes
payable to banks, and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.
The fair values of our long-term debt instruments are based on the amount of future cash flows associated with each
instrument discounted using current borrowing rates for similar debt instruments of comparabie maturity. Time
deposits are pooled in homogeneous groups, and the future cash flows of those groups are discounted using current
market rates offered for similar products for purposes of estimating fair value.

Derivatives — We use derivatives for the purpose of hedging our exposure to changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates. The fair value of each derivative is recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
within current assets or current liabilities. For derivatives designated as a hedge and used to hedge an anticipated
transaction, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are deferred in the consolidated balance sheets within
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to the extent the hedge is effective in mitigating the exposure to the
related anticipated transaction. Any ineffectiveness associated with the hedge is recognized immediately in earnings.
Amounts deferred within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are recognized in the consolidated income
statements in the same period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. For derivatives that do not
qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair values are recognized immediately in earnings.

Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income consists of net income, derivative adjustments, unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale economic development bonds, and foreign currency translation adjustments,
net of related income taxes.

Currency Translation — Assets and liabilities of our Canadian operations are translated into U. 8. dollars at
currency exchange rates in effect at the end of a reporting period. Gains and losses from translation into U. S. dollars
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in our consolidated balance sheets. Revenues and
expenses are translated at average monthly currency exchange rates.

Earnings Per Share — Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock cutstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net
income by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding plus all additional common shares that
would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive common share equivalents had been issued. Options exercised
prior to vesting for 2006 and 2005 have not been considered in the basic EPS calculation, but are considered in the
computation of diluted EPS.
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T() CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars injThousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Inventories:

Effective the beginning of 2007, we changed our method for valuing inventories from the LIFO method to
the FIFO method. Due 1o merchandise unit cost increases for new and higher-priced product lines we offer, and
because of the market volatility for cgrtain materials in the manufacture of other product lines (primarily firearms
and ammunition), we believe this chapge was preferable as the FIFO method better reflects our inventory at current
costs. Further, our adoption of the FIFO method enhances the comparability of our consolidated financial statements
by changing to the predominant methgd utilized in our industry, and reflects the inventory of all of our operations on
the same accounting method. The effect of the change did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 2007, 3006 and 2005. Because the effect of the change on all periods is not material,
no adjustments have been made to oug consolidated financial statements to reflect a retrospective application.

At December 30, 2006, $18,697|was included in the current portion of deferred income taxes payable in our
consolidated balance sheet related to the book-tax difference resulting from the LIFO method used for income tax
purposes. Although the use of the LIFO method under income tax regulations requires conformity of methods for
financial reporting purposes, it does allow selection of alternative methods of calculation. Our LIFO calculation for
income tax purposes utilizes a simpliffjed LIFO approach which results in a book-tax difference. The change to the
FIFO method in the first quarter of 2007 increased the current portion of income taxes payable by $4,674 and reduced
the current deferred income tax liability by $4,674. We will incur a cash outlay totaling $18,697 over the next four

years since we elected in our 2007 fedgral income tax return to change our method of accounting for inventory from
LIFO to FIFO for income tax purposes.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes:

On December 31, 2006, we adoptpd the provisions of FASB [nterpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of RASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48™). FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the finangial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return. The recognjtion threshold requires that we determine whether it is more likely than not
that a tax position will be sustained upan examination, and then the position is measured at the largest amount of the
benefit that is greater than 50 percent ljkely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits
are tax benefits claimed on our tax retufns that do not meet these recognition and measurement standards.

As a result of adopting FIN 48 welrecognized additional liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits of $8,369. Qf
this amount, $966 after-tax was recorded as a one-time decrease to our beginning retained earnings. The remaining
amount was previously accrued under FAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies, or FAS 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes. In addition, we recorded $1,196 bgfore-tax, or $789 after-tax, of accrued interest on the estimated unrecognized

tax benefits as a one-time decrease to gur beginning retained earnings. The cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48
totaled $1,755 as a decrease to our begi+ing retained earnings.
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3. ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This statement defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires expanded disclosures about fair value measurements.
FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued in fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, or beginning
in 2008 for us. We have evaluated the impact of this statement to Cabela’s, and we do not believe that the adoption of
the provisions of this statement will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and F inancial
Liabilities — Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 113. This statement permits entities to choose to
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. FAS 159 is effective as of the beginning
of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. We evaluated the provisions of this statement
and did not elect to adopt the fair value option on any financial instruments or other items held by the Company on
December 29, 2007.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141R, Business Combinations, which replaces FAS No. 141.
FAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and measures inits
financial statements the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. This statement applies prospectively
to all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. FAS 141R will be applicable to us beginning in 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51. This statement amends ARB No. 51 to establish accounting and reporting
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS 160 is
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, including interim periods. We do not believe that
the adoption of this statement will have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

4. CREDIT CARD LOANS AND SECURITIZATION

WFB has established a trust for the purpose of routinely securitizing and selling credit card loans. WFB
maintains responsibility for servicing the securitized loans and receives a servicing fee based on the average
outstanding loans in the trust. Servicing fees are paid monthly and reflected as a component of Financial Services
revenue, The trust issues commercial paper, long-term bonds, or long-term notes. Variable bonds and notes are priced
at a benchmark rate plus a spread. Fixed rate notes are priced on a five-year swap rate plus a spread. WFB retains
rights to future cash flows arising after investors have received the return to which they are entitled and after certain
administrative costs of operating the trust. This portion of the retained interests is known as interest-only strips
and is subordinate to investor’s interests. The value of the interest-only strips is subject to credit, payment rate, and
interest rate risks on the loans sold. The investors have no recourse to the assets of WFB for failure of debtors to pay.
However, as contraciually required, WFB establishes certain cash accounts, known as cash reserve accounts, to be
used as collateral for the benefit of investors.
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Credit card loans consisted of the following for the years ended:

Credit card loans held for sale {(inclug
$122,824)

Credit card loans receivable, net of a

Composition of credit card loans at y
Loans serviced

Loans securitized and sold to outs

Securitized loans with securities o
retained interests, .. .. ......

Less adjustments to market value dnd allowance for loan losses
Total (including transferor’s interest of $166,700 and $122 824)

Transferor’s interest restricted for repgyment of secured borrowing at year

end ...l e
Delinquent loans in the managed cred
30-89 days

90 days or more and still accruing .

Total net charge-offs on the managed
portfolio for the year ended

Annual average credit card loans:
Managed credit card loans

Securitized credit card loans including transferor’s interest

Total net charge-offs as a percentage of

managed credit card loans

Retained Interests:

Retained interests in securitized

Cash reserve account

Interest-only strips

Class B securities

2007 2006
ing transferor’s interest of $166,700 and
.................................. $ 178,238 $ 136,072
lowances of $1,197 and $699 .. ......... 13,635 16,611
.................................. § 191,893 $ 152,683
rar end:

.................................. $ 2,058,235 $ 1,674,064
de INVESIOTS . .« o v et {1,850,000) (1,514,000)
wned by WFB which are classified as
................................. (12,650) (4,922)
195,585 155,142
.......... (3,692) (2,459)
............. $ 191,893 $ 152,683
................................. $ 133333 $ —
t card loan portfolio at year end:
.................................. 14,319 9,589
................................. 5,835 3,095
dredit card loans
................................. 33,898 25,199
................................ 1,690,543 1,357,671
.............. 1,656,078 1,325,149
annual average
................................ 2.01% 1.86%
lpans consisted of the following at the years ended:
2007 2006
........................................... £11,965 § 9,638
........................................... 27,162 24,473
........................................... 12,650 4,922
$51,777  $39,033
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Key Assumptions:

The following are the key economic assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the interest-only strips
resulting from the securitization of credit card loans for the years ended:

2007 2006
Weighted average paymentrates .. ... ... ooveninnn i 29.881033.16%  33.05t03527%
Weighted average lifeinyears . ......... ... e 0.54210 0.708 0.542 t0 0.625
Weighted average expected creditlosses................ ...t 2.57 to 3.06% 2.59t0 2.96%
Servicingfee. ............. ot PN 1.25 10 2.00% 1.25 to 2.00%
DISCOUME TALE. . o o vt e e ettt ettt e e et e et e 10.12t0 16.60%  10.37 to 11.39%
Weighted average interest rate paid to investors . .................. ... 5.47 to 5.64% 546 t0 5.62%

Sensitivity Analysis:

The key economic assumptions used and the sensitivity of the current fair value of retained interests of $51,777
at December 29, 2007, to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions are as follows:

Impact on Fair Value of

Assumption an Adverse Change of
10% 0%
Weighted average paymentrates . ... 20.88%  $(1,329) §${(2.562)
Weighted average expected creditlosses....................o. 3.06 (1,362) (2,678)
DISCOUMETALE. « o\ v et ie et e et et na s aaa e eaeenns 15.60 and 16.60 (257) (516)
Weighted average interest paid to investors. . .................. 5.57 (1,320) (2,640)

The sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and is as of a specific point in time. As a result, these scenarios should
be used with caution. As the table indicates, changes in fair value based on 10% variation in assumptions generally
cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change in fair value may not be
linear. Also, in this table, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair values of the retained interests
are calculated without changing any other assumption; in reality, changes in one factor may result in changes in
another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities.
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Cash Flows from Securitizations:

The following table summarizep the cash flows received from the securitization trust during the years ended:

2007 2006 2003
Proceeds from new securitizations, Nt . . .......ovevvnneennno.. $ 336,000 § 267,000 $ 237000
Collections used by the trust to purchase new balances in
revolving credit card securitizati;ts .......................... 8,040,206 6,727,177 5,578,746
Servicing feesreceived. . ....... .. . o 30,077 24,352 19,468
Other cash flows received by the trangferor other than
servicingfees ... ... .. ... 188,633 157,259 124,396

Certain restrictions exist related to securitization transactions that protect certificate and note holders against
declining performance of the credit ¢ard loans. In the event performance declines outside stated parameters and
waivers are not granted by certificate holders, note holders and/or credit enhancement providers, a rapid amortization
of the certificates and notes could pptentially occur. The credit card loans were performing within established
guidelines during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment included the following at the years ended:

Land and improvements . . .........
Buildings and improvements .. .. ...
Furniture, fixtures and equipment . .
Assets held under capital lease. . . . ..

Property and equipment...........

Less accumulated depreciation and amprtization

Construction in progress . .........

Depreciable Life
in Years 2007 2006
....................... Up to 20 $ 172,582 $ 91,561
....................... 7 to 40 470,067 303,600
....................... Jto 15 378,050 281,521
....................... 30 14,562 14,363

........................ 1,035,261 691,045
............... {246,178) (190,912)

789,083 500,133
........................ 114,969 99,932
$ 904,052  § 600,065
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6. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BONDS

Economic development bonds consisted of the following at the years ended:

2007
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Classified as;
Available-for-sale. . .......... ... ... ... ... $91,427 £ 9 $(1,299)  $90,137
Heldtomaturity . ... ..o oo 7,898 — — 7.898

$99,325 $ 9 $(1,299)  $98.035

1006
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Classified as:

Available-forsale........................ $105,431 $467 $— $105,898
Heldtomaturity . . ........... .. vt 11,462 — — 11,462
5116,893 = $467 $— $117,360

_— 2 el

The carrying value and fair value of economic development bonds by contractual maturity at the end of 2007
was as follows:

Available-for-Sale Held to Maturity

Fair Cost and

Cost Value Fair Value
2008 ... s $ 847 $§ 759 $ 702
2009 .. e 895 755 703
2010... .. e e e 1,183 917 590
22 1) 1,897 1,079 637
2012 e e 2,531 2,086 686
Thereafter. ... ... ... i 84,074 84,541 4,580
$£91,427  $90,137 $7.858

At the end of 2007, the fair value of two economic development bonds were determined to be below carrying
value, with the decline in fair value deemed to be other than temporary. These fair value adjustments totaling $6,733
reduced the carrying value of the economic development bond portfolio.

Interest earned on the economic development bonds totated $5,680, $9,574 and $10,549 for 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. There were no realized gains or losses in 2007, 2006 or 2005.
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7. PREPAID EXPENSES AND JTHER ASSETS

Prepaid expenses and other assgts (current and long-term} consisted of the following at the years ended:

Prepaid expenses and other current a%gets:
Deferred catalog costs

Interest and notes receivable . . ..

.......................................

Financial Services - Visa interchanpe funding. . ............. ... ..o .

Financial Services accrued interest|and other receivables

Other

QOther assets:
Goodwill. ....................

Intangible assets, net

Financial Services deferred financifg and new accountcosts. . .................

Long-term notes and other receivab

eS .

Other (2007 balance includes mortjage—backed securities of $1,630,

at cost, which approximates fai

8. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of th

value) ... ... e

e following at the years ended:

Accrued employee compensation and benefits . ....... ... ... .. ol

Other

9. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities consistgd of the following at the years ended:

Deferred lease tenant allowances. . . . .
Deferred grant income . . ...........
Deferred compensation. ............
FIN 48 unrecognized tax benefits . . . .
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2007 2006
$ 32,569 $ 34,892
5,520 10,092
31,067 25,524
34,575 28,254
12,566 7,647
$116,297 5106409
$ 4474 $ 969
3,649 2,203
6,942 7,537
12,382 8,452
2,329 443
$ 29776 $ 19.604
2007 2006
$ 61,519 $ 61,277
17,926 12,223
27,710 33,482
6,305 6,025
6,306 5,502
19,744 14,390
$139510  $133.399
2007 2006
$17,018 § —
9,685 9,550
5,379 5,174
2,000 —
$34082  $14,724
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10. TIME DEPOSITS

WFB accepts time deposits only in amounts of at least one hundred thousand dollars. All time deposits are
interest bearing. The aggregate amount of time deposits by maturity at the end of 2007 was as follows:

2008 L $ 49,219
2009 ... e 36,886
2000, ... 37,886
2000, 22,200
2002, 14,200
Thereafter.......... ... . i il 200
160,591
Less current maturities. . .............cc.onn... {49,219)
Deposits classified as non-current liabilities . .. . ... $111,372

For purposes of estimating fair value, time deposits are pooled in homogeneous groups and the future cash
flows of those groups are discounted using current market rates offered for similar products. At the end of 2007 and
2006, the carrying amounts of the bank’s time deposits were $160,591 and $102,196, respectively, with estimated fair
values of $162,939 and $102,739, respectively.

11. REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITIES

We have a credit agreement that provides for a $325,000 unsecured revolving credit facility. Effective August
15, 2007, we entered into an agreement to amend this credit facility - changing the expiration date of the revolving
commitment to June 30, 2012, from June 30, 2010; increasing the limit of letters of credit to $200,000 from $150,000;
and amending certain covenants. The credit facility may be increased to $450,000, and permits the issuance ofup to
$200,000 in letters of credit and standby letters of credit, which are applied against the overall credit limit available
under the credit facility.

At December 29, 2007, the principal amount outstanding under this credit agreement totaled $50,576 and the
average principal balance outstanding during 2007 was $66,840. Letters of credit and standby letters of credit totaling
$59,596 were outstanding at December 29, 2007,

The weighted average interest rate for borrowings on the line of credit was 5.67% during 2007. During the term
of the facility, we are required to pay a quarterly facility fee, which ranges from 0.10% to 0.25% of the average daily
unused principal balance on the line of credit. Interest on advances on this credit facility is determined at the greater
of 1) the lead lender’s prime rate, 2) the average rate on the federal funds rate in effect for the day plus one-half of one
percent, or 3) the Eurodollar rate of interest plus a margin, as defined.

The credit agreement requires that Cabela’s comply with certain financial and other customary covenants,
including 1) a fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined) of no less than 1.50 to 1.00 as of the last day of any quarter; 2)
a cash flow leverage ratio (as defined) of no more than 3.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any quarter; and 3) a minimum
tangible net worth standard (as defined).

The credit agreement includes a dividend provision limiting the amount that Cabela’s could pay to stockholders,
which at December 29, 2007, was not in excess of $108,933. The agreement also has a provision permitting
acceleration by the lenders in the event there is a change in control, as defined. In addition, the credit agreement
contains cross default provisions to other outstanding debt. In the event that we fail to comply with these covenants,
a default is triggered. In the event of default, all outstanding letters of credit and all principal and outstanding
interest would immediately become due and payable. We were in compliance with all financial debt covenants at
December 29, 2007.
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Ou September 19, 2007, we entergd into an unsecured revolving credit agreement for $14,933 (315,000 Canadian)
in conjunction with the acquisition ofthe net assets of an outdoors specialty retailer located in Winnipeg, Manitoba.
Interest is variable, computed at rates s defined in the agreement, plus a margin, and payable monthly. At December
29, 2007, the interest rate was 5.60%.

The $325,000 credit agreement yas previously amended eliminating certain limitations regarding pay downs
of revolving loans advanced; thereforg, advances made pursuant to this credit agreement are classified as long-term
debt. The credit agreement for our Cahada operations is also classified as long-term debt,

We also have financing agreemgents that allow certain boat and all-terrain vehicle merchandise vendors to
give us extended payment terms. The yendors are responsible for all interest payments, with certain exceptions, for
the financing period and the financing company holds a security interest in the specific inventory held Cabela’s.
We record this merchandise in inventdry. Qur revolving credit facility limits this security interest to $50,000, The
extended payment terms to the vendor do not exceed one year. The outstanding liability, included in accounts payable,
was $7,988 and $9,829 at the end of 20P7 and 2006, respectively.

12.  SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES SUBSIDIARY

At December 29, 2007, the principal amount of $100,000 is outstanding under a variable funding facility credit
agreement entered into by WFB. This facility is secured by a participation interest in the transferor’s interest of the
Cabela’s Master Credit Card Trust. The facility limit was entered into on June 21, 2007, for $50,000, and was increased
to $100,000 on November 29, 2007. Thd facility carries a liquidity fee of 0.15% on the outstanding commitment and a
program fee of 0.10% on the principal amount outstanding. The interest rate on the facility is based upon the interest
rate for commercial paper issued by th¢ lender and was 5.11% at the end of 2007. The weighted average interest rate
was 5.31% during 2007. The credit agrdement expires on June 20, 2008.

WFB has an unsecured federal funds purchase agreement with a financial institution. The maximum amount
that can be borrowed is $25,000. All federal funds transactions are on a daily origination and return basis. Daily
interest charges are determined upon mutual agreement by the parties. There were no amounts outstanding at the
end of 2007 and 2006.

WFB also has an unsecured federaﬁ funds purchase agreement with another financial institution. The maximum
amount that can be borrowed is $60,0001 The interest rate for the purchase agreement is based on the current federal

funds rate. There were no amounts outstignding as of December 29, 2007, and at December 30, 2006, there was $6,491
outstanding at 5.75%.

13. LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES

Long-term debt and capital leases ¢onsisted of the following at the years ended:

. 2007 2006
Unsecured revolving credit facility expiging June 30,2012 . ...................... $ 50,576 i —
Unsecured senior notes due 2008-2009 with interest at 4.95% .. .................. 50,000 75,000
Unsecured notes payable due 2016 with ilnerest at59% ... 215,000 215,000
Senior unsecured notes payable due 20173 with interestat 6.08% .................. 60,000 —
Unsecured revolving credit facility for Chnadian
operations expiring June 30,2010 . .1 .. ... ... . 7,447 —
Capital lease obligations payable through 2036 ................................. 13,939 13,948
Other long-termdebt. . ... .. ... . 6,423 7,434
Totaldebt. . ... 403,385 311,382
Less current portionofdebt ...........0.. ..o . . {26,785) (26,803)
Long-term debt, less current maturitigs ... ... o iiiiiierinnririnennn. $376,600 $284,579
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On June 15, 2007, we issued $60,000 of 6.08% senior unsecured notes pursuant to a supplement to our
February 2006 debt issuance of $215,000. The notes mature on June 15, 2017, with interest on the notes payable semi-
annually. These notes contain the same default provisions and covenants as those pertaining to the February 2006 debt
issuance, including limitations on indebtedness and financial covenants relating to net worth and fixed charges.

Certain of the long-term debt agreements contain various covenants and restrictions such as the maintenance of
minimum debt coverage, net worth, and financial ratios. The significant financial ratios and net worth requirements
in the long-term debt agreements are 1) a limitation of funded debt to be less than 60% of consolidated total
capitalization; 2) cash flow fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined, of no less than 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of
the any quarter; and 3) a minimum consolidated adjusted net worth (as defined).

In addition, the debt contains cross default provisions to other outstanding credit facilities. In the event that we
failed to comply with these covenants and the failure to comply would go beyond 30 days, a default would trigger
and all principal and outstanding interest would immediately be due and payable. At December 29, 2007, we were in
compliance with all financial covenants under credit agreements and unsecured notes.

At the end of 2007 and 2006, the total carrying amount of long-term debt was $403,385 and $311,382,
respectively, with an estimated fair value of $387,743 and $315,979, respectively.

We have a lease agreement for our distribution facility in Wheeling, West Virginia. The lease term is through
June 2036. The monthly installments are $83 with the lease contains a bargain purchase option at the end of the lease
term. We are accounting for this lease as a capital lease and have recorded the additional leased asset at the present
value of the future minimum lease payments using a 5.9% implicit rate. The additional leased asset was recorded at
$5,649 and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years. ‘

Aggregate expected maturities of long-term debt and scheduled capital lease payments for the years shown are
as follows:

Scheduled Capital  Long-Term Debt

Lease Payments Maturities
11 S OO P $ 1,003 8 26,547
2000 e e 1,092 26,376
0. . 1,000 7,990
{1 ) 1 AP 1,000 494
.01} 15O 1,000 51,096
Therealter. .. .ttt e 23,500 276,943
) 28,595 389,446

Capital lease amount representing interest. . .. ................ (14,656)
Present value of net scheduled lease payments . ............... $ 13,939 13,939
Total long-term debt and capital leases. .. ................ ' $403,385
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14, INTEREST (EXPENSE) INC

Interest expense, net of interest

DME, NET

ncome, consisted of the following for years ended:

Interest expense . .
Capitalized interest

............

............

Interest income

2007 2006 2005
.......................... $(24312y  $(18302) $(11,299)
.......................... 4,069 355 371
.......................... 1,465 1,821 672
$(18,778)  $(16,126)  $(10,256)

15. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes cbnsisted of the foliowing for the years ended:

2007 2006 2005
Current:

Federal ... ... . ... $47.431 $24,601  $28,374
State ... 4,993 2,840 2,619
52,424 27,441 31,493

Deferred:
Federal ... ... oo b i i (599) 22,225 10,723
State ................. (477) 1,805 585
(1,076) 24,030 11,308
$51,348 $51,471  $42.801

A reconciliation of the statutory|federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows for the

years ended:

Statutory federal rate . .. ...
State income taxes, net of fedgral tax benefit
Other nondeductible items . .

Other, net
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2007 2006 2005
........................... 35.0% 350%  35.0%
............... 1.8 1.8 1.2
........................... 0.1 0.1 (0.1
........................................... — 0.6 1.0
36.9% 37.5%  37.1%
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following for the years ended:

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred COMPENSALION - ... . .uuien it it aaaiinea e $ 5,547 $ 3,907
Deferred ToVeIUE . . .. ottt e e 3,744 3,276
RESEIVE fOr TELUMTIS .« . ot vt ottt e e e e et e ie e 7,550 8,032
ACCIUEd EXPENSES. . . .\t 5,121 4,360
Gift certificates Hability . .. ... ... ... i e 3,401 —
Allowance fordoubtful accounts . ... ... ... 2,505 1,822
OHRET. . . o e e e e 3,623 2,298
31,491 23,695
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid Xpenses .. ..ot 17,773 14,249
Property and eqUipment . . . ...t 34,519 28,955
IVETIEOTIES & v vt ot e ettt et e e et e tm et e e e 14,902 16,999
Retained interests in securitized loans . . .. ... oo i 10,050 9.055
011112 S U AU O 45 2,855
77,289 72,113
Valuation allowante. . ... vve ot it i et s (916) —
Net deferred tax liability . ... ... ... . . (46,714) (48,418)
Less current deferred income taxes. . .. ..ot e e it 15,601 17,978
Long-term deferred income taxes . . ... ... ooviini i 331,11 ${30,440)

As of December 29, 2007, state net operating losses totéling $15,656 are being carried forward which begin to
expire in 2014. These losses will expire completely by 2021. A full valuation allowance has been established against
net operating loss carryforwards as it is uncertain if we will generate sufficient taxable income in these jurisdictions
to recognize the tax benefit of these losses.

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 in 2007 as discussed in Note 2. The reconciliation of unrecognized tax
benefits, the balance of which is classified as other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, is as
follows for the year ended 2007

Unrecognized tax benefits, beginningofyear. ........ ... ... § 8,569
Decreases on itemsrelatedtopriorperiods...................................' ........ {6,866}
Increases from current period HEMS - . ... v vttt e 297
Unrecognized tax benefits,endof year..............oo i $ 2,000

72




CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO|CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Our policy is to accrue interest gxpense, and penalties as appropriate, on estimated unrecognized tax benefits
as a charge to interest expense in the konsolidated statements of income. We recorded a net credit of $346 against
interest expense during 2007 due to the gross decrease of certain unrecognized tax benefits. No penalties were
accrued. The liability for estimated interest on unrecognized tax benefits totaling $850 at the end of 2007 is included
in other long-term liabilities in the cdnsolidated balance sheet. We do not anticipate a substantial change in the
balance of unrecognized tax benefits ip the next twelve months.

The total amount of unrecognizel tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate is $1,587.
We file income tax returns in the Unitegd States, Canada, and various states. The tax years 2003 through 2006 remain
open to examination by major taxing j+risdictions to which Cabela’s is subject.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We lease various buildings, compjiter equipment, signs, and storage space under operating leases, which expire
on various dates through April 2033. Rent expense on these leases as well as other month to month rentals was
$12,938, $8,896 and 36,793 for 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. The following is a schedule of future minimum
rental payments under operating leasesjas of December 29, 2007

2008 .. e $ 5,126
2009 L. 5,209
20000 . 4,944
2000, e 4,586
] 1 4,167
Thereafter. . .|........ .. oo 78,398

$102,430

We have entered into certain lease agreements for retail store locations. Certain leases include tenant allowances
that will be amortized over the life of the lease. In 2007, we received $17,018 in tenant allowances. Certain leases
require us to pay contingent rental amoupts based on a percentage of sales, in addition to real estates taxes, insurance,
maintenance, and other operating expefses associated with the teased premises. These leases include options to
renew with lease periods, including extensions, varying from 10 to 70 years.

We have entered into real estate purchase, construction, and/or economic development agreements for various
new retail store site locations. At December 29, 2007, we had total estimated cash commitments of approximately
£180,000 for 2008 and 2009 for projecied retail store-related expenditures and the purchase of future economic
development bonds connected with the dgvelopment, construction, and completion of new retail stores. This does not

include any amounts for contractual obligations associated with retail store locations where we are in the process of
certain negotiations,

Under various grant programs, stafe or local governments provide funding for certain costs associated with
developing and opening a new retail storg. We generally receive grant funding in exchange for commitments, such as
assurance of agreed employment and wage levels at the retail store or that the retail store will remain open, made by
us to the state or local government providing the funding. The commitments typically phase out over approximately
five to ten years. if we fail to maintainj the commitments during the applicable period, the funds received may
have to be repaid or other adverse consequences may arise, which could affect our cash flows and profitability. As
of December 29, 2007, the total amount pf grant funding subject to a specific contractual remedy was $13,049. In

addition, at December 29, 2007, we had an obligation under our open account document instructions program to pay
$6,399 to participating vendors,
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WFB enters into financia! instruments with off balance sheet risk in the normal course of business through
the origination of unsecured credit card loans. These financial instruments consist of commitments to extend credit,
totaling $11,635,000 and $9,528,000, in addition to any other balances a cardholder might have, at years ended 2007
and 2006, respectively. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the consolidated balance sheet. The principal amounts of these instruments reflect the maximum
exposure WEB has in the instruments. WFB has not experienced and does not anticipate that all of the customers will
exercise their entire available line of credit at any given point in time. WFB has the right to reduce or cancel these
available lines of credit at any time.

Litigation — We are engaged in various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. The subject
matter of these proceedings primarily includes commercial disputes, employment issues, and product liability
lawsuits. After taking into consideration legal counsel’s evaluation of such actions, management is of the opinion
that the ultimate outcome will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Self-Insurance — We are self-insured for health claims up to $300 per individual. We have established a
liability for health claims submitted and for those claims incurred prior to year end but not yet reported totaling
$3.925 and $3,934 at the end of 2007 and 2006, respectively.

We are also self-insured for workers’ compensation claims up to $500 per individual. We have established
a liability for workers’ compensation claims submitted and for those claims incurred prior to year end but not yet
reported totaling $4,326 and $3,843 at the end of 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Our liabilities for health and workers’ compensation claims incurred but not reported are based upon internally
developed calculations. These estimates are regularly evaluated for adequacy based on the most current information
available, including historical claim payments, expected trends, and industry factors.

17. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

WEB is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the FDIC and the Nebraska State
Department of Banking and Finance. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, WFB must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of WFB’s assets,
liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. WFB’s capital
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgment by the regulators with respect to components, risk
weightings, and other factors.

The quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require that WFB maintain
minimum amounts and ratios (defined in the regulations) as set forth in the following table. WFB exceeded the
minimum requirements for the well-capitalized category under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective
action provisions for both periods presented.

At the end of 2007 and 2006, the most recent notification from the FDIC categorized WFB as well capitalized
under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as weil capitalized WFB must
maintain certain amounts and ratios as set forth in the following table. There are no conditions or events since that
notification that management believes have changed the institution’s category.
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2007
Ratio Required to be Considered
“Adequately- “Well-
Actual Capitalized” Capitalized”
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets|......... $118,030 16.8% 356,102 8.0% 370,127  10.0%
Tier I Capital to Risk-Weighted Assetsy......... 114,336 16.3 28,051 4.0 42,076 6.0
Tier 1 Capital to Average Assets. ... ......... 114,336 27.6 16,568 4.0 20,710 5.0
2006
Ratio Required to be Considered
“Adequately- “Well-
Actual Capitalized” Capitalized”
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets.|....... .. $96,629  192% $40,352 8.0% $50,440 10.0%
Tier [ Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets{......... 94,169 18.7 20,176 4.0 30,264 6.0
Tier | Capital to Average Assets. . ....|......... 94,169 335 11,249 4.0 14,061 5.0

18. STOCK BASED COMPENSAT]

Effective January 1, 2006, we a

ION AND STOCK OPTION PLANS

opted the provisions of FAS 123R, which requires the measurement and

recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including
employee stock option awards and employee stock purchases made under an employee stock purchase plan. We
previously applied the recognition and theasurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations.

We recorded share-based compensation expense of $4,944 (33,115 after-tax, or $0.05 per diluted share) and
$3,615 (82,239 after-tax, or $.03 per diluted share) for 2007 and 2006, respectively. Compensation expense related to
our share-based payment awards is recofded in selling, distribution, and administrative expenses in the consolidated

statements of income. There was no s
December 30, 2006.

During the year ended December 3
since 2004 but not yet vested as of Ja
expense using the accelerated or grade
adoption date is recognized using a stra
2007, the total unrecognized deferred sh
forfeitures, was approximately $7,725, nd
of 3.5 years.

re-based compensation capitalized in assets as of December 29, 2007, or

), 2006, share-based compensation expense was recorded for awards granted

vary 1, 2006. For these awards, we continue to recognize compensation
method of amortization. Compensation cost for awards granted after the
ght-line amortization method over the vesting period. As of December 29,
hre-based compensation balance for unvested shares issued, net of expected
't of tax, which is expected to be amortized over a weighted average period

The fair value of options granted on and subsequent to May 1, 2004, is estimated on the date of the grant using

the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

common stock, For 2006 and 2003, the ¢
comparisons to peers in our market sectd

I'he expected volatility for 2007 was based on the historical volatility of our
kpected volatility was derived using a historical volatility model as well as
r since we have only been a public company since June 2004,
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The fair value of options in the years presented was estimated using the Black-Scholes mode! with the following
weighted average assumptions:

2007 2006 2005
Risk-free interest rate based on U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect
atthegrantdate. .. ......... . ciiin i 331t04.63% 5.01% 3.87t04.38%
Dividendyield. . . .......... ... . oo i il P — — —
Expected volatility .. ... 30t0 33% 50% 50%
Weighted average expected life based on historical information . . . 5.0vyears 6.0 years 4.5 years
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted .. ...... $7.82 $10.45 $£9.14
The following table summarizes our option activity during 2007:
All Options Non-\’est;ed Options
Weighted Weighted
Options Average Average
Available Number Exercise Number Grant Date
for Grant of Options Price of Options Fair Value
Outstanding, beginning of year. ............... 39,434 4,887,409 $14.01 2,833,599 $6.61
Additional options authorized .. ............ 3,500,000
Granted. . ... ... e (1,115,000) 1,115,000 22,19 1,115,000 7.82
Vested. . . .. e e — — — (885,777) 5.67
Exercised ........... ... ... . i —  (524,648) 7.72 — —
Forfeited (1) (2) .o oo oo 104,762  (165,317) 16.21 (147,507) 6.55
Outstanding, end of year (3) . ....... ..., 2,529.196 5,312,444 16.28 2915315 7.36
(1}  Options forfeited under the 1997 Plan do not become available for grant under the 2004 Plan.
(2) Options forfeited under the 2004 Plan are immediately available for grant.
(3) Options outstanding at the end of 2007 were comprised of 1,089,191 of incentive stock options and 4,223,253 of
nonqualified stock options.
The following table provides information relating to our equity share-based payment awards at December 29,
2007
Weighted Average
Weighted Weighted Aggregate Remaining
Average Average Intrinsic Contractual Life
Shares Exercise Price  Fair Value Value (in Years)
Vestedand exercisable .. .. ... .......... 2,397,129 $14.83 $6.49 § 5,839 4.94
Non-vested ....... ...t iiiinnnn. 2,915315 17.47 7.36 4,407 672
Total outstanding .. ................... 5,312,444 16.28 6.97 $10,246 5.91
Expected to vest after .
December 29,2007 .. ........ ... .. 2,791,051 17.33 7.28 $ 4,406 6.64

The aggregate intrinsic value of awards exercised was $8,188, $3,473 and $1,000 during 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The total fair value of shares vested was $5,025, $3,843 and $6,304 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Based on our closing stock price of $14.80 as of December 29, 2007, the total number of in-the-money awards
exercisable as of December 29, 2007, was approximately 1,241,694,
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The stock options outstanding ard

were in the following exercise price rg

ng

exercisable for equity share-based payment awards as of December 29, 2007,
€s:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted
Exercise Average Contractual Life Average
Price Shares Exercise Price (in Years) Shares Exercise Price

$0.00t0$5.00. . ................. 176,160 $ 417 0.82 133,954 $ 4.12
$501 081000 ... ... ... ..... 618,075 8.26 33 281,352 8.18
51001 o $15.00. .. ............... 1,409,228 11.73 3.54 826,388 11.72
515011082000 ................. 2,058,981 18.72 7.45 1,149,435 19.89
$2001to 82500 ................. 1,046,000 22.38 848 2,000 21,77
$2501t0330.00 . ... ............. 4,000 27.26 6.58 4,000 27.26
5,312,444 16.28 5.91 2,397,129 14.83

19. STOCK OPTION AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Employee Stock Option Plans |
the grant of non-qualified stock options
stock units, and other stock-based awat
Plan will have a term of no greater than
the vesting schedule determined at the
shares subject to options and 2,529,196
been to issue new shares for the exercis

As of December 29, 2007, under
subject to options with no shares availal
date of the grant under the 1997 Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
under cur Employee Stock Purchase Pld
under the ESPP. As of December 29, 20(
utilize market purchases, rather than net

401(k) Savings Plan — All empl
savings plan, subject to certain limitatig

eligible wages. Total expense for emplo

respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan —
key employees that was amended on De

earn interest with the rate adjusting on

balance in either a lump sum or in equal

under this plan was $525, $503 and $633

The Cabela’s Incorporated 2004 Stock Plan (the “2004 Plan™) provides for
L incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted
ds to employees, directors, and consultants. Options granted under the 2004
ten years from the grant date and will become exercisable in accordance with
ime the awards are granted. As of December 29, 2007, there were 3,608,879
thares authorized and available for grant under the 2004 Plan. Qur policy has

e of stock options.

our 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Plan™), there were 1,703,565 shares

le for grant. Options issued expire on the fifth or the tenth anniversary of the

- The maximum number of shares of common stock available for issuance
n (the “ESPP™) is 1,835,000. During 2007, there were 133,606 shares issued
7, 1,445,276 shares were authorized and available for issuance. We intend to
v issuances, whenever possible,

pyees are eligible to defer up to 80% of their wages to Cabela’s 401(k)
ns. The Company matches 100% of eligible employee deferrals up to 6% of
ver contributions was $7,007, $6,502 and $10,307 in 2007, 2006 and 20035,

Ve have a self-funded, nonqualified deferred compensation plan for certain
ember 31, 2004, to restrict any further contributions. Participants’ balances
) semi-annual basis. Upon certain conditions participants can receive their
annual payments over various time periods. The charge to interest expense
for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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20. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS

Preferred Stock — We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of $0.01 per
share. None of the shares of the authorized preferred stock have been issued. The board of directors is authorized to issue
these shares of preferred stock without stockholder approval in different classes and series and, with respect to each class or
series, to determine the dividend rate, the redemption provisions, conversion provisions, liquidation preference, and other
rights, privileges, and restrictions. The issuance of any preferred stock could have the effect of diluting the voting power of
the holders of common stock, restricting dividends on the common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of the common
stock, or delaying or preventing a change in control without further action by the stockholders.

Class A Voting Common Stock — The holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to receive ratably
dividends, if any, the board of directors may declare from time to time from funds legally available therefore, subject
to the preferential rights of the holders of any shares of preferred stock that we may issue in the future. The holders of
our Class A commot stock are entitled to one vote per share on any matter to be voted upon by stockholders.

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of company affairs, the holders of
our Class A common stock are entitled to share ratably with the holders of Class B non-voting common stock in all
assets remaining after payment to creditors and subject to prior distribution rights of any shares of preferred stock
that the Company may issue in the future. All of the outstanding shares of Class A common stock are fully paid and
non-assessable.

Class B Non-voting Common Steck — The holders of our Class B non-voting common stock are not entitled
to any voting rights, except that the holders may vote as a class, with each holder receiving one vote per share of
Class B non-voting common stock, on any amendment, repeal, or modification of any provision of our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation that adversely affects the powers, preferences, or special rights of holders of Class
B non-voting common stock. Shares of the Class B non-voting common stock are convertible into the same number
of shares of Class A voting common stock at any time. However, no holder of shares of Class B non-voting common
stock is entitled to convert any of its shares into shares of Class A common stock, to the extent that, as a result of such
conversion, the holder directly, or indirectly, would own, control, or have the power to vote a greater number of shares of
Class A common stock or other securities of any kind issued by us than the holder is legally permitted to own, control,
or have the power to vote. Subject to the prior rights of holders of preferred stock, if any, holders ot Class B non-voting
common stock, which rates equally with the Class A common stock in respect of dividends, are entitled to receive
ratably dividends, if any, as may be lawfully declared from time to time by our board of directors.

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of company affairs, the holders of
Class B non-voting common stock are entitled to share ratably with the holders of Class A common stock in all assets
remaining after payment to creditors and subject to prior distribution rights of any shares of preferred stock that we
may issue in the future,

Retained Earnings — The most significant restrictions on the payment of dividends are the covenants
contained in our revolving credit agreement and unsecured senior notes purchase agreements. Nebraska banking
laws also govern the amount of dividends that WFB can pay to Cabela’s. We have unrestricted retained earnings of
$108,933 available for dividends. '

Shelf Registration — On September 2, 2005, we filed with the SEC a Form §-3 Registration Statement
(Registration No. 333-128100) to register 6,252,768 shares of our common stock (the “Form S-3 Registration
Statement”). On March 8, 2007, we entered into an underwriting agreement providing for the sale by the selling
stockholders named in the underwriting agreement (the “Selling Stockholders™} of 4,736,868 shares of our common
stock. On March 9, 2007, we filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement to the effective Form S-3 Registration
Statement relating to the underwritten public offering of the 4,736,868 shares of our common stock by the Selling
Stockholders. The sale of the shares of our common stock by the Selling Stockholders closed on March 14, 2007, and
the public offering price was $24.05 per share. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of this common stock
by the Selling Stockholders.
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Other Comprehensive Income §Loss) — The components of accumulated other comprehensive income {loss),

net of related taxes, are as follows for the

years ended:

2007 2006
Accumulated net unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-salebonds . ............. £(806) $292
Accumulated net unrealized holding gpins on derivatives . ................ . ... . 76 23
Cumulative foreign currency translatign adjustment. . ... ... ... ... i i i 1 =
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . .......... ... .. ..., $(723) 8315

21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table reconciles the n
ended:

Weighted average number of shares:
Common shares — basic .........}.

umber of shares utilized in the earnings per share calculations for the years

2007 2006 2005

........................ 65,744,077 65,221,339 64,668,973

Effect of incremental dilutive segurities;
Stock options and employee ptock purchase plan shares . . . . 1,531,454 1,422,517 1,599,401

Common shares — diluted. .. ... .. |.

........................ 67,275,531 66,643,856 66,268,374

Options outstanding considered anti-dijutive. . ................... 1,048,000 6,000 1,444,186

22. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The following table sets forth nonl-cash financing and investing activities and other cash flow information for

the years ended:

2007 2006 2005
Non-cash financing and investing activilies:
Accrued property and equipment additigns (1).......................... £48,534  $19,852 3 8,498
Capital lease obligations .. ..........L. .. ... ... . L 201 5,649 —
Contributionof land. . ........ ... ... . i 19,000 — —

QOther cash flow information:

Interestpaid ...................
Capitalized interest .............

.............................. $30273  $19017  $14,968
.............................. (4,069) (355) (371)

Interest paid, net of capitalized interept . . . ................cocvi ot $26,204  $18.,662 $14,597

Income taxes,net . ..............

.............................. $33,575 841,012 $38,354

(1) Accrued property and equipment afditions are recognized in the consolidated statements of cash flows in the

period they are paid.

23. SEGMENT REPORTING

We have three reportable segments

Retail, Direct, and Financial Services. The Retail segment sells products

and services through our retail stores; the [Direct segment sells products through direct mail catalogs and e-commerce
websites (Cabelas.com and complementaly websites); and the Financial Services segment issues co-branded credit
cards. For the Retail segment, operating costs primarily consist of labor, advertising, depreciation, and occupancy

costs of retail stores. For the Direct se
advertising costs, and order processing c¢
of advertising and promotion, marketing

and other general and administrative costs

oment, operating costs primarily consist of catalog costs, e-commerce
\sts. For the Financial Services segment, operating costs primarily consist
fees, third party services for processing credit card transactions, salaries,

B,
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Revenues inctuded in Corporate Overhead and Other are primarily made up of land sales. Corporate Overhead
and Other expenses include unallocated shared-service costs, operations of various ancillary subsidiaries such as real
estate development and travel, and eliminations. Unallocated shared-service costs include receiving, distribution, and
storage costs of inventory, merchandising, and quality assurance costs, as well as corporate headquarters occupancy
costs.

Segment assets are those directly used in or clearly allocable to an operating segment’s operations. For the
Retail segment, assets primarily include inventory in the retail stores, land, buildings, fixtures, and leasehold
improvements, For the Direct segment, assets primarily include deferred catalog costs and fixed assets. Included in
the assets of the Direct and Retail segments is goodwill of $4,474 that has been allocated $969 to the Direct segment
and $3,505 to the Retail segment as of December 29, 2007. For the Financial Services segment, assets primarily
include cash, credit card loans, retained interest, buildings, and fixtures. Corporate and other assets include corporate
headquarters, merchandise distribution inventory, shared technology infrastructure, as well as corporate cash and
cash equivalents, economic development bonds, prepaid expenses, and other assets. Depreciation, amortization, and
property and equipment expenditures of each segment are allocated to each respective segment. Unallocated assets
include corporate cash and cash equivalents, merchandise distribution inventory for the Retail or Direct segments,
the net book value of corporate facilities and related information systems, deferred income taxes, and other corporate
long-lived assets. The accounting policies of the segments, where applicable, are the same as those described in the
summary of significant accounting policies in our notes to consolidated financial statements. [ntercompany revenue
between segments has been eliminated in consolidation.

Resulis by business segment are presented in the following tables for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Corporate
Financial Overhead
Fiscal Year 2007 Retail Direct Services and Other Total
Revenue fromexternal ................ $1,040,664 $1,127942 $159,943 § 21,050 $2,349,599
Revenue (loss) from internal . ........... 2,778 2,611 (608) (4,781) —
Totalrevenue .. .. ......coivin. .. $1,043,442 $1,130,553 $159,335 §$ 16,269 $2,349,599
Operating income (loss). .. ............. $ 127,744 § 190,046 § 37448 $(204,146) $ 151,092
As a percentage of revenue ........ .. 12.2% 16.8% 23.5% N/A 6.4%
Depreciation and amortization .......... $ 29830 § 4462 § 1,129 $ 24442 § 59,863
ASSBLS. . e 1,065,234 480,341 450,616 216,639 2,212,830
Property and equipment additions
including accrued amounts . ......... 324,272 8,466 1,037 30,551 364,326
Corporate
Financial Overhead
Fiscal Year 2006 Retail Direct Services and Other Total
Revenue fromexternal ................ $R17,836  $1,086,162 §$138,164 § 21,362 $2,063,524
Revenue (loss) from internal . ........... 2,485 2318 (741) (4,062) —
Totalrevenue . .................... $820,321 $1,088.480 $137423 $ 17300 $£2,063,524
Operating income (loss). . .............. $124,122 % 179,i82 $ 30,061  $(189,620) § 143,745
As a percentage of revenue .......... 15.1% 16.5% 21.9% N/A 7.0%
Depreciation and amortization .. ........ $ 19,050 S 4371 % 941 $ 21,197 $ 45,559
ASSELS, . e 602,513 496,963 316,417 335337 1,751,230
Property and equipment additions
including accrued amounts .......... 161,585 5,680 1,735 21,592 190,592
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Corporate
Financial Overhead
Fiscal Year 2005 Retail Direct Services and Other Total
Revenue fromexternal ...........{...... $618,044 $1,042.219 3106439 § 32,959 $1,799,661
Revenue (loss) from internal ., .. ... ). ..... 2,061 1,948 {608) (3,401) —
Totalrevenue . ............... 0. .. ... $620,105 $1,044,167 $105831 § 29,558 §1,799,661
Operating income (loss). . .........  ...... $ 85895 § 171,908 § 23,060 $(165900) $ 114,963
As a percentage of revenue ......|...... 13.9% 16.5% 21.8% N/A 6.4%
Depreciation and amortization ......|...... $ 12916 § 5308 § 1,089 § 15599 § 34912
Assets. . ... ... .. e 460,776 405,303 262,799 237,402 1,366,280
Property and equipment additions
including accrued amounts .. ... .} ... .. 163,123 5,853 603 33,578 203,157

The components and amounts of
the years ended:

Interest and fee income, net of provisio
Interest expense
Net interest income, net of provig
Non-interest income:

Securitization income

Other non-interest income . ., . , |

Total non-interest income . . .

Less: Customer rewards costs. . .
Financial Services total revenue

Our products are principally mark
geographic markets, primarily Canada,
each reported period. No single customd
service accounts for a significant percen

tage of our consclidated revenue.
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otal revenue for the Financial Services business segment were as follows for

2007 2006 2005

S 280974 § 23973 $ 17,196
(7,288)  (5,008)  (3,241)
20,686 18,965 13,955
194,516 169,173 133,032
51,670 39381 31836
246,186 208,554 164,868
(108,537)  (90,096)  (72,992)

$ 159335 $137.423 $105,831

eted to individuals within the United States, Net sales realized from other
have collectively been less than 2% of consolidated net merchandise sales in
r accounted for 10% or more of consolidated net sales. No single product or
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24. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION {Unaudited)

The following table sets forth unaudited financial and operating data in each quarter for the years ended 2007
and 2006:

2007 2006

First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Totalrevenue. . ................. $462,091 $451,199 $346,809 3889500 $404,805 $387,263 $490,453 3781,003
Operating income. . ............. 12,391 20,252 24346 94,103 14,203 14,545 26,851 88,146
Netincome .................... 7,142 11,264 13232 56,24) 9,083 8,356 14994 53352
Earnings per share — Basic (1) . ... 0.11 0.17 0.20 0.85 0.14 0.13 0.23 0.82
Earnings per share — Diluted (1). . . 0.11 0.17 0.20 0.84 0.14 0.13 0.23 0.80

(1) Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented.

Revenue is typically higher in our third and fourth quarters than in the first and second quarters due to holiday
buying patterns and hunting and fishing season openings across the United States. Qur quarterly operating results
may fluctuate significantly as a result of these events and a variety of other factors, and operating resuits for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year.

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 18, 2008, the Cabela’s Credit Card Master Note Trust completed the sale of $500,000 in asset-backed
notes, Series 2008-1. The securitization transaction included the issuance of six classes of notes with an expected life
of approximately three years (a legal maturity of approximately six years). This securitization refinanced an existing
$300,000 securitization that matured January 2008, with the remaining amount to fund continued growth of the
bank’s credit card portfolio. These notes are obligations of the aforementioned trust, and are not in the consolidated
balance sheet of the Company.

On January 16, 2008, we issued $57,000 of 7.20% unsecured notes to institutional buyers. The notes have a final
maturity of 10 vears and an average life of seven years. We intend to use the proceeds to pay down existing debt and
for general corporate purposes.
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

VA

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 29,
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Allowance for credit card recei

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 30,
Allowance for doubtful accou

SCHEDULE 11

Allowance for credit card recei

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, E005:

Allowance for doubtful accou
Allowance for credit card recei

CHANGES IN AND
FINANCIAL DISCI]

ITEM 9.

None.

ITEM %A. CONTROLS AND

We maintain disclosure cont
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act™)) des
Exchange Act is recorded, proces

be disclosed by us in the reports

| LUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
{In Thousands)
Beginning  Charged to Charged Net End
of Year Costs and to Other Charge- of Year
Balance Expenses Accounts Offs Balance

1007

1S . e $1,932 £ 8D §F — $(81) %1851

pable loan losses. . ... .. 699 1,748 (1,250) 498 1,197

P006:

IS . 1,404 527 1 528 1,932
able loan losses. . ... .. 536 664 (501) 163 699
S 1,483 (79) — (79) 1,404

vable loan losses. ... ... 65 720 (249) 471 536

DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
OSURE

ROCEDURES

ols and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
gned to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed under the
ed, summarized, and reported within specified time periods. Disclosure controls

at we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated

and procedures include, without lj::nitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to

to management, including our C
functions, as appropriate to allow

In connection with this anny
evaluated, with the participation ¢
of the end of the period covered b
Chief Financial Officer each cong
29, 2007.

Management’s Report on Interi]

ief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, or persons performing similar
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

al report on Form 10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
f our management, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as

v this report. Based on management’s evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and

tuded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December

al Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting for the Company. Inter
regarding the reliability of our fi

generally accepted in the United $

With the participation of ou
the effectiveness of our internal
established in Internal Control —
the Treadway Commission. Based
reporting was effective as of Dec

nal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance
nancial reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles

tates of America.

I Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, management evaluated
control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2007, based on the criteria
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Crganizations of

on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial
mber 29, 2007,
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The independent registered public accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP, as auditors of our consolidated
financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Their report is
included in this Item 9A.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal contrel over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended
December 29, 2007, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REG

To the Board of Directors and Stockhol
Cabela’s Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Sidney, Nebraska

We have audited the internal control
“Company”) as of December 29, 2007,
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

ISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ders of

over financial reporting of Cabela’s Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the

based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework

Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management

is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinien on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based op our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal ¢ontrol over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedures ds we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over fin

company’s principal executive and princ
by the company’s board of directors, m
the reliability of financial reporting and
with generally accepted accounting prin
policies and procedures that (1} pertaix
fairly reflect the transactions and dispo
transactions are recorded as necessary |
accepted accounting principles, and that
with authorizations of management and
prevention or timely detection of unauthg
a material effect on the financial statemg

Because of the inherent limitations of ind
or improper management override of ¢co

or detected on a timely basis. Also, pro

financia! reporiing to future periods ar
changes in conditions, or that the degree

ncial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the

pal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected

anagement, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the preparation of financial statements for externat purposes in accordance
ciples. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
sitions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable assurance that
o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
rized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
nts.

ernal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
ntrols, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented
ections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over
> subject 1o the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained

, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 29, 2007, based on the criteria established in fnternal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations|of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance

ith the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

{United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended
December 29, 2007 of the Company and our report dated February 26, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on

those consolidated financial statements a

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
February 26, 2008

d financial statement schedule.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOYERNANCE

The information under the headings “Proposal One — Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers of the
Company,” “Corporate Governance — Committees of the Board of Directors — Audit Committee,” and “Section
16 (a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2008 Annual Meeting
of Sharcholders (our “Proxy Statement™) is incorporated herein by reference. With the exception of the foregoing
information and other information specifically incorporated by reference into this Report on Form 10-K, our Proxy
Statement is not being filed as a part hereof. ’

The policies comprising our code of ethics are set forth in our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics. These
policies satisfy the SEC’s requirements for a “code of ethics,” and apply to all of our directors, officers, and
employees. Our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at www.cabelas.com. We intend to
satisfy the disclosure requirements under ftem 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding certain amendments to, or waivers from,
the provisions of our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our website at the address
specified above. Information contained on our website, whether currently posted or posted in the future, is not part
of this document or the documents incorporated by reference in this document,

On June 12, 2007, we filed with the NYSE the Annual CEO Certification regarding the company’s compliance
with the NYSE’s Corporate Governance listing standards as required by Section 303A.12(a) of the NYSE Listed
Company Manual.

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information under the headings “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in our Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the headings “Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plan Information as of
Fiscal Year-End” and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management™ in our Proxy Statement
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information under the headings “Transactions with Related Persons™ and “Corporate Governance — Board
of Directors” in our Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information under the heading “Proposal Three — Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm” in our Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(@) The following documents ate filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements:

. Report of Independent Registered Public Accountiﬁg Firm

. Consolidated Statements of Income —Years ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006 and
December 31, 2005

. Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 29, 2007 and December 30, 2006

. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended December 29, 2007, December 30, 2006
and December 31, 2005

. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity — Years ended December 29, 2007, December
30, 2006 and Decembdr 31, 2005

. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedules: .
. Schedule 11— ValuatioL and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC
are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.

3. Exhibits: See Item 15(b) belgw.
(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

31 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cabela’s Incorporated (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 3.1 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2004, File
No. 001-32227)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cabela’s
Incorporated (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
on May 15, 2006, File No. 001-32227)

33 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cabela’s Incorporated (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3
of our Current Report pn Form 8-K, filed on August 30, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 23, 2003, among Cabela’s Incorporated and
the security holders named therein (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 of our Registration
Statement on Form 8-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

43 Form of 7.2% Senior Note, Series 2008-A, due January 16, 2018 {(incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.1 of our Curgent Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 22, 2008, File No. 001-32227)

4.4 Form of 6.08% Senior Note, Series 2007-A, due June 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.2 of our Curgent Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

4.5 Form of 5.99% Sentor Note, Series 2006-A, due February 27, 2016 (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.7 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

4.6 Form of 4.95% Senior Note due September 2009 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.8 of our

Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)
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47

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

Form of 9.19% Senior Note, Series C, due January 2010 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
4.9 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Note Purchase Agreements dated as of February 27, 2006, among Cabela’s Incorporated and
various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 of our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on March 3, 2006, File No. 001-32227)

First Supplement to Note Purchase Agreements dated as of February 27, 2006, among Cabela’s
Incorporated and various purchasers party thereto {(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of
our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Second Supplement to Note Purchase Agreements dated as February 27, 2006, among Cabela’s
Incorporated and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 of
our Current Report on Form 8-K, fited on January 22, 2008, File No. 001-32227)

Amendment No. 1 to Note Purchase Agreements dated as of February 27, 2006, among Cabela’s
Incorporated and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 of
our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Note Purchase Agreemenis dated as of September 5, 2002, among Cabela’s Incorporated and
various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 of our Registration
Statement on Form 8-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

First Amendment Agreement to Note Purchase Agreements dated as of September 5, 2002, among
Cabela’s Incorporated and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10 of our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q, filed on November 4, 2005, File No. 001-32227)

Second Amendment Agreement to Note Purchase Agreements dated as of September 3, 2002,
among Cabela’s Incorporated and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.3 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 3, 2006, File No. 001-32227)

Third Amendment Agreement to Note Purchase Agreements dated as of September 5, 2002, among
Cabela’s Incorporated and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
4.5 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated and various purchasers
party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.8 of our Registration Statement on Form
§-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

Amendment No. 1 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.9 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

Amendment No. 2 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated and
various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.10 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

Amendment No. 3 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit4.11 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

Amendment No. 4 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated and
various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.12 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

Amendment No. 5 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated and
various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.13 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)
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422

423

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10,7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Amendment No. 6 to
and various purchasg
Report on Form 8-K|

Amendment No. 7 to
and various purchase
Report on Form 8-K,

Executive Employmg
and Richard N. Cabel
on Form 8-1, filed on

Addendum to Exequ

Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated
rs party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 of our Current
filed on March 3, 2006, File No. 001-32227)

Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela’s Incorporated
rs party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6 of our Current
filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

nt Agreement dated as of January 4, 2004, between Cabela’s Incorporated
a (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of our Registration Statement
March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

ive Employment Agreement dated as of January 4, 2004, between Cabela’s

Incorporated and Richard N. Cabela {incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of our Quarterly

Report of Form 10-Q

Executive Employme
and James W, Cabela
on Form S-1, filed on

Addendum to Execut
Incorporated and Jami
Report of Form 10-Q

Employee Lease Agr
Mudhead Enterprises
on Form 10-Q), filed a

filed on May 12, 2005, File No. 001-32227)*

nt Agreement dated as of January 4, 2004, between Cabela’s [ncorporated
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of our Registration Statement
March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

ve Employment Agreement dated as of January 4, 2004, between Cabela’s
es W. Cabela (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of our Quarterly
filed on May 12, 20085, File No. 001-32227)*

eement dated as of January 1, 2005, between Cabela’s Incorporated and
LLC {incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 of our Quarterly Report
n May 12, 2005, File No. 001-32227)

1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 of our Registration Statement

on Form S-1, filed on

March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

First Amendment to %97 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

Second Amendment tp 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 of

our Registration State

Third Amendment to

ment on Form 5-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*
1997 Stock Option Plan {incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 of our

Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

Fourth Amendment td 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9.1 of

our Registration State

Fifth Amendment to

ment on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 of our

Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q, tiled on August 6, 2007, File No. 001-32227)*

Form of 1997 Employde Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 of

our Registration State

Form of Employee St

ent on Form S-1, fited on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-1138335)*

ck Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 of

our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-1138335)*

2004 Stock Plan (as amended and restated effective May 15, 2007) (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 21, 2007, File No. 001-32227)*

Form of 2004 Stock Rlan Employee Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.13 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration
No. 333-113835)*

Form of 2004 Stock Plan Employee Stock Option Agreement (2006) (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 15, 2006, File No. 001-32227)*
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10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31
10.32

Form of 2004 Stock Plan Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement (2006) (incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 15, 2006, File
No. 001-32227)*

2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 15, 2005, among Cabela’s
[ncorporated, various lenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Administrative
Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
July 15, 2005, File No. 001-32227)

Joinder Agreement made by Cabela’s Retail IL, Inc., to Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of July 15, 2005, among Cabela’s Incorporated, various lenders party thereto,
and U.S. Bank National Association, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 15, 2005,
among Cabela’s Incorporated, various lenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association,
as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 of our Quarterly Report of
Form 10-Q, filed on November 5, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Fourth Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement dated as of June 15, 2007, among Cabela’s
Incorporated, various noteholders party thereto, various tenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank
National Association, as Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1.1 of our
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 20, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Promissory Note dated Qctober 22, 2007, among Cabela’s Incorporated and U.S. Bank National
Association (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
on October 26, 2007, File No, 001-32227)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

Form of Management Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.19 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration
No. 333-113835)*

Amended and Restated Management Change of Control Severance Agreement dated May 9, 2006,
between Cabela’s Incorporated and Joseph M. Friebe {incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3
of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 15, 2006, File No. 001-32227)*

Restated Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.20 of our Registration Statement
on Form S-1, filed on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

Cabela’s Incorporated Third Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form §-K, filed on March 1, 2005, File
No. 001-32227)*

First Amendmentofthe Cabela’s Incorporated Third Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation
Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
March 1, 2005, File No. 001-32227)*

Second Amendment of the Cabela’s Incorporated Third Amended and Restated Deferred
Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.28 of our Annual Report on Form
10-K, filed on February 28, 2007, File No. 001-32227)*

Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation®

Summary of Named Executive Officer Compensation*
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10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

18

21.1
231
24.1

Form of Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement (executed by Dennis Highby, Patrick A.
Snyder, Michael Callahan, Brian J. Linneman, and Charles Baldwin) {incorporated by reference

from Exhibit 10.3 of our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q, filed on May 12, 2005, File No.
001-32227)*

Form of Confidentiality and Noncompetition Agreement — World’s Foremost Bank (executed by
David A. Roehr and Ralph Castner effective April 14, 2005) (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.4 of our Qyarterly Report of Form 10-Q, filed on May 12, 2005, File No. 001-32227)*

Retirement and General Release Agreement dated January 30, 20086, between Cabela’s Incorporated
and David A. Roehr (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 of our Current Report of Form
8-K/A, filed on February 1, 2006, File No. 001-32227)*

Amended and Restatef Lease Agreement with Option to Purchase dated April 26, 2005, between
Ohio County Development Authority and Cabela’s Wholesale, Inc. (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.29 of our Annual Report of Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2006, File No. 001-32227)

Performance Bonus Pjan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10 of our Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed February 19, 2007, File No. 001-32227)*

Letter re Change in Accounting Principle (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 18 of our
Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q, filed on May 4, 2007, File No. 001-32227)

Subsidiaries of Cabelals Incorporated
Consent of Deloitte & [Touche LLP

Powers of Attorney

*®

(©

Indicates management contract or ¢ompensatory plan or arrangement required (o be filed as exhibits pursuant

to Item 15(b) of this report.

Financial Statement Schedules. See|ltem 15(a) above.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has

SIGNATURES

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: February 26, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the

CABELA’S INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Dennis Highby

Dennis Highby

President and Chief Executive Officer

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Dennis Highby President, Chief Executive Officer, and February 26, 2008
Dennis Highby Director {Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Ralph W, Castner Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 26, 2008

Ralph W. Castner

*

Richard N. Cabela

">

James W. Cabela

*

Theodore M. Armstrong

*

John H. Edmondson

*

John Gottschalk

L3

Reuben Mark

*

Michael R. McCarthy

*

Stephen P. Murray

* By:/s/ Ralph W. Castner
Ralph W. Castner
Attorney-in-fact
February 26, 2008

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board and Director
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Director

Director
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I, Dennis Highby, certify that:
1.
2.

Date: February 26, 2008

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

1 have reviewed this annualireport on Form 10-K of Cabela’s Incorporated;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the
fairly present in all material
registrant as of, and for, the

The registrant’s other certify

financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the

periods presented in this report;

ing officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}) for the registrant and

have:

a.  Designed such disc]osxf

re controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  Designed such internal

control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to he designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in adcordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusipns about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of

the end of the period cg

d.  Disclosed in this report
occurred during the reg
in the case of an annual

vered by this report based on such evaluation; and

any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
istrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certify

ing officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the

registrant’s board of directors:

a.  Allsignificant deficieng
over financial reporting
record, process, summa

ies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
rize and report financial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or ot material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the re

gistrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

{s/ Dennis Highby
Dennis Highby

President and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION
I, Ralph W. Castner, certify that:

1. I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cabela’s Incorporated,;

Exhibit 31.2

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and

have:

a.  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staterments for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢.  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the

registrant’s board of directors:

a.  Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to

record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. - Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal contro! over financial reporting,.

Date: February 26, 2008

/s/ Ralph W. Castner
Ralph W. Castner

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATIONS

PURSUANT TO 18 U.5.C. SECTION 1350

Exhibit 32.1

In connection with the Annual Report of Cabela’s Incorporated (the “registrant”) on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 29, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “report™),
each of the undersigned certifies, purspant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and

results of operations of the gegistrant.

Dated: February 26, 2008
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fs/ Dennis Highby
Dennis Highby

President and Chief Executive Officer

fsf Ralph W, Castner
Ralph W. Castner

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Dear Fellow Shareholder:

You are cordially invited to

March 31, 2008

attend our Annual Meeting of Shareholders on Tuesday, May 13, 2008, at

10:00 a.m. Mountain Time at the Holiday Inn, 664 Chase Boulevard, Sidney, Nebraska 69162.

Details of the business to be
of Annual Meeting of Shareholder
the past year and answer your ques

Beginning this year, we are
rule that allows us to furnish prg
we mailed a Notice of Internet Ay

conducted at the Annual Meeting are set forth in the accompanying Notice
s and Proxy Statement. At the meeting, we also will discuss our results for
tions.

leased to take advantage of the new Securities and Exchange Commission
xy materials to our shareholders over the Internet. On March 31, 2008,
ailability of Proxy Materials to our shareholders of record and beneficial

owners as of March 17, 2008, which contains instructions for our sharcholders’ use of this new process,

including how to access our Proxy
of mailing of the notice, all shareh
materials on a website referred to

The Notice of Internet Availa
copies of the proxy materials to be

Whether or not you plan to
presented. You may vote your pro
you may also vote by telephone or
provided. If you decide to attend 1
previously submitted your proxy.

Thank you for your continue

SEC Mail Processing
Section

APR 02 2008

yvashington, DC
110

Statement and Annuai Report and how to vote on the Internet. On the date
olders and beneficial owners will have the ability to access all of the proxy
n the notice. These proxy materials will be available free of charge.

bility of Proxy Materials also contains instructions to allow you to request '
sent to you by mail.

attend the Annual Meeting, we encourage you to vote on the matters
xy via the Internet. If you request a printed copy of your proxy materials,
by mail by signing, dating, and returning your proxy card in the envelope
he Annual Meeting, you will be able to vote in person, even if you have

d support and interest in Cabela’s.

Sincerely,

s
Dennis Highby
President and Chief Executive Officer




CABELA’S INCORPORATED
ONE CABELA DRIVE
SIDNEY, NEBRASKA 69160

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD MAY 13, 2008

The 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Cabela’s Incorporated (the
“Company”) will be held at the Holiday Inn, 664 Chase Boulevard, Sidney, Nebraska 69162, on Tuesday,
May 13, 2008, beginning at 10:00 a.m. Mountain Time. The purposes of the Annual Meeting are to:

1. Elect nine directors;
2. Approve the Comparny’s Performance Bonus Plan;

3. Ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for fiscal 2008; and

4. Transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock entitles the holder of record at the close of
business on March 17, 2008, to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting. Shares of the Company’s
common stock can be voted at the Annual Meeting in person or by valid proxy.

A list of all shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for examination at the
Company’s principal offices located at One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160 for ten days before the
Annual Meeting between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Mountain Time, and at the piace of the Annual Meeting
during the Annual Meeting.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we encourage you to vote your shares
by proxy. This will ensure the presence of a quorum at the Annual Meeting. A website address with
instructions on how to vote your proxy via the Internet is included on your Noetice of Internet Availability
of Proxy Materials. If you request a printed copy of your proxy materials, you may also vote by telephone
or by mail by signing, dating, and returning your proxy card in the envelope provided. Voting now will
not limit your right to change your vote or to attend the Annual Meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors,

/%9%/%
Brent LaSure

Secretary

March 31, 2008
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CABELA’S INCORPORATED
ONE CABELA DRIVE
SIDNEY, NEBRASKA 69160

PROXY STATEMENT FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD MAY 13, 2008

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors
of the Company {the “Board”) from the holders of shares of common stock of Cabela’s Incorporated to be
voted at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Tuesday, May 13, 2008, at 16:00 a.m. Mountain
Time, at the Holiday Inn, 664 Chase Boulevard, Sidney, Nebraska 69162 {(the “Annual Meeting”).

Under rules and reguiations that the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™) recently adopted,
instead of mailing a printed copy of our proxy materials to each shareholder of record or beneficial owner of
our common stock, we are now furnishing proxy materials, which include our Proxy Statement and Annual
Report, to our shareholders over the Internet and providing a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials
{“Notice of Internet Availability”) by mail. You will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials unless
you request to receive these materials in hard copy by following the instructions provided in the Notice of
Internet Availability. Instead, the Notice of [nternet Availability will instruct you how you may access and
review all of the important information contained in the proxy materials. The Notice of Internet Availability
also instructs you how you may submit your proxy via the Internet. If you received a Notice of Internet
Availability by mail and would like to receive a printed copy of our proxy materials, you should follow the
instructions for requesting such materials included in the Notice of Internet Availability.

The Notice of Internet Availability was first mailed to shareholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting
on or about March 31, 2008,

» i 3t i

The terms “we,” “our,” “us,” “Cabela’s,” or the “Company” refer to Cabela’s Incorporated and its
subsidiaries.

VOTING INFORMATION

What is the purpose of the Annual Meeting?

At the Annual Meeting, shareholders will act on the matters outlined in the accompanying Notice of
Annual Meeting of Shareholders. In addition, management will report on the performance of Cabela’s during
fiscal 2007 and respond to questions from shareholders.

Who may vote?

You may vote at the Annual Meeting if you owned shares of our common stock at the close of business
on March 17, 2008 (the “Record Date™). You are entitled to one vote on each matter presented at the Annual
Meeting for each share of common stock you owned on the Record Date. As of the Record Date, there were
66,011,696 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding.

Who counts the votes?

Votes at the Annual Meeting will be tabulated by a representative of Wells Fargo Shareowner Services,
who will serve as the Inspector of Elections, and the results of all items voted upon will be announced at the
Annual Meeting.




Who can attend the Annual Meeting?

All shareholders as of the close of business on the Record Date, or their duly appointed proxies, may
attend the Annual Meeting, and cach may be accompanied by one guest. Registration and seating will begin
at 9:30 a.m. Mountain Time. Cameras, recording devices, and other electronic devices will not be permitted
at the Annual Meeting,

Please note that if you hold your shares in “street name” (that is, through a broker or other nominee) you
will need to bring a copy of a brokerage statement reflecting your stock ownership as of the Record Date and
check in at the registration desk at the Annual Meeting.

What constitutes a quorum?

The presence at the meeting, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the shares of common
stock outstanding on the Record Date will constitute a quorum, permitting Cabela’s to conduct its business
at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted for the purpose of determining
whether a quorum is present. A “*broker non-vote” occurs if you do not provide the record holder of your shares
with voting instructions on a matter and the holder is not permitted to vote on the matter without instructions
from you.

‘What vote is required to approve each item?

The election of directors requires a phurality of the voles cast. The affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required
for approval of the proposals to adopt our Performance Bonus Plan and to ratify the appointment of the
independent registered public accounting firm,

Abstentions are not relevant to the election of directors and will have the effect of a vote against any
other proposal. A broker non-vote will not be considered entitled to vote on matters as to which the brokers
withhold authority; therefore, broker non-votes are not included in the tabulation of voting results, Broker non-
votes are not relevant to any of the three proposals contained in this Proxy Statement.

If you participate in the Company’s 401(k) Savings Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) and have contributions
invested in the Company’s common stock as of the Record Date, you will receive a Notice of Internet
Availability prior to the Annual Meeting. This notice will contain instructions on how, via the Internet, you
can direct the trustee of the 401(k) Plan to vote your shares of common stock held in the 401(k) Plan. If you
request a printed copy of your proxy materials, you may also vote your shares of common stock held in
the 401(k) Plan by telephone or by mail by signing, dating, and returning your proxy card in the envelope
provided. If your proxy is not received by our transfer agent by May 8, 2008, your shares of common stock
held in the 401(k) Plan will not be voted and will not be counted as present at the meeting,

How do I vote?
You can vote on a matter to come before the Annual Meeting in two ways:
. You can attend the Annual Meeting and cast your vote in person; or

. You can vote by proxy.

Written ballots will be available at the Annual Meeting if you wish to vote at the Annual Meeting.
However, if your shares are held in the name of your broker, bank, or other nominee, and you want to vote in
person, you will need to obtain a legal proxy from the institution that holds your shares indicating that you
were the beneficial owner of the shares on the Record Date.

If you vote by proxy, we will vote your shares according to your instructions, or if you provide no
instructions, according to the recommendation of the Board.




If you choose to vote by proxy, you may do so using the Internet, or, if you request a printed copy of your
proxy materials, by telephone or by mail. Each of these procedures is more fully explained below. Even if you
plan to attend the Annual Meeting, the Board recommends that you vote by proxy.

Via the Internet — Shareholders can simplify their voting by voting their shares via the Internet as
instructed in the Notice of Internet Availability. Internet voting facilities for shareholders of record are
available 24 hours a day and will close at 12:00 p.m. (CDT) on May 12, 2008. If you vote via the Internet, you
may incur costs such as telephone and Internet access fees for which you will be responsible. If you received a
proxy card in the mail but choose to vote via the Internet, you do not need to return your proxy card.

By Telephone — The Notice of Internet Availability includes a toll-free number you can call to request
printed copies of your proxy materials. The printed proxy materials include a different toll-free number you
can call for voting. Telephone voting facilities for shareholders of record are available 24 hours a day and will
close at 12:00 p.m. (CDT) on May 12, 2008. [f you received a proxy card in the mail but choose to vote by
telephone, you do not need to return your proxy card.

By Mail — Shareholders who receive a proxy card may clect to vote by mail and should complete, sign,
and date their proxy card and mail it in the pre-addressed envelope that accompanies the delivery of a proxy
card. Proxy cards submitted by mail must be received by the time of the Annual Meeting in order for your
shares to be voted.

Can I revoke my proxy?

Yes, you can revoke your proxy if your shares are held in your name by:

. Filing a written notice of revocation with our Secretary before the Annual Meeting;
. Providing subsequent Internet or telephone instructions;

. Delivering a valid proxy card bearing a later date; or

. Voting in person at the Annual Meeting.

Wheo will bear the cost of this proxy solicitation?

We will bear the cost of solicitation of proxies. This includes the charges and expenses of preparing,
assembling, and mailing the Notice of Internet Availability, Proxy Statement, and other soliciting materials
and the charges and expenses of brokerage firms and others for forwarding solicitation materials to
beneficial owners of our outstanding common stock. Proxics will be solicited by mail, and may be solicited
personally by directors, officers, or our employees, who will not receive any additional compensation for any
such services.

PROPOSAL ONE -~
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All of our directors are subject to annual election. All of the nominees currently are directors of the
Company. There is no cumulative voting, and the nine nominees receiving the most votes will be elected by
a plurality.

Gerald E. Matzke, who served as a director of the Company from 1996 to May 2005, has been
re-appointed by the Board as an emeritus director of the Company to serve until the next annual meeting of
shareholders. As an emeritus director, the Board has provided Mr. Matzke a standing invitation to all Board
and committee meetings. Mr, Matzke does not have any voting rights in his position as an emeritus director.

Unless authority is withheld, proxies will be voted for the nominees listed and, in the event any nominee
is unable to serve as a director, will be voted for any substitute nominee proposed by the Board. Information
concerning each director nominee is set forth below.




Theodore M. Armstrong, 68, has been a director since December 2004. Mr. Armstrong served as Senior
Vice President-Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer of Angelica Corporation from 1986
to his retirement in February 2004, and as a consultant to Angelica thereafter. Angelica Corporation is a
leading provider of textile rental and linen management services to the U.S. healthcare market. Mr. Armstrong
also serves as a member of the board of directors, and as Chairman of the audit committce, of UMB
Financial Corporation.

Richard N. Cabela, 71, founded our Company in 1961 and has served on our Board since our incorporation
in 1965. Since our founding, Mr. R. Cabela has been employed by us in an executive position and has served
as our Chairman since our incorporation.

James W. Cabela, 68, is our co-founder and has served on our Board since our 1965 incorporation.
Since our incorporation, Mr. J. Cabela has been employed by us in various capacitics, and was our President
until July 2003. Mr. J. Cabela has been Vice Chairman since the creation of that executive position in 1996,
Mr. ). Cabela is the brother of Mr. R. Cabela.

John H. Edmondson, 64, has been a director since October 2007. Mr. Edmondson served as Chief
Executive Officer and a director of West Marine, Inc., the country’s largest specialty retailer of boating
supplies and accessories, from December 1998 until his retirement in January 2005. Mr. Edmondson also
serves on the boards of The Vitamin Shoppe and the U.S. Coast Guard Foundation.

John Gottschalk, 64, has been a director since July 2004. Mr. Gottschalk has served as Chairman of the
Omaha World-Herald Company since 1989 and as a member of its board of directors since 1980. Mr. Gottschalk
served as Chief Executive Officer of the Omaha World-Herald Company from 1989 to December 2007.
The Omaha World-Herald Company publishes the Omaha World-Herald newspaper and, through its
subsidiaries, owns and operates other newspapers, engages in direct marketing, and holds interests in other
diversified businesses. Mr. Gottschalk also serves as a director of McCarthy Group, Pacific Mutual Holding
Company, and Pacific LifeCorp.

Dennis Highby, 59, has been our President and Chief Executive Officer and a director since July 2003,
Mr. Highby has been employed by us since 1976 and held various management positions, including Merchandise
Manager, Director of Merchandising, and Vice President. He held the position of Vice President from 1996
to July 2003,

Reuben Mark, 69, has been a director since July 2004. Mr. Mark has served as Chairman of the Board
of Colgate-Palmolive Company since 1986. Mr. Mark served as Chief Executive Officer of Colgate-Palmolive
from 1984 to July 2007. Mr. Mark joined Colgate-Palmolive in 1963 and held a series of senior management
positions in the United States and overseas before being appointed Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Mark also
serves as a director of Time Warner Inc.

Michael R. McCarthy, 56, has been a director since 1996. Mr. McCarthy has served as a director and
Chairman of McCarthy Group since 1986. McCarthy Group is a private equity firm. Mr. McCarthy also
serves as a director of several other companies, inclading Peter Kiewit Sons’, Inc., Election Systems and
Software, Guild Mortgage Company, HDR, Inc., and Streck, Inc.

Stephen P. Murray, 45, has been a director since December 2005, Mr, Murray is President and Chief
Executive Officer of CCMP Capital Advisors, LLC, a private equity firm formed in August 2006 by the
former buyout/growth equity investment team of JPMorgan Partners. Prior to joining JPMorgan Partners in
1989, Mr. Murray served as a Vice President with the Middle-Market Lending Division of Manufacturers
Hanover. Mr. Murray also serves as a director of several other companies, including AMC Entertainment Inc.,
Aramark Corporation, Caremore Medical Enterprises, Generac Power Systems, Jetro Holdings, Quiznos Sub,
Strongwood Insurance, Noble Environment Power, and Warner Chilcott Limited.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT SHAREHOLDERS VOTE “FOR” ALL
OF THE NOMINEES.,
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Emeritus Director

Gerald E. Matzke, 77, has been a non-voting emeritus director since May 2005. Mr. Matzke was a
director from 1996 to May 2005. Mr. Matzke was our Secretary from July 2003 to February 2005 and was our
Assistant Secretary prior to that time. Mr. Matzke has been a partnter with the faw firm of Matzke, Mattoon &
Miller since 1956. He served as a state senator in the Nebraska legislature from 1993 to 2000.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has developed corporate governance practices to help it fulfill its responsibility to shareholders
to oversee the work of management in the conduct of the Company’s business and to seek to serve the long-
term interests of shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices are memorialized in our
Corporate Governance Guidelines {our “Governance Guidelines™} and the charters of the three committees
of the Board. The Governance Guidelines and committee charters are reviewed periodically and updated as
necessary to reflect changes in regulatory requirements and evolving oversight practices. These documents
arc available on our website at www.cabelas.com and upon request by writing to our Secretary, Cabela’s, One
Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160.

Board of Directors

Our Board currently consists of nine members. Six of our directors are independent under the
requirements set forth in the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) listing standards and our Governance
Guidelines. For a director to be considered independent, the Board must determine that the director does not
have any direct or indirect material relationship with Cabela’s. The Board has established guidelines to assist
it in determining director independence, which conform to or exceed the independence requirements of the
NYSE listing standards, The Board also has determined that certain relationships between Cabela’s and its
directors are categorically immaterial and shall not disqualify a director or nominee from being considered
independent. These independence guidelines and categorical standards are attached as Appendix A to this
Proxy Statement.

In addition to applying the independence guidelines, the Board will consider all relevant facts and
circumstances in making an independence determination, and not merely from the standpoint of the director,
but also from that of persons or organizations with which the director has an affiliation. The Board has
determined that Messrs. Armstrong, Edmondson, Gottschalk, Mark, McCarthy, and Murray satisfy the
NYSE independence requirements and Cabela’s independence guidelines. The Board also has determined
that (i) Messrs. Armstrong, Edmondson, Mark, and Murray have no relationships with Cabela’s (other than
being a director and shareholden), (ii) Mr. McCarthy has only an immaterial relationship with Cabela’s that
falls within category iii. of the categorical standards adopted by the Board, and (iii) Mr. Gottschalk has only
immaterial relationships with Cabela’s that fall within categories i. and ii. of the categorical standards adopted
by the Board.

During fiscal 2007, our Board held five meetings and acted by written consent five times. During fiscal 2007,
all of our directors attended 80% or more of the aggregate number of Board meetings and committee meetings
on which they served (during the periods for which they served as such). It is the Board’s policy to encourage
directors nominated for election and remaining in office to be present at annual meetings of shareholders, unless
attendance would be impracticable or constitute an undue burden on such nominee or director. All directors,
except Messrs. R. Cabela and Murray, attended our 2007 annual meeting of sharcholders.

Qur Governance Guidelines provide for the role of lead independent director (“Lead Director”).
The Lead Directorisselected by the independent directors on the Board to servea one-year termas Lead Director.
The Lead Director’s roles and responsibilities include: developing, with input from the other independent
directors, the agenda for executive sessions involving only the independent directors; presiding over executive
sessions involving only the independent directors and, at the request of the Chairman, other meetings of the




Board; facilitating communication between the independent directors and the Company’s management; and
approving, in consultation with the Chairman and CEQ, the agenda and materials for each Board meeting.
The Lead Director may, in appropriate circumstances, call meetings of the independent directors and
communicate with various constituencies that are involved with the Company. Mr. McCarthy currently serves
as Lead Director.

Time is allotied at the beginning of each Board meeting for an executive session involving only our
independent directors. All of our non-management directors are independent. The Lead Director or, in his
absence, the independent director with the most seniority on the Board who is present serves as the presiding
director at each executive session.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board has three standing committees, the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. All committee members meet the independence
requirements of the SEC and NYSE. The charters of these committees are available on our website at
www.cabelas.com and upon request by writing to our Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska
69160. The current Chairman and members of these committees are set forth below.

Audit Compensation Nominating and Corporate
Name Committee Committee Governance Committee
Theodore M. Armstrong X X
John H. Edmondson X X
John Gottschalk Chairman X
Reuben Mark X Chairman
Michael R. McCarthy Chairman X
Stephen P. Murray X X

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of our accounting, reporting, and financial
control practices. The Audit Committee also reviews the qualifications of the independent registered public
accounting firm, selects and engages the independent registered public accounting firm, informs our Board
as to their selection and engagement, reviews the plans, fees, and results of their audits, reviews reports of
management and the independent registered public accounting firm concerning our system of internal control,
and considers and approves any non-audit services proposed to be performed by the independent registered
public accounting firm. The Audit Committee held nine meetings during 2007,

The Beoard has determined, in its business judgment, that Messrs. Armstrong, Edmondson, and Gottschalk
are independent as required by the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the applicable listing
standards of the NYSE, and our Governance Guidelines. The Board has determined that it would be desirable
for all members of the Audit Committee to be “audit committee financial experts,” as that term is defined by
SEC rules, to the extent they qualify for such status. The Board has conducted an inquiry into the qualifications
and experience of each member of the Audit Committee. Based on this inquiry, the Board has determined
that Messrs. Armstrong, Edmondson, and Gottschalk meet the SEC’s criteria for audit committee financial
experts and that cach has accounting and related financial management expertise within the meaning of the
listing standards of the NYSE.




Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is responsible for the oversight of our compensation and benefit policies
and programs, including administration of our annual bonus awards and long-term incentive plans, and the
evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”) and other executive officers. The Compensation Committee
held six meetings during 2007 and acted by written consent one time.

The Compensation Committee’s specific responsibilities and duties are set forth in its charter
and include;

. evalunating the performance of the CEO and other executive officers relative to performance goals
and objectives approved by the Compensation Committee;

. setting the compensation of the CEO and other executive officers based upon the evaluation of
performance;

. evaluating compensation plans, policies, and programs with respect to directors, executive officers,
and certain key personnel; and

. granting awards of shares or options to purchase shares pursuant to the Company’s equity-based
plans.

The Compensation Committee’s charter provides that the Compensation Committee may form and
delegate authority to subcommittees or delegate authority to individual Compensation Committee members
in its discretion and shall review the actions of such subcommittees or individual Compensation Committee
members as appropriate. The Compensation Committee also may delegale authority to fulfill certain
administrative duties regarding the Company’s compensation programs to members of management, the
Company’s Human Resources Department, or to third party administrators.

Regarding most compensation matters, including executive and director compensation, our CEQ provides
recommendations to the Compensation Committee. During 2007, our CEO provided the Compensation
Committee recommendations regarding annual base pay increases, bonus amounts, and stock option grants for
our executive officers. Also during 2007, our Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer supplied the
Compensation Committee with a recommendation in connection with the Compensation Committee’s review of
the compensation packages for Patrick A. Sayder, our Senior Vice President of Merchandising, Marketing, and
Retail Operations, and Brian J. Linneman, our Senior Vice President of Global Supply Chain and Qperations.
The Compensation Committee determines the actual compensation to be received by our executive officers.

During 2007, an executive compensation advisory firm, Denver Management Advisors, Inc., was
engaged by the Compensation Committee to make recommendations regarding executive officer equity,
incentive bonus, and base pay compensation for 2007,

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for the oversight of, and assisting
our Board in, developing and recommending corporate governance practices and selecting the director
nominees to stand for election at annual meetings of our shareholders. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee held five meetings during 2007,

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in its oversight of the Company’s financial statements and
reporting practices. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, which
describes this and the other responsibilities of the Audit Committee.




The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited financial statements with
management, which has primary responsibility for the financial statements. Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte™),
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2007, is responsible for expressing an opinion
on the conformity ofthe Company’s audited financial statements with generally accepted accounting principles.
The Audit Committee has discussed with Deloitte the matters that are required to be discussed by Statement
on Auditing Standards No. 61 {Communication with Audit Committees), as amended. The Audit Committee
has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter provided by Deloitte that are required by
Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees), and the
Audit Committee discussed with Deloitte that firm’s independence from the Company.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee (i) recommended to the
Board that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
fiscal 2007 for filing with the SEC, and (ii) appointed Deloitte as the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm for fiscal 2008. This report is provided by the following directors, who constitute the
Audit Committee:

John Gottschalk (Chairman)
Theodore M. Armstrong
John H. Edmondson

Communications with the Board of Directors

Interested parties may contact an individual director, the Board as a group, or a specific Board committee
or group, including the non-employee directors as a group, by writing to Board of Directors, c/o Secretary,
Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160. Each interested party communication should specify
the applicable addressee or addressees to be contacted, a statement of the type and amount of the securities
of the Company that the person holds, if any, and the address, telephone number, and e-mail address, if
any, of the person submitting the communication. The Board has instructed the Company’s Secretary to
review all communications to the Board and to only distribute communications if appropriate to the duties
and responsibilities of the Board. The Board has instructed the Company’s Secretary to not forward to the
directors any interested party communications that he determines to be primarily commercial in nature, that
relate to an improper or irrelevant topic, or that request general information about the Company.

Concerns about our financial statements, accounting practices, or internal controls, or possible violations
of Cabela’s Business Code of Conduct and Ethics, should be reported pursuant to the procedures outlined in
Cabela’s Business Code of Conduct and Ethics, which is available on our website at www.cabelas.com, or
by writing to Chairman of the Audit Committee, c/o Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney,
Nebraska 69160,

Procedures Regarding Director Candidates Recommended by Shareholders

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider director candidates recommended
by shareholders, evaluating them using criteria similar to that used to evaluate candidates recommended
by others. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has not established a minimum number
of shares that a sharecholder must own in order to present a candidate for consideration, or a minimum
length of time during which the shareholder must own its shares. Such recommendations should be made
in writing to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, c/o Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela
Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160, and should include a description of the qualifications of the proposed
candidate. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s qualifications and specific qualities and
skills required for directors are attached as Appendix B to this Proxy Statement. In addition to considering
candidates suggested by sharcholders, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee considers
potential candidates recommended by current directors, officers, employees, and others. The Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee screens all potential candidates in a similar manner regardless of the




source of the recommendation. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s review is typically
based on any written materials provided with respect to the potential candidate as well as the Committee’s
own investigation. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee determines whether the candidate
meets the Company’s qualifications and specific qualities and skills for directors and whether requesting
additional information or an interview is appropriate, It is the Committee’s policy to re-nominate incumbent
directors who continue 1o satisfy the Committee’s criteria for membership on the Board, whom the Committee
believes continue to make important contributions to the Board, and who consent to continue their service on
the Board.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also will consider whether to nominate any
person nominated by a sharcholder in accordance with the information and timely notice requirements set
forth in Article I1, Section 11 of our Amended and Restated Bylaws. You may request a copy of our Amended
and Restated Bylaws by writing to our Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160.

Business Code of Conduct and Ethics and Code of Ethics

The Board has adopted a Business Code of Conduct and Ethics applicable to all directors, officers, and
employees of the Company, which constitutes a “code of ethics” within the meaning of SEC rules. A copy
of our Business Code of Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at www.cabelas.com. You also may
request a copy of this document by writing to our Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska
69160. We expect to disclose to sharcholders any waiver of the Business Code of Conduct and Ethics for
directors or executive officers by posting such information on our website at the address specified above.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The table below sets forth certain information regarding our executive officers.

Richard N. Cabela 71 Chairman

James W. Cabela 68  Vice Chairman

Dennis Highby 59  President and Chief Executive Officer

Patrick A. Snyder 53 Senior Vice President of Merchandising, Marketing, and Retail
Operations

Michael Callahan 58  Senior Vice President of Business Development and

International Operations
Brian J. Linneman 41  Senior Vice President of Global Supply Chain and Operations

Ralph W. Castner 44 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and Chairman of
the Board of World’s Foremost Bank

Joseph M. Friebe 53 Vice President, and President and Chief Executive Officer of
World’s Foremost Bank

Charles Baldwin 40  Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

Patrick A. Snyder has been our Senior Vice President of Merchandising, Marketing, and Retail
Operations since October 2007, From March 2007 to October 2007, Mr, Snyder was our Senior Vice President
of Merchandising and Marketing. From July 2003 to March 2007, Mr. Snyder was our Senior Vice President
of Merchandising. From 1996 to July 2003, he was Director of Merchandise for Clothing. Mr. Snyder joined
us in 1981 as a Product Manager.




Michael Callahan has been our Senior Vice President of Business Development and International
Operations since October 2007. From March 2007 to October 2007, Mr. Callahan was our Senior Vice
President of Retail Operations. From July 2003 to March 2047, Mr. Callahan was our Senior Vice President,
Retail Operations and Marketing. From January 1995 to July 2003, he was Director of Merchandise for Hard
Goods. He joined us as a Product Manager in 1990. Prior to joining us, Mr. Callahan was employed by Gart
Brothers Sporting Goods, most recently as a Merchandise Manager.

Brian J. Linneman has been our Senior Vice President of Global Supply Chain and Operations since
October 2007, From April 2004 to October 2007, Mr. Linneman was our Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer. From July 2003 to April 2004, Mr. Linneman was our Vice President of Strategic Projects & MIS.
From 2002 to July 2003, he was our Director of Strategic Projects. From 1999 to 2002, he was our Corporate
Logistics Manager. Prior to joining us, Mr. Linneman was employed by United Parcel Service from 1987 to
1999, most recently as a Logistics Manager in the west region.

Raiph W. Casmer has been our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since July 2003 and Chairman
of the Board of World’s Foremost Bank, our wholly-owned bank subsidiary, since March 2006. From 2000
to July 2003, Mr. Castner was our Director of Accounting and Finance and Treasurer of World's Foremost
Bank. Prior to joining us, he was employed by First Data Corporation from 1990 to 2000, most recently as a
Vice President. Prior to joining First Data Corporation, Mr. Castner was a certified public accountant with the
public accounting firm of Touche Ross and Company.

Joseph M. Friebe has been a Vice President since July 2003, Chief Executive Officer of World’s Foremost
Bank since June 2006, and President of World’s Foremost Bank since May 2007. From July 2003 to June 2006,
MTr, Fricbe was our Vice President of Direct Marketing. From March 1996 to July 2003, he was our Director of
Marketing. Prior to joining us, he worked for 13 years in the direct marketing business, most recently serving
as a Vice President of The Sportman’s Guide. Mr. Friebe began his career at Grant Thornton as a certified
public accountant.

Charles Baldwin has been our Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer since October 2007.
Mr. Baldwin joined us after a 20 year career with Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., with more than 10 years of experience in
the human resources division. Mr. Baldwin served as Wal-Mart’s Vice President of Global Talent Management
from 2005 to October 2007 and Vice President of Corporate People Development from 2001 to 2005.

See “Proposal One - Election of Directors” for information concerning the business experience of
Mr. R. Cabela, Mr. J. Cabela, and Mr. Highby.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Throughout this Proxy Statement, our CEO and CFO, as well as the other individuals included in
the Summary Compensation Table on page 20, are referred to as the “named executive officers.” In the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis below, the individuals listed on page 10 as executive officers of the
Company, other than Richard N. Cabela and James W. Cabela, are referred to as the “executive officers.”
Information concerning our employment agreements with Richard N. Cabela and James W. Cabela can be
found on page 23 under the heading “Employment Agreements.”

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Objectives of Qur Compensation Programs

Our compensation programs are intended to provide a link between the creation of shareholder value
and the compensation earned by our executive officers and certain key personnel. The objectives of our
compensation programs are to:

. attract, motivate, and retain superior talent;

. ensure that compensation is commensurate with our performance and shareholder returns;
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»  provide performance awards for the achievement of strategic objectives that are critical to our
long-term growth; and

. ensure that our executive officers and certain key personnel have financial incentives to achieve
sustainable growth in shareholder value.

Business Strategy

Qur business strategy for building sustainable growth in shareholder value emphasizes the following
key components:

. improve our operating efficiencies;

«  emphasize sustainable increases in same store sales;
. improve our inventory management;

. improve our merchandise gross margins;

. continue to open new retail stores;

. expand our direct business; and

. expand our customer loyalty programs.

Elements of Our Executive Compensation Structure

Our compensation structure is simple and consists of two tiers of remuneration. The first tier consists
of base pay and a suite of retirement, heaith, and welfare benefits. The second tier consists of both short- and
long-term incentive compensation.

Base pay and benefits are designed to be sufficiently competitive to attract and retain world-class
executives. Executive officers enjoy the same retirement, health, and welfare benefits as our other exempt
employees and are not entitled to additional benefits.

QOur short-term incentive plan provides for cash bonuses to be paid to our executive officers based on
individual and corporate performance. Objectives are set on an annual basis, and they consist of milestones
which will contribute to growth in shareholder value. To the extent objectives are achieved, the short-term
incentive plan pays on an annuat basis. Our long-term incentive plan (our 2004 Stock Plan) provides for awards
of stock options, restricted stock, and other equity-based incentives. These are designed to reward executive
officers for the achievement of longer-term objectives which result in an increase in shareholder value.

Reasons for the Current Incentive Plan Structure

In 2008, we will continue to grow by adding retail stores and taking steps to increase our direct business.
In addition, we will place emphasis on increasing earnings per share and same store sales. We believe this
strategy will result in the creation of additional and sustainable shareholder value.

Our short-term incentive plan for 2007 was designed to rewarded executives for achieving predetermined
benchmarks in earnings per share, same store sales growth, and return on invested capital. The plan also was
designed to reward executives for the achievement of various individual goals, many of which were tied to
increases in operating efficiencies. The short-term incentive plan for 2007 was designed to help ensure that
our executive officers pay close attention to operating efficiencies in the near term, even in the face of growth
initiatives. See “Fiscal 2007 Cash Bonus Opportunities” for a discussion on actual achievement of short-term
incentive goals for 2007.

In February 2008, the Board adopted the Cabela’s Incorporated Performance Bonus Plan (the
“Performance Bonus Plan™), which is being presented to our shareholders for approval at the Annual Meeting.
If approved by shareholders, we expect cash bonuses for 2008 and future years to be paid to our executive
officers under the Performance Bonus Plan based on the achievement of annually established individual and/
or corporate performance criteria. In 2008, the Performance Bonus Plan will reward executive officers for
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achieving predetermined benchmarks in earnings per share and same store sales. The short-term incentive
targets will once again work to ensure attention to operating efficiencies and increases in same store
sales, even as we undertake growth initiatives. See “Fiscal 2008 Cash Bonus Opportunities” below for
additional information,

Awards outstanding under our long-term incentive plan currently consist of stock options. In future
years, we may also make grants of restricted stock or other equity-based awards. The long-term incentive
plan is designed to reward executives for increasing long-term shareholder value. This will be accomplished
by the successful execution of the Company’s growth initiatives, coupled with the consistent achievement of
profitability goals. The long-term incentive plan will keep executive officers focused on both revenue and
profit growth, and it can potentially be a very significant source of compensation for executive officers in the
long term.

How We Determine to Pay What We Pay

Our cash compensation policy is based on:

. our long-standing philosophy of providing significant pay at risk;
. internal equity; and

. individual and corporate performance.

In setting base pay for our executive officers, we follow a practice which dates to the Company’s
inception. The Compensation Committee sets a level of base pay which is adequate to attract and retain
the level of talent the Company needs, but not more. Exceptional individual and corporate performance is
rewarded through the annual bonus program and is not reflected in base pay. The Compensation Committee
pays close attention to internal equity when it sets pay. In particular, it takes into account the relative value
of its individual executive officer positions, as well as the value of the jobs immediately below the executive
officer level. Periodically, the Compensation Committee references base pay practices at public companies of
a similar size to help ensure base pay remains broadly within a competitive range.

In setting annual cash bonus opportunity, the Compensation Committee abides by the philosophy the
Company has maintained since its founding. That is, cash bonuses might be equal to or in excess of base pay
if individual and corporate performance reaches predetermined levels.

Overall, our cash compensation practices reflect our long-held philosophy that annual cash compensation
shall be substantially performance based.

Qur Compensation Committee takes into account several factors in determining the level of long-term
incentive opportunity to grant to our executive officers. in 2007, the Compensation Committee took the
following factors into account:

. individual executive officer performance;
. the effect of equity compensation grants on earnings pet share;

. each executive officer’s portion of the total number of options being granted to employees in fiscal
2007; and

. the level of grants necessary to keep our exccutive officers focused and motivated in the
coming year.

In considering the level of option grants required to keep our executive officers focused and motivated,
the Compensation Committee periodically makes reference to equity compensation practices at similar-sized
public companies. However, we do not determine grants by setting them at a particular percentile of the
market range. '
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Policy for Allocating Between Long-Term and Current Compensation

Our policy for allocating between long-term and current compensation for our executive officers is
as follows:

. We expect that in the long run the bulk of total compensation paid to executive officers will come
from stock options and other equity based leng-term incentives. Executive officers will only enjoy
rewards to the extent they create commensurate value for shareholders. This is consistent with our
philosophy of utilizing executive compensation to create sustainable growth in sharcholder value.

. We recognize that to create sustainable growth in shareholder value, increases in revenue and

' profitability are necessary in the near term. Accordingly, it is our intention to pay very competitive

annual cash bonuses, which have the potential to be equal to or greater than base pay. However,
bonuses will only be paid to the extent short-term objectives are achieved or exceeded.

. Finally, we recognize that in order to attract and retain the kind of talent necessary to build
shareholder value, we must pay competitive base salaries and benefits.

Benchmarking of Compensation

Our compensation philosophy does not include an effort to pay executive officers at a particular
percentile of the market range. Accordingly, we did not select a group of peer companies with an eye toward
using their executive officer pay as a benchmark against which to set our compensation. As stated above, we
take several factors into account in determining base pay, short-term incentive opportunity, and long-term
incentive opportunity, including individual and corporate performance and internal equity.

Nevertheless, we understand that there are competitors for executive officer talent, and we find it useful
to examine their pay practices from time to time. In the course of determining cash compensation for our
executive officers in 2007, we looked at publicly traded retail and catalog businesses. None of the companies
in this group was a specialty provider of outdoor recreational equipment and clothing with our mix of direct
and retail business. For purposes of determining long-term incentive grants, we looked at practices in a wide
variety of companies, both in and outside of our industry. Data was supplied to the Compensation Committee
in February 2007 by Denver Management Advisors, Inc., an executive compensation advisory firm. For the
limited purpose of the analysis set forth below, the compensation paid to the executive officers of these
companies is referred to as “market.”

QOur observations were as follows:

. Base pay for Messrs. Highby, Snyder, and Callahan was at or somewhat below the midpoint of the
market range.

. Base pay for Messrs. Castner and Linneman was substantially below the midpoint of the market
range. We also looked at companies of similar size and complexity outside of the retail and catalog
industry, and determined that their base pay was below the market midpoint for all industries.

. Short-term incentive opportunity for our executive officers was above the midpoint of the
market range.

. Long-term incentive opportunity for our executive officers was below the midpoint of the
market range.

After reviewing this data and taking the factors described above into account, the Compensation
Committee determined to raise the base pay of Mr. Castner to $375,000 and to raise the base pay of
Mr. Linneman to $325,000 effective April 1, 2007. The base pay adjustments to these two positions placed the
base pay associated with these positions closer to, but not above, the midpoint of the market range.
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In February 2008, the Compensation Committec reviewed the compensation packages for Mr. Snyder
and Mr. Linneman. Each of these individuals was assigned substantial new responsibilities effective as of
November 2007. As a result of the assignment of these new responsibilities, the Compensation Committee
determined to raise Mr. Snyder’s base compensation to $475,000 and his target bonus opportunity to $665,000.
The Compensation Committee determined to raise Mr. Linneman’s base pay to $400,000 and his target bonus
opportunity to $560,000.

Long-Term [ncentive Opportunity — Basis for Reward and Downside Risk

To date, the Compensation Committee has only awarded stock options under our long-term incentive
plan. The Compensation Committee may consider using other equity-based incentives in the future. Options
bear a relationship to the achievement of our long-term goals in that they increase in value as our stock
increases in value. Our executive officers are exposed to considerable downside risk through the shares of the
Company they own outright.

The Compensation Committee carefully evaluates the cost of options it grants to its executive officers
in terms of their impact on earnings per share. The Compensation Committce will continue to evaluate the
cost of options and other forms of equity compensation against the benefit those vehicles are likely to yield in
building sustainable growth in shareholder value.

Eguity Grants and Market Timing

We have never granted options in coordination with the release of material, non-public information, and
we currently do not intend to adopt such a practice in the future. During fiscal 2007 and 2006, annual awards
of stock options to our executive officers and key employees were made at the Compensation Committee’s
regularly scheduled meeting in May, and we expect that future equity awards will be made at this same
meeting cach year, Exceptions would include grants made to key lateral hires, grants made as a result of
promotions, and other extraordinary circumstances.

We have properly accounted for all of our option grants. As a public company, we have never awarded
options and set the exercise price based on any price other than the fair market value of our stock on the
grant date.

Specific Forms of Compensation and the Role of Compensation Committee Discretion

In the past, the Compensation Committee has retained the discretion to review executive officer base
pay and make increascs based on general performance and market norms. In addition, the Compensation
Committee has retained the discretion to make long-term incentive grants based on several factors detailed in
this Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The Compensation Committee intends to retain the discretion to
make decisions about executive officer base compensation and certain levels of stock option grants without
predetermined performance goals or metrics.

The Compensation Committee retains its right to make future grants of options, restricted stock, or
other equity compensation subject to performance goals. At this time, it has not been determined whether it
would exercise discretion to increase or reduce the size of an award or payout if the performance goals are met,
or pay all or any portion of an award or payout despite the performance goals not being met.

Commencing in 2007, the Compensation Committee established predetermined targets and criteria
for the payment of the annual short-term incentive to our executive officers. The Performance Bonus Plan
specifically provides that the Compensation Committee may set performance objectives, performance criteria,
and levels of bonus opportunity each year. The targets and criteria for 2007 and 2008 are spelled out more
particularly below. The predetermined targets and criteria for fiscal 2007 consisted of both corporate financial
objectives and individual performance goals for each executive officer. The relative weight of the corporate
financial objectives as a whole and the individual performance goals as a whole was set at the beginning of
the annual performance period.
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For 2007, there were three metrics which made up the corporate financial objectives. The Compensation
Committee specifically reserved the right to determine the relative weight of each of these corporate
financial objectives at the end of the one year performance period. The Compensation Committee intends
to preserve the right to determine the relative weights of each of the metrics which make up the corporate
financial objectives.

Fiscal 2007 Cash Bonus Opportunities

In February 2007, the Compensation Committee set the targets and criteria for the fiscal 2007 cash
bonus opportunities for our named executive officers pursuant to our short-term incentive plan. The following
table sets forth the fiscal 2007 threshold, target, and maximum cash bonus opportunity for each of our named
executive officers.

Threshold Bonus Target Bonus Maximum Bonus

Dennis Highby $1,500,000 $2,000,000 $3,000,000
Ralph W. Castner $ 375,000 $ 500,000 $ 750,000
Patrick A. Snyder $ 450,000 § 600,000 $ 900,000
Michael Callahan $ 450,000 $ 600,000 $ 900,000
Brian J. Linneman $ 375,000 $ 300,000 $ 750,000

For fiscal 2007, 50% of each named executive officer’s target cash bonus opportunity was based upon
the achievement of corporate financial objectives relating to earnings per share, same store sales, and return
on invested capital. For fiscal 2007, 30% of each named executive officer’s target cash bonus opportunity was
based on earnings per share, 10% was based on same store sales, and 10% was based on return on invested
capital, The corporate financial objectives for fiscal 2007 are set forth below.

Corporate Financial Objectives Threshold Target Maximum
Earnings Per Share 1 £1.30 $1.406 $1.60

Same Store Sales 0% 2% 4%
Return on Invested Capital 11% 12% 13%

For fiscal 2007, the Company earned $1.31 per diluted share, which exceeded the threshold level for
that corporate financial objective. In fiscal 2007, the threshold levels for the corporate financial objectives of
same store sales and return on invested capital were not met. Therefore, no amounts were paid to the named
executive officers for those two corporate financial objectives.

For fiscal 2007, the remaining 50% of each of our named executive officer’s target cash bonus opportunity
was based upon the achievement of pre-established individual performance goals. For Mr. Highby, these goals
related primarily to organizational goals, strategic initiatives, culture, and communications, For Mr. Castner,
these poals related primarily to human resources, legal, investor relations, and tax goals. For Mr. Snyder, these
goals related primarily to organizational goals, direct business operational goals, increasing the market share
of certain products, and growing merchandise categories. For Mr. Callahan, these goals related primarily to
creating a plan to increase retail segment operating margins, retail marketing goals, enhancing retail employee
training, and brand marketing goals. For Mr. Linneman, these goals related primarily to strategic planning,
distribution and fulfillment, and management information systems. A portion of each named executive
officer’s individual goals were achieved.
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Accordingly, annual cash bonuses for the named executive officers for 2007 were paid as follows.

Corporate
Financial Individual Performance  Total 2007 Annual
Objectives Bonus Goals Bonus Cash Bonus
Dennis Highby $318,750 $680,000 $998,750
Ralph W. Castner $ 79,688 $170,000 $249.688
Patrick A. Snyder $ 95,625 $204,000 $£299,625
Michael Callahan $ 95,625 $204,000 $299,625
Brian J. Linneman $ 79,688 $170,000 $249,688

Fiscal 2008 Cash Bonus Opportunities

In Februvary 2008, the Compensation Committee set the targets and criteria for the fiscal 2008 cash
bonus opportunities for our named executive officers under the Performance Bonus Plan, The following table
sets forth the fiscal 2008 floor, threshold, target, and maximum cash bonus opportunity for each of our named
executive officers.

Floor Bonus Threshold Bonus Target Bonus Maximum Bonus

Dennis Highby $500,000 31,000,000 $2,000,000  $3,000,000
Ralph W. Castner $125,000 § 250,000 § 500,000 $ 750,000
Patrick A. Snyder $166,250 $§ 332500 § 665,000 $ 997,500
Brian J. Linneman $140,000 $ 280,000 % 560,000 $ 840,000

As discussed under the heading “Retirement of Michael Callahan” below, Mr. Callahan has announced
that he will retire as Senior Vice President of Business Development and International Operations as of
May 17, 2008. Because of his retirement, Mr. Callahan will not be eligible for a fiscal 2008 bonus.

In February 2008, the Compensation Committee determined that each named executive officer’s target
cash bonus opportunity for fiscal 2008 will be based upon the achievement of corporate financial objectives
relating to earnings per share and same store sales. The Compensation Committee also determined the
retative weights of each of the metrics which make up the corporate financial objectives, The Compensation
Committee determined that 75% of each named executive officer’s target cash bonus opportunity will be
based on earnings per share and 25% will be based on same store sales. The named executive officers will
receive no payment for a metric unless the Company achieves the floor corporate financial objective for that
metric. In addition, the named executive officers will receive no payment for either of the corporate financial
objectives unless the floor corporate financial objective for earnings per share is achieved.

The Company’s strategic plan calls for the addition of retail stores and an increase in revenue from
our direct business. We view this growth as key to the creation of sustainable long-term shareholder value,
Nevertheless, we believe that growth must be profitable. Accordingly, the metrics under the 2008 Performance
Bonus Plan are designed to keep our executive officers focused on short-term profitability, even as we
undertake our revenue growth initiatives,

Earnings per share has been chosen as a metric to help assure that compensation is proportional to
the return on investment earned by shareholders. For purposes of the fiscal 2008 cash bonus opportunities,
carnings per share will be measured on a diluted basis by dividing our net income by the sum of the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Same store sales measure how the retail stores in our same store sales base are contributing to our total
revenue. For purposes of the fiscal 2008 cash bonus opportunities, a store will be included in our same store
sales base on the first day of the month following the fifteen month anniversary of its opening or expansion
by more than 25%.
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Following the completion of fiscal 2008, the Compensation Committee will assess the performance
of the Company for each metric to determine the fiscal 2008 cash bonuses payable to our named
executive officers.

The actual bonuses payable for fiscal 2008, if any, will vary depending on the extent to which actual
Company performance meets, exceeds, or falls short of the corporate financial objectives approved by the
Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee retains discretion to make downward adjustments
to the bonuses yielded by the corporate financial objectives, but cannot make upward adjustments.

How Individual Forms of Compensation are Struciured_and Implemented to Reflect the Named Executive
Officers’ Individual Performance and Contribution

We are engaged in a concerted strategic effort to increase revenue, profit, and operating efficiency.
Our executive officers work as a team to accomplish these goals. Their base pay, annual bonus opportunity,
and respective long-term incentive opportunity reflect their individual contribution to the Company and
market practices. For 2007, the extent to which individual short-term incentive bonuses were paid depended
on the extent to which corporate financial objectives and individual performance goals were met.

The executive officers received option grants in May 2007 that vest over a three-year period. The amount
of each individual grant reflects the Compensation Committee’s assessment of each individual’s contribution.
As of the end of fiscal 2007, none of the May 2007 option grants were in the money.

Policies and Decisions Regarding Adjustment or Recovery of Awards or Payments if Relevant Performance
Measures are Restated or Adjusted

This has not occurred since we became a public company or before that time. We expect that we would
take steps legally permissible to adjust or recover awards or payments in the event relevant performance
measures upon which they were based were restated or otherwise adjusied in a manner that would reduce the
size of an award or payment.

Impact that Amounts Received or Realizable From Previously Farned Compensation_Have on Other
Compensation
We maintain no compensation plans or programs where gains from prior compensation would directly

influence amounts currently earned. The only factor where gains from prior awards are considered is where
the Compensation Committee determines the appropriate size of long-term incentive grants.

The Basis for a Change of Control Triggering Payment

We have entered into agreements containing change in control severance provisions with our executive
officers and certain members of senior management. Payments to our named executive officers under
these agreements are strictly tied to both a change in control and termination of employment. Under these
agreements, if any of our named executive officers are terminated without cause or resign for good reason
within twenty-four months of certain transactions resulting in a change in control, then the employee will be
entitled to receive certain severance benefits. The reasons for the change in control provisions are the same
for us as in most companies in most industries. Executive officers should be free to act in the best interests of
shareholders when considering a sale without undue focus on their own job security. Additional information
concerning these agreements and the potential payments due under these agreements can be found below in
the section titled “Management Change of Control Severance Agreements.”

Impact of Accounting and Tax Treatment on Various Forms of Compensation

We take the impact of accounting and tax treatment on each particular form of compensation into
account. Our incentive payments are designed so that they are deductible under Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code, and our Management Change of Control Severance Agreements allow for a tax “gross-up”
in the event there is a change in control, termination of employment, and excise taxes pursuant to 280G
and related sections of the Code. The Performance Bonus Plan specifically provides that the Compensation
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Committee can take action which it deems necessary or appropriate to avoid or limit the imposition of an
additional tax which could be imposed under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. We closely monitor
the accounting treatment of our equity compensation plans, and in making future grants, we expect to take
the accounting treatment into account.

Ownership Requirements and Policies Regarding Hedging Risk in Company’s Equity Securities

Since a significant ownership stake in the Company by its directors and executive officers leads to a
stronger alignment of interests with shareholders, the Board has established minimum stock ownership and
retention guidelines that apply to non-employee directors and executive officers.

. Non-employee directors are required to own Company stock equal in value to three times their
annual cash retainer for Board service (any annual cash retainers for service as a Board Committee
Chairman or member, or for service as Lead Director, are not factored into this calculation).

. The Chief Executive Officer is required to own stock equal in value to five times his base pay.

. Senior Vice Prestdents and the Chief Financial Officer are required to own stock equal in value to
three times their annual base pay.

. All other executive officers are required to own stock equal in value to two times their annual
base salary.

Non-employee directors have until five years after election or appointment as a non-employee director
to attain these ownership levels.

Executive officers have until five years after appointment as an executive officer to obtain 30 percent of
these stock ownership levels, and until ten years after appointment as an executive officer to obtain 100 percent
of these stock ownership levels,

Until such time as a non-employee director or executive officer satisfies the stock ownership guidelines,
the non-employee director or executive officer is required to hold 100 percent of the shares received upon the
exercise of stock options and upon the vesting of any restricted stock, in cach case net of the shares sold to pay
the exercise price and any taxes due upon exercise or vesting.

An exception may be made in the case of a non-employee director. Upon the request of a non-employee
director, the Board will consider if modification of the stock ownership and retention guidelines for the non-
employee director is appropriate in view of the non-employee director’s personal circumstances.

Qur executive officers are not allowed to make a short sale of stock, which we define as any transaction
whereby one may benefit from a decline in our stock price.

The Role of Executive Officers in Determining Compensation

In February 2007, our CEO (i} provided the Compensation Committee his assessment of the performance
of our executive officers in fiscal 2006, (ii) made a recommendation to the Compensation Committee regarding
executive officer base pay increases for fiscal 2007, and (iii) made a recommendation to the Compensation
Committee regarding corporate financial objectives and individual performance goals for executive officers
under the 2007 short-term incentive plan.

In May 2007, our CEO made a recommendation to the Compensation Committee regarding executive
officer stock option grants for fiscal 2007,

In July 2007 and October 2007, our CEO made recommendations to the Compensation Committee
regarding compensation packages for new executive officers.

In December 2007, our Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer provided the Compensation
Committee with a recommendation in connection with the Compensation Committee’s review of the
compensation packages for Messrs. Snyder and Linneman.
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In February 2008, our CEO (i) provided the Compensation Committee his assessment of the performance
of our executive officers in fiscal 2007, (i) made a recommendation to the Compensation Committee regarding
executive officer base pay increases for fiscal 20608, and (iii) made a recommendation to the Compensation
Committee regarding performance criteria for executive officers under the Performance Bonus Plan
for 2008.

The Compensation Committee considered the above information, among other things, when making
executive officer compensation decisions in fiscal 2007 and the beginning of fiscal 2008. Although the
Compensation Committee considers information and recommendations presented by executive officers, it
makes exccutive officer compensation decisions independent of the Company’s management. Other than
the information supplied above, no other executive officers played a role in determining executive officer
compensation in fiscal 2007 and the beginning of fiscal 2008.

Retirement_of Michael Callahan

As previously announced, Michael Callahan will retire as Senior Vice President of Business Development
and International Operations as of May 17, 2008. At our request, Mr. Callahan has agreed to be a consultant
for no less than 24 months and up to 30 months following his retirement. Under the terms of a Retirement
Transition and Consulting Agreement, upon his retirement, we have agreed to pay Mr. Callahan a monthly
consulting fee of $60,798 and various other one-time fees totaling $99,074. In addition, 3,670 unvested options
that Mr, Callahan has been granted pursuant to our 2004 Stock Plan will become vested upon Mr. Caliahan’s
retirement, We entered into the Retirement Transition and Consulting Agreement to facilitate a smooth and
orderly transition of Mr. Callahan’s duties and responsibilities upon his retirement, and to assure access to
Mr. Callahan’s unique and valuable services following his retirement. Mr. Callahan has agreed to not compete
with us during the time he is serving as a consultant.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis
with management. Based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the
Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

The foregoing Compensation Committee Report for 2007 is provided by the undersigned members of
the Compensation Committee.

Michael R. McCarthy (Chairman)
Reuben Mark
Stephen P. Murray




Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the total compensation earned by each of our named executive officers

for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007.

Change in
Pension Value
and Nonqualified
Non-Equity Deferred
Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other

Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position Year  ($)(1) ($)(2) 3 ($)(3) $) ($)(4) 3)(5) ()]
Deannis Highby, 2007 $691,320 § 999550 —  $253,586 — —_ $13,000 31,957,456
President and Chief 2006 $665,450 $1,825500 —  $373932 — $ 2,157 $£13,000 $2,880,039
Executive Officer
Ralph W. Castner, 2007 $362,796 § 255488 —  §$110,801 — — $ 8,000 $ 737,085
Vice President and Chief 2006 3319630 § 463,000 —  $110,019 — $18,918 $ 8,000 $ 919,567
Financial Officer, and
Chairman of the Board of
World’s Foremost Bank
Patrick A. Snyder, 2007 $426,139 5 300425 —  $108,48% — — $13,000 3 848,053
Senior Vice President of 2006 $410,192 8 550,500 — § 68,027 — $ 615 $13,000 $1,042,334
Merchandising, Marketing,
and Retail Operations
Michael Callahan, 2007 $436,061 § 300425 —  §$108489 — — $13,000 $ 857975
Senior Vice President of 2006 $418,540 § 550,500 — § 68,027 — $ 580 $13,000 $1,050,647
Business Development and
International Qperations
Brian . Linneman, 2007 $311,951 § 255488 — 110,141 —_ — $ 8,000 $ 685,580
Senior Vice President of 2006 $266,358 $§ 463,000 —  3100,121 — § 410 § 8,000 $ 837,889

Global Supply Chain
and Operations

M

@

)

@)

()

For Mr. Callahan only, for 2007 and 2006 includes $9,922 and $8,348, respectively, of vacation sold back
to the Company at 75% of value in accordance with the Company’s standard vacation policy.

For 2007 and 2006, for each of the named executive officers, includes bonuses paid under our short-term
cash incentive plan and a $300 Christmas bonus. For 2007, includes the following 401(k) Plan matching
contributions paid outside the plan due to plan contribution limits: Mr. Highby, $500; Mr. Castner, $5,500;
Mr. Snyder, $500; Mr. Callahan, $500; and Mr, Linneman, $5,500. For 2006, includes the following
401(k) Plan matching contributions paid outside the plan due to plan contribution limits: Mr. Highby,
$200; Mr. Castner, $5,200; Mr. Snyder, $200; Mr. Callahan, $200, and Mr. Linneman, $5,200.

Reflects the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes in accordance with
FAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“FAS 123R”), and thus includes amounts from
awards granted in the current year and prior years. Refer to Note 18 “Stock Based Compensation and
Stock Option Plans” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2008, for the relevant assumptions used to determine the valuation
of our option awards.

Consists of above-market interest on deferred compensation. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company’s
deferred compensation plan was amended to provide that the Company shall not pay any above-market
interest on deferred compensation amounts to any of the Company’s named executive officers.

Consists of 401(k) Plan matching contributions for each of the named executive officers.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth, as to our named executive officers, information concerning stock options
granted during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007.

All Other All Other
Stock Optien

Estimated Future Payouts Under Estimated Future Payouts Awards:  Awards: Grant Date
. . B Number of Number of Fair Value
Nan-Equity Incentive Plan Under Equity Incentive Plan ) . .
Shares of Securities  Exercise or of Stock
Awards Awards

Stock or Underlying Base Price of and Option
Grant  Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Units Options  Option Awards Awards

Name Date ($) ($) (%) ) 3] ) (#) {#) ($/Sh) (%)
Dennis Highby 05/15/07 — — — — — — — 100,000 $22.37 $787,790
Ralph W. Castner 05/15/07 — — — — — — — 35000 52237 §275,727
Patrick A. Snyder 05/15/07 — — — — — — — 35,000 $22.37 $275,7127
Michae!l Callahan 05/15/07 —_ -~ —_ — — — — 35,000 $22.37 §275,727
Brian J. Linneman 05/15/07 — — — — —_ — — 35,000 $22.37 ‘ $275,727
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth outstanding stock option awards classified as exercisable or unexercisable for
cach of our named executive officers as of December 29, 2007.

Dennis Highby

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Equity Equity Incentive
Incentive Incentive  Plam Awards:
Plan Plan Awards: Market or
Number Awards: Market  Number of Payout Value
of Number of Number of Number  Valueof Unearned of Unearned
Securities Securities Securities of Shares Shares or Shares, Units Shares, Units
Underlying Underlying Underlying or Units of  Units of or Other or Other
Unexercised Unexercised  Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That Rights That Rights That
Options Options Unearned Exercise Option Have Not Have Not  Have Not Have Not
#) (#) Options Price [Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable (1) #) 3) Date (#) $) (#) $)
143,130 95,420 (4) — $20.00 05/01/2014
40,000 — — $20.00 04/1472015
8,000 32,000 — $19.35 05/09/2016 — — — —
100,000 (3) — $22.37 05/15/2015
Ralph W. Castner 14,680 14,680 (2) — $ 576 07/13/2010
18,960 23,596 (2) — $ 9.13 07272011
14,070 9,434 (2) — $ 913 072772001
22,020 7.340 (3) — $11.20 07/24/2008
22,020 14,680 (4) — $13.34 05/01/2014 — — — —
4,404 2,936 (4) — $20.00 05/01/2014
20,000 — — $20.00 04/14/2015
5,500 22,000 — 51935 0570972016
35,000 (5) — $22.37 05/15/2015
Patrick A. Snyder 14,680 14,680 (3) — $11.20 07/24/2008
11,010 7,340 (4) — $13.34 05/01/2014
20,000 — — 320.00 04/14/2015 — — — —
5,500 22,000 — $19.35  05/09/2016
35,000 (5) — $22.37 051572015
Michaet Callahan 58,720 14,680 (3) — $11.20 07/24/2008
11,010 7,340 (4) — $13.34  05/01/2014
20,000 — — $20.00 04/14/2015 — — — —
5,500 22,000 — $19.35 05/09/2016
35,000 (5) — $22.37 05/15/2015
Brian J. Linneman 5,505 3,670 (2) — $ 5.76 071372010
5,505 5.505(2) — $ 913 0727/2011
16,515 22,020(2) — $10.11 07/02/2012
22,020 7,340 (3) — $11.20 07/24/2008
22,020 14,680 (4) — $13.34  05/01/2014 — — — —
20,000 — — $20.00 04/14/2015
5,500 22,000 — $19.35  05/09/2016
35,000 (5) — $22.37 05/15/2015

(1

)

(3
“)
©)

Unless otherwise indicated by footnote, all options listed above vest at a rate of 20% per year on the
anniversary date of grant and have a ten-year term.

Options vest at a rate of 10% per year beginning on the date of grant and an additional 10% each January

I thereafter.

Options vest at a rate of 20% per year beginning on January 1, 2004, and have a five-year term.

Options vest at a rate of 20% per year beginning on January 1, 2005, and have a ten-year term,

Options vest in three equal annual installments beginning on May 15, 2008, and have an eight-year term.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested

None of our named exccutive officers exercised any stock options during the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2007.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

The following table sets forth earnings, distributions, and balances for each of our named executive
officers under our nonqualified deferred compensation plan for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007. Our
nonqualified deferred compensation plan was frozen as of December 31, 2004, and no new money is allowed
to be contributed to the plan.

Executive Registrant Aggrepate Apgregate Aggregate
Contributions Contributions Earnings Withdrawals/ Balance at
in Last FY in Last FY in Last FY  Distributions LastFYE
Name 5) ($) &3] (5) (5
Dennis Highby — — _— — —
Ralph W. Castner — — $28,906 $34453 §$507477
Patrick A. Snyder — — 5§ 36 — £ 650
Michael Catlahan — — — —_ —
Brian J. Linneman — — $ 121 —_ $ 2,183

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes, as of fiscal year-end 2007, information about our compensation plans
under which equity securities of the Company are authorized for issuance.

Number of Weighted- Number
Securities Average of Securities
to be Issued  Exercise Price Remaining Available
Upon Exercise of for Future Issuance
of Qutstanding Outstanding Under Equity
Plan Category Options Options Compensation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 5,312,444 $16.28 3,974,472 (1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
Total 5,312,444 $16.28 3,974,472 (1)

(1) Ofthese shares, 1,445,276 remain available for future issuance under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan
and 2,529,196 remain avaiiable for future issuance under our 2004 Stock Plan.

Employment Agreements

In January 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. R. Cabela. Mr. R. Cabela
agreed to serve in the executive position of Chairman of our Company. Under the employment agreement,
Mr. R. Cabela currently receives an annual base salary of $283,184 and is precluded from participating in any
of our incentive compensation programs. We may terminate Mr. R. Cabela’s employment agreement without
cause upon 180 days written notice. We may terminate Mr. R. Cabela’s employment agreement at any time
for cause. Mr. R. Cabela may terminate his employment agreement upon 90 days written notice. We are
required to pay Mr. R. Cabela his base salary through the effective date of any termination of his employment
agreement. The employment agreement prohibits Mr. R. Cabela from competing with us for a peried of twelve
months following the termination of the employment agreement for any reason. Mr. R. Cabela has assigned
to us exclusive rights in and to any intellectual property developed by him during his employment with us
in the scope of our actual or anticipated business operations or that relates to any of our actual or anticipated
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products or services. We are required to provide Mr. R. Cabela with statutory indemnification to the fullest
extent provided by law for any claims asserted against him relating to his service as an officer or dircctor of
the Company.

In January 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. J. Cabela. Mr. J. Cabela agreed
to serve in the executive position of Vice Chairman of our Company. Under the employment agreement,
Mr. J. Cabela currently receives an annual base salary of $288,963 and is precluded from participating in any
of our incentive compensation programs. We may terminate Mr. J. Cabela’s employment agreement without
cause upon 180 days written notice. We may terminate Mr. J. Cabela’s employment agreement at any time
for cause. Mr. J. Cabela may terminate his employment agreement upon 90 days written notice. We are
required to pay Mr. J. Cabela his base salary through the effective date of any termination of his employment
agreement. The employment agreement prohibits Mr. J. Cabela from competing with us for a period of twelve
months following the termination of the employment agreement for any reason. Mr. J. Cabela has assigned
to us exclusive rights in and to any intellectual property developed by him during his employment with us
in the scope of our actual or anticipated business operations or that relates to any of our actual or anticipated
products or services. We are required to provide Mr. J. Cabela with statutory indemnification to the fullest
extent provided by law for any claims asserted against him relating to his service as an officer or director of
the Company.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Management Change of Control Severance Agreements

We have entered into agreements containing change in control severance provisions with our named
executive officers. The terms of these agreements are the same for each of our named executive officers. A
copy of the form used for these agreements is filed as Exhibit 10.19 to our Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed on March 23, 2004. Under these agreements, if any of our named executive officers are terminated
without cause or resign for good reason within twenty-four months of certain transactions resulting in a
change in control, then they would be entitled to receive severance benefils equal to two years’ base salary
and bonus, payable in a lump sum, and insurance benefits. The bonus element would be equal to the average
of the last two incentive bonuses paid. The insurance benefits for each executive and his dependents would
be equal to eighteen months coverage for health and dental insurance and twenty-four months coverage for
life and disability insurance. Severance benefits are not payable if employment is terminated due to disability,
retirement, or death.

Each of these agreements also provides that to the extent any of the payments under the agreements
would exceed the limitation of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code, or the Code, such that an excise
tax would be imposed under Section 4999 of the Code, the executive would receive an additional “gross-up”
payment to indemnify him for the effect of such excise tax. In addition, any unvested stock options owned by
such an executive, that did not vest upon the change in control pursuant to the terms of the applicable plan,
would become fully vested and any non-competition and non-solicitation agreements we have with such an
executive would automatically terminate. All confidentiality provisions, however, would rematin in place.

Generally, pursuant to these agreements, a “‘change in control” is deemed to occur upon:

. any acquisition (other than directly from the Company) of more than 50% of the combined voting
power of the Company’s then outstanding voting securities by any “person” as defined in the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

. the consummation of a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company, except for a sale after which the Board does not change;

. any merger, consolidation, or reorganization of the Company, unless the prior shareholders continue
to own at least 51% of the outstanding equity interests of the Company;
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a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company; or

election of a Board at least a majority of which is not made up of directors as of the date of the
change of control agreements or individuals approved by such directors.

Generally, pursuant to these agreements, “good reason” is deemed to exist when there is a:

material modification of the executive’s responsibilities, title, authority, or reporting
responsibilities;

material reduction in the executive’s base salary or the potential benefits available to the executive
under the Company’s incentive compensation agreements;

failure by the Company to continue to provide benefits substantially similar to those enjoyed by
the executive prior to the change in control under the Company’s employee benefit, life insurance,
medical, health and accident, or disability plans; or

change in the executive’s principal place of employment by a distance in excess of 100 miles.

Generally, pursuant to these agreements, “cause” includes:

the executive being charged with a felony;
fraud, embezzlement, or theft by the executive relating to the Company;

gross negligence (i.e., actions in bad faith, not merely an error in judgment) of the executive which
is materially detrimental to the Company’s business; or

failure by the executive to fulfill his duties as an employee of the Company that have not been
remedied within 30 days after written notice of such failure or repeated failure to fulfill the same
duties after having received two notifications regarding such failure from the Company.

If a change in control were to take place as of December 28, 2007, and these executives are terminated
without cause or resign for good reason as of such date, the estimated severance payments and benefits that
would be provided are as follows.

Value of Value of Maximum
18 Months 24 Months Value of
Coverage  Coverage for  Accelcrated

Lump for Health Life and Vesting
Sum Cash and Dental Disability of Stock Gross-up
Payment Insurance Insurance Options Payment Total
Name ® Q1) LI )2 ) &)

Dennis Highby $4,857,640  $17,822 31,174 — — £4,876,636
Ralph W. Castner $1,598,092  $17,822 1,174 $367,844 — $1,984,932
Patrick A. Snyder $1,902,278  $17,822 31,174 § 63,564 — $1,984,838
Michael Callahan $1,902,278  §17,822 51,174 $ 63,564 — $1,984,838
Brian J. Linneman 31,496,402 $17,822 $1,174 $215,521 — $1,730,919

(I} The health, dental, life, and disability insurance payments are calculated based on the current per
employee pro rata costs accrued each month and any premiums payable to third party carriers.

(2} The maximum value of accelerated vesting of stock options was calculated by multiplying the number of
shares underlying unvested options by the closing price of our common stock as of December 28, 2007,
and then deducting the aggregate exercise price.
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1997 Stock Option Plan and 2004 Stock Plan

In addition to our management change of control severance agreements, we have granted stock options
to our named executive officers under our 1997 Stock Option Plan (the *1997 Plan™) and our 2004 Stock Pian.
The 1997 Plan and 2004 Stock Plan both contain certain change in control provisions. In the event of a change
in control, the change in control provisions contained in these plans would operate independently of those
contained in our management change of control severance agreements described above. If cash payments
were made or option vesting was accelerated under these plans as described below, our named executive
officers would not receive the value of accelerated vesting of stock options listed in the table above under
their management change of control severance agreements. In other words, the cash payments or accelerated
vesting of stock options described below would be in lieu of the value of accelerated vesting of stock options
listed in the table above.

1997 Stock Option Plan.  Inthe event ofa change in control (as defined in the 1997 Plan), each outstanding
option under the 1997 Plan would be canceled in return for a cash payment per share of common stock subject
to that option (whether or not the option is otherwise at that time vested and exercisable for all the option shares)
equal to the highest price per share paid for our common stock in effecting that change in control less the
option exercise price payable per share under the canceled option. If a change in control were to take place as
of December 28, 2007, the cash payment to each named executive officer for each outstanding option granted

.under the 1997 Plan would be as follows using the closing price of our common stock on such date.

1997 Stock Option Plan

Number of
Securities
Underlying Closing Price of Option
Outstanding Common Stock Exercise Cash Payment Option
Options on Dec. 28, 2007 Price {$)(2) minus Expiration
Name () (H2) (5)(3) (3) times (1) Date
Dennis Highby — — — — —
Ralph W. Castner 29,360 $14.80 $ 576 $265,414 07/13/2010
42,556 $14.80 § 9.13 $241,293 07/27/2011
23,504 $14.80 $ 9.3 $133,268 07/27/2011
29,360 $14.80 $11.20 £105,696 07/24/2008
Patrick A. Snyder 29,360 $14.80 $11.20 $105,096 07/24/2008
Michael Callahan 73,400 $14.80 $11.20 $264,240 07/24/2008
Brian J. Linneman 9,175 $14.80 $ 576 § 82,942 07/13/2010
11,010 $14.80 $9.13 $ 62,427 07/27/2011
38,535 $14.80 $10.11 $180,729 07/02/2012
29,360 $14.80 $11.20 $105,696 07/24/2008

However, such cash payments would not occur if in the good faith discretion of the Compensation
Committee those options are to be honored or assumed by the acquiring company or new rights substituted
therefore to acquire fully-vested, publicly-traded securities of the acquiring company ot its corporate parent
at an exercise price per share which preserves the economic value of each such option immediately prior to
the change in control.

2004 Stock Plan. In the event of a change in control (as defined in the 2004 Stock Plan), each
outstanding option under the 2004 Stock Plan would become fully vested and exercisable or, at the discretion
of the Compensation Committee, each outstanding option (whether or not the option is otherwise at that time
vested and exercisable for all the option shares) would be canceled in exchange for a payment in cash equal to
the product of (i) the excess of the change in control price over the exercise price, and (i1) the number of shares
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of common stock covered by such option. If a change in control were to take place as of December 28, 2007,
the maximum value of accelerated vesting of stock options granted under the 2004 Stock Plan would be as

follows using the closing price of our common stock on such date.

2004 Stock Plan

Number of
Securities Maximum Value of
Underlying Closing Price of Option Accelerated Vesting
Unexercisable Commeon Stock Exercise of Stock Options Option
Options on Dec. 28, 2007 Price ($)(2) minus Expiration
Name #) ($)Q2) (53 (3) times (1) Date

Dennis Highby 95,420 $14.80 $20.00 — 05/01/2014
32,600 $14.80 51935 — 05/09/2016
100,000 $14.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
Ralph W, Castner 14,680 $14.80 $13.34 $21,433 05/01/2014
2,936 $14.80 $20.00 — 05/01/2014
22,000 $14.80 $19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $14.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
Patrick A, Snyder 7,340 $14.80 $13.34 310,710 05/01/2014
22,000 514.80 $19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $i4.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
Michael Callahan 7,340 $14.80 $13.34 510,716 05/01/2014
22,000 $14.80 £19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $14.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
Brian J. Linneman 14,680 $14.80 $13.34 $21,433 05/01/2014
22,000 $14.80 $19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $14.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
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In the event the Compensation Committee selected the cash payment option, the cash payment to each
named executive officer for each outstanding option granted under the 2004 Stock Plan would be as follows
using the closing price of our common stock on December 28, 2007.

2004 Stock Plan

Number of
Securities
Underlying Closing Price of Option
QOutstanding Common Stock Exercise Cash Payment Option
Options on Dec. 28, 2007 Price ($)(2) minus Expiration
Name #)(1) ($)(2) (SH3) (3) times (1) Date
Dennis Highby 238,550 $14.80 $20.00 — 05/01/2014 .
40,000 $14.80 $20.00 — 04/14/2015
40,000 $14.80 $19.35 — 05/09/2016
100,000 $14.80 $22.37 -— 05/15/2015
Ralph W. Castner 36,700 $14.80 $13.34 $53,582 05/01/2014
7,340 $14.80 $20.00 — 05/01/2014
20,000 $14.80 $20.00 — 04/14/2015
27,500 $14.80 £19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $14.80 $22.37 —_ 05/15/2015
Patrick A. Snyder 18,350 $14.80 $13.34 $26,791 05/01/2014
20,000 $14.80 $20.00 — 04/14/2015
27,500 $14.80 $19.35 — 05/06/2016
35,000 $14.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
Michael Callahan 18,350 $14.80 $13.34 $26,791 05/01/2014
20,000 $14.80 $20.00 —_ 04/14/2015
27,500 $14.80 £19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $14.80 $22.37 — 05/15/2015
Brian J. Linneman 36,700 $14.80 $13.34 $53,582 05/01/2014
20,000 $14.80 $20.00 — 04/14/2015
27,500 $14.80 $19.35 — 05/09/2016
35,000 $14.80 $£22.37 — 05/15/2015

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Compensation Committee determined before the change in control
that all outstanding awards of options would be honored or assumed by the acquirer, or alternative awards with
equal or better terms would be made available, such outstanding awards of options would not be canceled,
their vesting and exercisability would not be accelerated, and there would be no payment in exchange for such
awards.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

During 2007, we paid our non-employee directors an annual retainer of $33,000 and a fee of $2,500
for each Board meeting attended (81,000 for meetings attended by telephone). We also paid the Lead
Director an annual retainer of $10,000, the Chairman of the Audit Committee an annual retainer of $15,000,
the Chairman of the Compensation Committee an annual retainer of $10,000, and the Chairman of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee an annual retainer of $10,000. In addition, each member
of the Audit Committee (including the Chairman) was paid an annual retainer of $15,000, each member of
the Compensation Committee (including the Chairman) was paid an annual retainer of $10,000, and each
member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (including the Chairman) was paid an
annual retainer of $10,000. Directors whao are employees of the Company receive no compensation for their
service as directors.

We promptly reimburse all non-employee directors for reasonable expenses incurred to attend Board
meetings. In addition, non-employee directors are eligible to receive option grants under our 2004 Stock Plan.
Under this plan, each of our non-employee directors is automatically granted an initial option to purchase
2,000 shares of our common stock upon the date the non-employee director first joins our Board. [n addition,
subject to certain restrictions in the plan, each non-employee director also will be automatically granted an
annual option to purchase 2,000 shares of our common stock on the date immediately following our annual
meeting of shareholders. The exercise price for each of these options will be the fair market value of the stock
underlying the option on the date of the grant. The initial and annual option grants to non-employee directors
vest on the first anniversary of the grant date.

As an emeritus director, Mr. Matzke receives an annual retainer of $35,000. Mr. Matzke is reimbursed
for his travel expenses to attend Board and committee meetings, and is entitled to indemnification in his role
as an emeritus director.

The table below summarizes the compensation paid to our non-employee directors for the fiscal year
ended December 29, 2007.

Change in

Pension

Value and

Nonqualified
Fees Earned Non-Equity Deferred
or Paid in Stock Option  Incentive Plan Compensation All Other
Name Cash Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
() ($)2) 3) $)3) (5) $ $) (5)
Theodore M. Armstrong  § 98,940 —  $17,219 — — —_— $ 116,159
John H. Edmondson $ 18,008 — $ 3,731 $ 21,739
John Gottschalk $ 87,500 — $£17.219 — — — $104,719
Reuben Mark $ 79969 — 517,219 — — — $ 97,188
Gerald E. Matzke

(emeritus director) $ 35000 — — — — — $ 35,000
Michael R. McCarthy $107,500 — $17.219 — — — $124719
Stephen P. Murray $ 66000 — § 9873 — — - 3 75,873

(I) Richard N. Cabela, the Company’s executive Chairman, James W. Cabela, the Company’s executive Vice
Chairman, and Dennis Highby, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, are not included
in this table as they are employees of the Company and thus receive no compensation for their service
as directors. The compensation received by Mr. Highby as an employee of the Company is shown in the
Summary Compensation Table on page 20. Compensation received by Messrs. R. Cabela and J. Cabela
is not required to be presented in the Surmmary Compensation Table pursuant to the rules of the SEC
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because neither served as the Company’s principal executive officer or principal financial officer, or was
one of the Company’s other three most highly compensated executive officers, at any time during fiscal
2007.

The amount shown is the amount carned during fiscal 2007 by our non-employee directors. Our non-
employee directors are paid annual retainer amounts in four quarterly installments. These instaliments
are paid at the beginning of each quarter. Fees earned for meeting attendance during a quarter are paid
at the beginning of the following quarter. The amount shown includes $20,000 for each of Messrs.
Armstrong and McCarthy for fees earned as a director of World’s Foremost Bank, our wholly-owned
bank subsidiary.

Reflects the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes for fiscal 2007 in
accordance with FAS 123R, and thus includes amounts from awards granted in and prior to fiscal 2007.
Refer to Note 18 “Stock Based Compensation and Stock Option Plans” in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2008, for the
relevant assumptions used to determine the valuation of our option awards. The grant date fair value of
each stock option award granted to Messrs. Armstrong, Gottschalk, Mark, McCarthy, and Murray in
fiscal 2007 was $15,712. The grant date fair value of the stock option award granted to Mr. Edmondsen
in fiscal 2007 was $16,454. As of December 29, 2007, each director had the following number of stock
options outstanding: Mr. Armstrong, 6,000; Mr. Edmondson, 2,000; Mr. Gottschalk, 8,000; Mr. Mark,
8,000; Mr. Matzke (emeritus director), 9,340; Mr. McCarthy, 13,340; and Mr. Murray, 4,000.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth, as of March 17, 2008 {except as noted below), the number and percentage
of outstanding shares of our common stock beneficially owned by each person known by us to beneficially
own more than 5% of such stock, by each director and named executive officer, and by all directors and
executive officers as a group.

Except as otherwise noted below, the address for those individuals for which an address is not otherwise
indicated is cfo Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160,

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Except as otherwise
indicated in the footnotes to the table below, we believe that the beneficial owners of the common stock listed
below, based on the information furnished by such owners, have sole voting power and investment power with
respect to such shares, subject to applicable community property laws. We have based our calculation of the
percentage of beneficial ownership on 66,011,696 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 17, 2008.

In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage
ownership of that person, we deemed outstanding shares of common stock as to which the person has the
right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days of March 17, 2008, through the exercise of any option,
conversion rights, or other rights. We did not deem these shares outstanding for purposes of computing the
percentage ownership of any other persen.

Number of Shares Percentage of Shares

of Common Stock of Common Stock
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned  Beneficially Owned

5% Shareholders
Richard N. Cabela (1) 9,644,780 14.60%
Mary A. Cabela (2) 9,628,200 14.59%
James W, Cabela (3) 11,726,260 17.76%
HBK Investments L.P. (4) 6,200,000 9.39%
Wallace R. Weitz & Company (3) 3,912,865 5.93%
McCarthy Group, LLC (6) 3,589,471 5.44%
Directors and Named Executive Officers
Dennis Highby (7) 978,258 1.48%
Patrick A. Snyder (8) 337,598 *
Michael Callahan (%) 422429 *
Brian J. Linneman (10) 174,819 *
Ralph W. Castner (11) 274,798 *
Theodore M. Armstrong (12) 13,000 *
John. H. Edmondson (13) 4,500 *
John Gottschalk (14) 215,711 *
Reuben Mark (15) 28,000 *
Gerald E. Matzke (emeritus director) (16) 33,195 *
Michae! R. McCarthy (17) 3,693,826 5.59%
Stephen P. Murray (18) 39,600 *
All Directors and Executive Officers

(15 persons) (19) 27,653,077 41.33%
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*Less than 1% of total.

M

@)

)
@)

&)

Includes (a) 8,576,358 shares of commen stock held by Cabela’s Family, LLC with respect to which
Mr. R. Cabela has shared investment power and sole voting power, (b) 87,606 shares of common stock
held by Cabela’s Family, LLC with respect to which Mr. R. Cabela has shared investment power, but not
voting power, (c) 879,236 shares of common stock held by the M.A. Cabela 2006 Irrevocable Annuity
Trust dated August 23, 2006, (d) 40,000 shares of common stock held by Mudhead Investments, LLC
with respect to which Mr. R. Cabela has shared investment power and shared voting power, () 45,000
shares of common stock held by the Cabela Family Foundation with respect to which Mr. R. Cabela has
shared investment power and shared voting power, and (f) 12,580 shares of common stock held in our
401(k) Plan.

Includes (a) 87,606 shares of common stock held by Cabela’s Family, LLC, with respect to which
Mrs. Cabela has shared investment power and sole voting power, (b) 8,576,358 shares of common stock
held by Cabela’s Family, LLC with respect to which Mrs. Cabela has shared investment power, but not
voting power, {c) 879,236 shares of common stock held by the M.A. Cabela 2006 Irrevocable Annuity
Trust dated August 23, 2006, (d) 40,000 shares of common stock held by Mudhead Investments, LLC
with respect to which Mrs. Cabela has shared investment power and shared voting power, and (g) 45,000
shares of common stock held by the Cabela Family Foundation with respect to which Mrs. Cabela has
shared investment power and shared voting power. Mrs. Cabela disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares of common stock held by the M.A. Cabela 2006 Irrevocable Annuity Trust dated August 23,
2006, except to the extent of her pecuniary interest therein.

Includes 10,402 shares of common stock held in our 401(k) Plan.

This is based on an Amendment to Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 1, 2008, by HBK
Investments, L.P., HBK Services LLC, HBK Partners I[ L.P., HBK Management LLC, and HBK Master
Fund L.P. According to the Schedule 13G/A, HBK Investments, L.P., HBK Services LLC, HBK Partners
il L.P, HBK Management LLC, and HBK Master Fund L.P. had shared voting power and shared
dispositive power with regard to 6,200,000 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2007. Also
according to the Schedule 13G/A, HBK Investments L.P. has delegated discretion to vote and dispose of
the securities to HBK Services LLC (“Services™). Services may, from time to time, delegate discretion to
vote and dispose of certain of the securities to HBK New York LLC, HBK Virginia LLC, HBK Europe
Management LLP, and/or HBK Hong Kong Ltd. (collectively, the “Subadvisors™). Each of Services
and the Subadvisors is under common control with HBK Investments L.P. The Subadvisors expressly
declare that the filing of the statement on Schedule 13G shall not be construed as an admission that they
are, for the purpose of Section 13(d) or 13(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, beneficial owners
of the securities. Also according to the Schedule 13G/A, Jamiel A. Akhtar, Richard L. Booth, David
C. Haley, Lawrence H. Lebowitz, and William E. Rose are each managing members (collectively, the
“Members™) of HBK Management LLC. The Members expressly declare that the filing of the statement
on Schedule 13G shall not be construed as an admission that they are, for the purpose of Section 13(d} ot
13(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, beneficial owners of the securities. The address for HBK
Investments, L.P., HBK Services LLC, HBK Partners II L.P.,, HBK Management LLC, and HBK Master
Fund L.P. is 300 Crescent Court, Suite 700, Dallas, Texas 75201.

This is based on a Schedule 13G fited with the SEC on January 11, 2008, by Wallace R. Weitz &
Company and Wallace R, Weitz. According to the Schedule 13G, Wallace R. Weitz & Company had sole
voting power with regard to 3,829,865 shares of common stock and sole dispositive power with regard
to 3,912,865 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2007. Also according to the Schedule 13G,
Mr. Weitz, as the President and primary owner of Wallace R. Weitz & Company, may be deemed to be
an indirect beneficial owner of the securities reported on the statement. Also according to the Schedule
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(14)

(15)

(16)
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13G, Mr. Weitz does not directly or indirectly own any of the securities reported on the statement for his
own account. The address for Wallace R. Weitz & Company and Wallace R. Weitz is 1125 South 1037
Street, Suite 600, Omaha, Nebraska 68124,

Includes (a) 3,032,016 shares of common stock held by MGL Holdings, LLC, or Holdings, and (b) 557,455
shares of Common Stock held by Fulcrum Micro-Cap, L.L.C., or Micro-Cap. Michael R. McCarthy, one of
our directors, is the Chairman of McCarthy Group, LLC, or MGL. Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of MGL.. McCarthy Capital Corporation is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of MGL and also the
manager of Holdings and Micro-Cap. The address for McCarthy Group, LLC is First National Tower,
1601 Dodge Street, Suite 3800, Omaha, Nebraska 68102.

Includes (a) 85,792 shares of common stock held by a Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, (b) 14,595 shares
of common stock held in our 401(k) Plan, and (c) 280,173 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock options within 60 days of March 17, 2008. Mr. Highby disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares of common stock held by the Grantor Retained Annuity Trust except to the extent of his pecuniary
interest therein.

Includes (a) 22,020 shares of common stock held by a Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, (b) 12,351 shares
of common stock held in cur 401(k) Plan, and {c) 86,707 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock options within 60 days of March 17, 2008. Mr. Snyder disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares of common stock held by the Grantor Retained Annuity Trust except to the extent of his pecuniary
interest therein.

Includes (a) 35,699 shares of common stock held by a Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, (b) 13,308 shares
of common stock held in our 401(k) Plan, and (¢) 130,747 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock options within 60 days of March 17, 2008. Mr. Callahan disclaims beneficial ownership of
the shares of common stock held by the Grantor Retained Annuity Trust except to the extent of his
pecuniary interest therein.

Includes (a) 314 shares of common stock held in our 401(k) Plan and (b) 138,087 shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of March 17, 2008.

Includes (a) 119 shares of common stock held in our 401(k) Plan and (b) 173,319 shares of common stock
issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of March 17, 2008.

Includes 6,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of
March 17, 2008. The address for Mr. Armstrong is 7730 Carondelet, Suite 103, St. Louis, Missouri 63105.

The address for Mr. Edmondson is 12112 Rancho Vistoso Boulevard, Suite A-150, Qro Valley,
Arizona 857535, '

Includes 8,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days
of March 17, 2008. The address for Mr. Gottschalk is 1314 Douglas Street, Suite 1500, Omaha,
Nebraska 68102.

Includes 8,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of
March 17, 2008, and 20,000 shares pledged as security. The address for Mr. Mark is c/o Colgate-
Palmolive Company, 300 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10022.

Includes 9,340 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of
March 17, 2008. The address for Mr. Matzke is 907 Jackson Street, P.O. Box 316, Sidney, Nebraska 69162.

Mr. McCarthy’s beneficial ownership includes (a) 13,340 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock options within 60 days of March 17, 2008, (b) 3,032,016 shares of common stock held by MGL
Holdings, LLC, or Holdings, and (c) 557,455 shares of Common Stock held by Fulcrum Micro-Cap, L.L.C.,
or Micro-Cap. Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of McCarthy Group, LLC, or MGL. McCarthy
Capital Corporation is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of MGL and also the manager of Holdings
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and Micro-Cap. Mr. McCarthy is the Chairman of MGL. Although Mr. McCarthy may be deemed the
beneficial owner of the shares held by Holdings and Micro-Cap, he disclaims beneficial ownership of
these shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. The address for Mr. McCarthy is ¢/o
McCarthy Group, LLC, First National Tower, 1601 Diodge Street, Suite 3800, Omaha, Nebraska 63102.

(18) Includes 4,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of March
17, 2008. The address of Mr. Murray is ¢/o CCMP Cupital Advisors, LLC, 245 Park Avenue, New York,
New York 10167.

(19) Includes (a) 895,473 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options within 60 days of
March 17, 2008, (b) 8,576,358 shares of common stock with respect to which our directors and officers
have shared investment power and sole voting power, (c) 87,606 shares of common stock with respect
to which our directors and officers have shared investment power, but not voting power, and (d) 85,000
shares of common stock with respect to which our directors and officers have shared investment power
and shared voting power.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our officers and directors,
and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC
and NYSE reports of ownership of our securities and changes in reported ownership. Based solely on a review
of the reports furnished to us, or written representations from reporting persons that all reportable transactions
were reported, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2007, our officers, directors, and
greater than ten percent owners timely filed all reports they were required to file under Section 16(a).

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy and procedures for review, approval, and monitoring of
transactions involving the Company and “related persons” (directors, executive officers, shareholders owning
more than five percent of any class of the Company’s voting securities, and any immediate family member of
any of the foregoing). The policy covers any transaction, arrangement, or relationship in which the Company
was, is, or will be a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000, and in which any related person
had, has, or will have a direct or indirect interest.

Related person transactions must be approved or ratified by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
will approve or ratify only those related person transactions that are in, or are not inconsistent with, the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders, as the Committee determines in good faith. In considering
the transaction, the Audit Committee will consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances available to
the Committee, including (if applicable), but not limited to: the benefits to the Company; the impact on a
director’s independence in the event the related person is a director, an immediately family member of a
director, or an entity in which a director is a partner, shareholder, or executive officer; the availability of other
sources for comparable products or services; the terms of the transaction; and the terms available to unrelated
third parties or to employees generally. No member of the Audit Committee will participate in any review,
consideration, or approval of any related person transaction with respect to which such member or any of his
or her immediate famity members is the related person.

The Audit Committee will annually review any previously approved or ratified related person transactions
that remain ongoing. Based on all relevant facts and circumstances, taking into consideration the Company’s
contractual obligations, the Audit Committee will determine if it is in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders to continue, modify, or terminate the related person transactions,
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PROPOSAL TWO -
APPROVAL OF PERFORMANCE BONUS PLAN

The Company is proposing for shareholder approval the Cabela’s Incorporated Performance Bonus
Plan (the “Performance Bonus Plan™). The Company is seeking shareholder approval of the Performance
Bonus Plan at the Annual Meeting in order to meet requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and preserve the tax deductibility of certain performance-based awards that are
intended by the Company to be deductible. Section 162{m) generally provides that we may not take a federal
income tax deduction for compensation in excess of $1,000,000 paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the
three other most highly compensated executive officers (except for the Chief Financial Officer) in any one
year. However, Section 162{m) does not preclude us from taking a federal income tax deduction for certain
qualifying performance-based compensation paid to an executive officer in a year even if that compensation
exceeds $1,000,000. The Performance Bonus Pian is structured to satisfy the requirements for performance-
based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) and related regulations. Section 162(m) requires
that certain material terms of the Performance Bonus Plan be approved by our shareholders. Shareholder
approval of the Performance Bonus Plan will also constitute approval of (i) the performance criteria upon
which performance-based awards that are intended to be deductible by the Company under Section 162(m)
may be based under the Performance Bonus Plan; (ii) the annual per-participant limit of $5 million for any
bonus award; and (iii) the classes of employees eligible to receive awards under the Performance Bonus
Plan.

Description of the Performance Bonus Plan

The description of the Performance Bonus Plan set forth below is a summary, does not purport to
be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of the Performance Bonus Plan itself. The
complete text of the Performance Bonus Plan is attached as Appendix C to this Proxy Statement. Our Board
has approved the Performance Bonus Plan, effective February 12, 2008.

Purpose. Thepurpose of the Performance Bonus Planistoestablisha program of incentive compensation
for designated officers and/or key executive employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and divisions that
is directly related to the performance results of the Company and such employees. The Performance Bonus
Plan provides performance incentives, contingent upon continued employment and meeting certain corporate
goals, to certain key executives who make substantial contributions to the Company.

Administration. The Performance Bonus Plan will be administered by either (i) the Compensation
Committee of the Board or (ii) a committee selected by the Board to administer the Performance Bonus Plan
and composed of not less than two directors, each of whom is an “outside director,” within the meaning of
Section 162(m).

The Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion, will determine eligibility for participation,
establish the maximum award which may be carned by each participant (which may be expressed in terms of
dollar amount, percentage of salary, or any other measurement), establish goals for each participant (which
may be objective or subjective, and based on individual, Company, subsidiary and/or division performance),
calculate and determine each participant’s level of attainment of such goals, and calculate the bonus award
for each participant based upon such level of attainment. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the
Performance Bonus Pian, the Compensation Committee has the full power and authority to construe, interpret,
and administer the Performance Bonus Plan, including the power to amend or terminate the Performance
Bonus Plan as further described below. The Compensation Committee may at any time adopt such rules,
regulations, policies, or practices as, in its sole discretion, it determines to be necessary or appropriate for the
administration of] or the performance of its respective responsibilities under, the Performance Bonus Plan.
The Compensation Committee may at any time amend, modify, suspend, or terminate such rules, regulations,
policies, or practices.
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Eligibility.  Participants in the Performance Bonus Plan will be selected by the Compensation Committee
for each performance period from those officers and key executives of the Company and its subsidiaries
whose efforts contribute materially to the success of the Company. No employee will be a participant unless
he or she is selected by the Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion. No employee will at any time have
the right to be selected as a participant nor, having been selected as a participant for one performance period,
to be selected as a participant in any other performance period.

Bonus Awards and Performance Goals. The Compensation Committee, based upon information to be
supplied by management of the Company and, where determined as necessary by the Board, the ratification of
the Board, will establish for each performance period a maxtmum award (and, if the Compensation Committee
deems appropriate, a floor, threshold, and/or target award) and goals relating to Company, subsidiary,
divisional, departmental, and/or functional performance for each participant and communicate such award
levels and goals to each participant prior to or during the performance period for which such award may be
made. For purposes of the Performance Bonus Plan, the performance period is the fiscal year of the Company
during which performance is measured to determine the level of attainment of a bonus award. Bonus awards
will be earned by each participant based upon the level of attainment of his or her goals during the applicable
performance period; provided that the Compensation Commistee may reduce the amount of any bonus award
in its sole and absolute discretion. As soon as practicable after the end of the applicable performance period,
the Compensation Committee will determine the level of attainment of the goals for each participant and the
bonus award to be made to each participant.

162(m) Performance Criteria. The performance goals applicable for bonus awards intended to qualify
as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m} (“162(m) Bonus Awards”) will be based on
objective performance criteria established by the Compensation Committee (*162(m) Performance Criteria™)
and measured in terms of one or mere of the following objectives: (i) carnings before or after taxes, intercst,
depreciation, and/or amortization; (i) net earnings (before or after taxes); (iii) net income (before or after
taxes), (iv) operating income before or after depreciation and amortization (and including or excluding
capital expenditures); (v) operating income (before or after taxes); (vi) operating profit (before or after taxes);
(vii) book value; (viii) earnings per share (before or after taxes); (ix) market share; (x) return measures
(including, but not limited to, return on capital, invested capital, assets, cquity); (xi} margins; (xii) share
price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total shareholder returny); (xiii) comparable or same
store sales; (xiv) sales or product volume growth; (xv) productivity improvement or operating efficiency;
(xvi) costs or expenses; (xvii) shareholders’ equity; (xviii) revenues or sales; (xix) cash flow (including, but not
limited to, operating cash flow, free cash flow, and cash flow return on capital); (xx) revenue-generating unit-
based metrics; (xxi) expense targets; (xxii) individual performance objectives; (xxiii} working capital targets;
(xxiv) measures of economic value added; (xxv) inventory control; or (xxvi) enterprise value.

The foregoing 162(m) Performance Criteria may relate to the Company, one or more of its affiliates, or
one or more of its or their divisions or units, or departments or functions, or any combination of the foregoing,
and may be applied on an absolute basis and/or be relative to one or more peer group companies or indices,
or any combination thereof, all as the Compensation Committee will determine. In addition, to the degree
consistent with Section 162(m) (or any successor section thzreto), the 162(m) Performance Criteria may be
calculated without regard to extraordinary items.

Each grant of a 162(m) Bonus Award will specify the 162(m) Performance Criteria to be achieved, a
minimum acceptable level of achievement below which no payment or award will be made, and a formula
for determining the amount of any payment or award to be made if performance is at or above the minimum
acceptable level but falls short of full achievement of the specified 162(m) Performance Criteria.

If the Compensation Committee determines that a change in the business, operations, corporate
structure, or capital structure of the Company, or the manner in which it conducts its business, or other events
or circumstances render the 162(m) Performance Criteria to be unsuitable, the Compensation Committee may
modify such 162(m) Performance Criteria or the related minimum acceptable level of achievement, in whole
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or in part, as the Compensation Committee deems appropriate and equitable; provided, however, that no such
modification will be made if the effect would be to cause a 162(m) Bonus Award to fail to qualify for the
performance-based compensation exception to Section 162(m). In addition, at the time performance goals are
established as to a 162(m) Bonus Award, the Compensation Committee is authorized to determine the manner
in which the related 162(m) Performance Criteria will be calculated or measured to take into account certain
factors over which the participant has no control or limited control including changes in industry margins,
general economic conditions, interest rate movements, and changes in accounting principles.

162(m) Bonus Awards. Unless determined otherwise by the Compensation Committee, each bonus
award awarded under the Performance Bonus Plan will be a 162(m) Bonus Award and will be subject to the
following requirements, notwithstanding any other provision of the Performance Bonus Plan to the contrary:

. No 162(m} Bonus Award may be paid unless and until the shareholders of the Company have
approved the Performance Bonus Plan in a manner which complies with the shareholder approval
requirements of Section 162(m).

J A 162(m) Bonus Award may be made only by a committee which is comprised solely of not less
than two directors, each of whom is an “outside director” (within the meaning of Section 162(m)).

. The performance goals to which a 162(m) Bonus Award is subject must be based solely on 162(m)
Performance Criteria. Such performance goals, and the maximum, target, and/or threshold (as
applicable) bonus amount payable upon attainment thereof, must be established by the Compensation
Committee within the time limits required in order for the 162(m) Bonus Award to qualify for the
performance-based compensation exception to Section 162(m).

. No 162(m) Bonus Award may be paid until the Compensation Committee has certified the level of
attainment of the applicable performance criteria.

. The maximum amount of a 162(m) Bonus Award is $5 million to a single participant.

Payment of Bonus Awards. Bonus awards earned during any performance period will be paid as soon
as practicable following the end of such performance period and the determination of the amount thereof will
be made by the Compensation Committee. Payment of bonus awards will be made in the form of cash, Bonus
award amounts earned but not yet paid will not accrue interest.

Termination of Employmenr. A participant will be eligible to receive payment of his or her bonus
award earned during a performance period, so long as the participant is employed on the last day of such
performance period, notwithstanding any subsequent termination of employment prior to the actual payment
of the bonus award.

Transferability. A participant may not assign, sell, encumber, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any
rights or interests under the Performance Bonus Plan except by will or the laws of descent and distribution.
Any attempted disposition in contravention of the preceding sentence will be null and void.

Reorganization or Discontinuance. The obligations of the Company under the Performance Bonus
Plan will be binding upon any successor corporation or organization resulting from merger, consolidation,
or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any successor corporation or organization succeeding to
substantially all of the assets and business of the Company. The Company will make appropriate provision
for the preservation of participants’ rights under the Performance Bonus Plan in any agreement or plan which
it may enter into or adopt to effect any such merger, consolidation, reorganization, or transfer of assets. If the
business conducted by the Company will be discontinued, any previously earned and unpaid bonus awards
under the Performance Bonus Plan will become immediately payable to the participants then entitled thereto.

Section 4094. To the extent applicable, notwithstanding anything in the Performance Bonus Plan to
the contrary, the Performance Bonus Plan and all bonus awards (including 162(m) Bonus Awards) will be
interpreted in accordance with Section 409A and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretative
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guidance issued thereunder, including, without limitation, any such regulations or other guidance that may
be issued after the effective date of the Performance Bonus Plan. Notwithstanding any provision of the
Performance Bonus Plan to the contrary, in the event that the Compensation Committee determines that any
amounts payable under the Performance Bonus Plan will be taxable to a participant under Section 409A and
related Department of Treasury guidance, prior to payment to such participant of such amount, the Company
may (i) adopt such amendments to the Performance Bonus Plan and bonus awards (including 162(m) Bonus
Awards) and appropriate policies and procedures, including amendments and policies with retroactive
effect, that the Compensation Committee determines necessary or appropriate to preserve the intended tax
treatment of the benefits provided by the Performance Bonus Plan and the bonus awards (including 162(m)
Bonus Awards) and/or (b) take such other actions as the Corapensation Committee determines necessary or
appropriate to avoid or limit the imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A.

Termination or Amendment of Performance Bonus Plan. The Compensation Committee may amend,
suspend, or terminate the Performance Bonus Plan at any time; provided that no amendment may be made
without the approval of the Company’s shareholders if the effect of such amendment would be to cause
outstanding or pending 162(m) Bonus Awards to cease to qualify for the performance-based compensation
exception to Section 162(m).

Awards Under the Performance Bonus Plan

No payments have yet been made in respect of awards granted under the Performance Bonus Plan. The
amount of the actual bonus payments that may be made under the Performance Bonus Plan will be determined
by the Compensation Committee in its discretion. It is, therefore, not possible to predict the actual amounts
that will be paid to particular individuals in the future under the Performance Bonus Plan.

Conclusion

The Company believes that its best interests will be szrved by the approval of the Performance Bonus
Plan. The Performance Bonus Plan will enable the Company to be in a position to continue to grant performance
cash incentive awards while preserving, where appropriate, the tax deductibility of these awards.

Vote Required for Approval

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the common stock present in person or represented
by proxy at the Annual Meeting is required to approve the Performance Bonus Plan.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE PROPOSAL.

PROPOSAL THREE -
RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has selected Deloitte & Touchs LLP, or Deloitte, as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2008, and the Board is asking shareholders to ratify that selection.
Although current law, rules, and regulations, as weil as the charter of the Audit Committee, require the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm to be engaged, retained, and supervised by the
Audit Committee, the Board considers the selection of the independent registered public accounting firm to
be an important matter of shareholder concern and is submitting the selection of Deloitte for ratification by
shareholders as a matter of good corporate practice.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE PROPOSAL.
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Representatives of Deloitte are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting, They will have the
opportunity to make a statement and will be available to respond to appropriate questions. [f the shareholders
should fail to ratify the selection of Deloitte as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm
for fiscal 2008, the Audit Committee will designate the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm for fiscal 2008,

The following table shows the aggregate fees billed to us for professional services by Deloitte for fiscal
years 2007 and 2006:

Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006

Audit Fees $1,022,099 §1,029,458
Audit-Related Fees 83,901 65,708
Tax Fees 3,900 5,580
All Other Fees — —

Total Fees $ 1,109,900 § 1,100,746

A description of the types of services provided in each category is as follows:

Audit Fees — For fiscal 2007 and 2006, includes fees for professional services and expenses relating to
the audit of our annual financial statements, review of our quarterly financial information, and the audit of aur
internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

Audit-Related Fees — For fiscal 2007 and 2006, includes fees for professional services and expenses
relating to work for our wholly-owned bank subsidiary, World’s Foremost Bank, as 1t relates to the bank’s
securitization transactions. Fiscal 2007 also includes fees for professional services and expenses related to the
filing of a Registration Statement of Form S-8,

Tax Fees — For fiscal 2007 and 2006, consists of work for tax compliance and consulting related to the
Company’s operations in Hong Kong.

None of the services described above were approved pursuant to the de minimis exception provided
in Rule 2-01(c)(7)(i{C) of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC. The Audit Committee also concluded
that Deloitte’s provision of audit and non-audit services to the Company and its affiliates is compatible with
Deloitte’s independence.

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of audit and permitted non-audit
services that may be performed by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. Under
this policy, each year, at the time it engages the independent registered public accounting firm, the Audit
Committee pre-approves the audit engagement terms and fees and also may pre-approve detailed types of
audit-related and permitted tax and other services, subject to certain dollar limits, to be performed during the
next twelve months. All other non-audit services are required to be pre-approved by the Audit Committee on
an engagement-by-engagement basis, subject to those exceptions that may be permitted by applicable law. The
Audit Committee may delegate its authority to pre-approve services to one or more of its members, whose
activities shall be reported to the Audit Committee at each regularly scheduled meeting,
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PROPOSALS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR 2009 ANNUAL MEETING

If you would like to present a proposal for possible inclusion in our 2009 Proxy Statement pursuant to
the SEC’s rules, send the proposal to our Secretary, Cabela's, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160.
Proposals must be received by December 1, 2008.

Shareholders who want to bring business before the annual meeting of sharcholders in 2009 other than
through a shareholder proposal pursuant to the SEC’s rules must notify our Secretary in writing and provide
the information required by the provision of our Amended and Restated Bylaws dealing with shareholder
proposals. The notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 120 days prior to the
date of the annual meeting of shareholders in 2008. The reguirements for such notice are set forth in our
Amended and Restated Bylaws. You may request a copy of our Amended and Restated Bylaws by writing to
our Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska §9160. The Company reserves the right to reject,
rule out of order, or take other appropriate action with respect to any proposal that does not comply with these
and other applicable requirements.

OTHER MATTERS

The Board does not intend to bring any other business before the Annual Meeting, and so far as is known
to the Board, no matters are to be brought before the Annual Meeting except as specified in the notice of the
meeting. In addition to the scheduled items of business, shareholder proposals (including proposals omitted
from the Proxy Statement and proxy card pursuant to the proxy rules of the SEC) and matters relating to
the conduct of the Annual Meeting may be considered at the Annual Meeting. As to any other business that
may propetly come before the Annual Meeting, it is intended that proxies will be voted in respect thereof in
accordance with the judgment of the persons voting such proxies.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed by us with the SEC (excluding exhibits), is a portion of the
Annual Report that is being furnished to our shareholders as set forth in the Notice of Internet Availability.
Our Annual Report will be mailed to those shareholders who request to receive written proxy materials.
However, such Annual Report, including the Annual Report on Form 10-K, is not to be considered part of
this proxy solicitation material. A copy of exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K will be provided
upon request to our Secretary, Cabela’s, One Cabela Drive, Sidney, Nebraska 69160 upon the payment of a
reasonable fee to furnish such exhibits.

DATED: Sidney, Nebraska, March 31, 2008,
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APPENDIX A

CABELA’S INCORPORATED
INDEPENDENCE GUIDELINES AND CATEGORICAL STANDARDS

The Board intends that, except during periods of temporary vacancies, a majority of the directors will be
independent directors, as independence is determined by the Board, based on the guidelines set forth below.
Directors who do not satisfy these independence guidelines also make valuable contributions to the Board and
to the Company by reason of their experience and wisdom.

The Board has established the following guidelines to assist it in determining director independence, which
conform to or exceed the independence requirements in the New York Stock Exchange listing requirements.
In addition to applying these guidelines, the Board will consider all relevant facts and circumstances in
making an independence determination, and not merely from the standpoint of the director, but also from that
of persons or organizations with which the director has an affiliation.

For a director to be considered independent, the Board must determine that the director does not have
any direct or indirect material relationship with the Company. In addition:

i.

ii.

iii.

vi.

A director who is an employee, or whose immediate family member is an executive officer, of the
Company is not independent until three years after the end of such employment relationship.

A director who receives any direct compensation from the Company, other than director and
committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation for prior service (provided
such compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service), or whose immediate family
member receives more than $100,000 per year in direct compensation, is not independent until
three years after such compensation has been received.

A director who is affiliated with or employed by, or whose immediate family member is
employed in a professional capacity by, a present or former internal or external auditor of the
Company is not independent until three years after the end of the affiliation or the employment or
auditing relationship.

A director who is employed, or whose immediate family member is employed, as an executive
officer of another company where any of the Company’s present executives serve on that company’s
compensation committee is not independent until three years after the end of such service or the
employment relationship.

A director who is employed by, or whose immediate family member is an executive officer of,
a company that makes payments to, or receives payments from, the Company for property or
services in an amount which, in any single fiscal year, exceeds the greater of $I million, or 2%
of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues, is not independent until three years after
falling below such threshold.

A director who has a direct or indirect material interest (as determined by the Board), or whose
immediate family member has a ditect or indirect material interest (as determined by the Board), in
any transaction since the beginning of the Company’s last fiscal year, or any proposed transaction,
in which the Company was or is to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000 is
not independent until one year after completion of the transaction.

The Board has determined that the following relationships are categorically immaterial and shall not
disqualify a director or nominee from being considered independent.
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ii.

iii.

A director, or an immediate family member of a director, is affiliated with, or is a partner,
employee, officer, director, or less than 25% owner of, a company that makes or has made payments
to, or receives or has received payments (other than contributions, if the entity is a tax—exempt
organization) from, the Company for property or services, and the amount of such payments has
not within any of such other company’s three most recently completed fiscal years exceeded the
greater of $1 million or 1% of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues for such year.

A director, or an immediate family member of a director, is affiliated with, or is a partner,
employee, officer, director, or less than 25% owner of, a bank, savings and loan association,
insurance company, or other institutional lender that makes or has made loans to the Company
(which shall include the purchase of notes or other debt instruments), and the amount of such loans
has not within any of such lender’s three most recently completed fiscal years exceeded 1% of such
lender’s, or 10% of the Company’s, consolidated gross assets.

A director, or an immediate family member of a director, is affiliated with, or is a partner,
employee, officer, director, or less than 25% owner of, a paid advisor, paid consultant, or paid
provider of professional services to any member of the Company’s senior management or Board,
or any immediate family member of a member of the Company’s senior management or Board, and
the amount of such payments has not within any of such firm’s three most recently completed fiscal
years exceeded the greater of $250,000 or 1% of such other firm’s consolidated gross revenues for
such year.

A director, or an immediate family member of a director, is a trustee, fiduciary, director, or officer
of a tax-exempt organization to which the Company contributes, and the contributions to such
organization by the Company have not within any of such organization’s three most recently
completed fiscal years excecded the greater of $250,000 or 1% of such organization’s consolidated
gross revenues for such year,




APPENDIX B

CABELA’S INCORPORATED
QUALIFICATIONS AND SPECIFIC QUALITIES AND SKILLS REQUIRED FOR DIRECTORS

Board Membership Criteria

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee works with the Board on a regular basis to
determine the appropriate characteristics, skills and experience for the Board as a whole and its individual
members with the objective of having a Board with diverse backgrounds and appropriate experience. In
evaluating the suitability of individual Board members, the Board takes into account many factors, including
general understanding of marketing, finance and other disciplines relevant to the success of a growing publicly
traded company in today’s business environment, understanding of the Company’s business, educational and
professional background, and personal accomplishment. The Board evaluates each individual in the context
of the Board as a whole, with the objective of recommending a group that can best perpetuate the success of
the Company’s business and represent stockholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment, using its
diversity of experience. In determining whether to recommend a director for re-election, the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee also considers the director’s past attendance at meetings and participation
in and contributions to the activities of the Board.

Personal Characteristics and Core Competencies of Directors
Individual directors should possess all of the following personal characteristics:

. Integrity and Accountabiliry - Character is the primary consideration in evaluating any Board
member. Directors should demonstrate high ethical standards and integrity in their personal
and professional dealings and be willing to act on and remain accountable for their boardroom
decisions.

. Informed Judgment - Board members should have the ability to provide wise, thoughtful counsel
on a broad range of issues. Directors should possess high intelligence and wisdom and apply it in
decision making.

*  Financial Literacy - One of the important roles of the Board is to monitor the Company’s financial
performance. Board members should be financially literate. Directors should know how to read
a balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement, and understand the use of financial
ratios and other indices for evaluating Company performance.

. Mature Confidence - The Board functions best when directors value Board and team performance
over individual performance. Openness to other opinions and the willingness to listen should
rank as highly as the ability to communicate persuasively. Board members should approach others
assertively, responsibly and supportively and raise tough questions in a manner that encourages
open discussion.

. High Performance Standards - 1n today’s highly competitive world, only companies capable of
performing at the highest levels are likely to prosper. Board members should have a history of
achievements that reflect high standards for themselves and others.

. Passion - Directors should be passionate about the performance of the Company, both in absolute
terms and relative to its peers. That passion should manifest itself in engaged debate about the
future of the Company and a camaraderie among the Board that both challenges and inspires the
Company’s employees.




Creativity - Success in the retail business will ultimately go to the participants who adapt quickly
to changing environments and implement creative solutions to the significant challenges faced by
industry participants. Board members should possess the creative talents needed to augment those
of management.

Core Competencies of the Board as a Whole

To adequately fulfill the Board’s complex roles, from overseeing the audit and monitoring managerial
performance to responding to crises and approving the Company’s strategic plan, a host of core competencies
need to be represented on the Board. The Board as a whole should possess the following core competencies,
with each member contributing knowledge, experience and skills in one or more domains.

Accounting and Finance - Among the most important missions of the Board is ensuring that stockholder
value is both enhanced through corporate performance and protected through adequate internal
financial controls. The Board should have one or more directors with specific expertise in financial
accounting and corporate finance, especially with respect to trends in debt and equity markets.

Business Judgment - Stockholders rely on directors to make sensible choices on their behalf.
Directors should have a record of making good business decisions in the corporate sector.

Management - To monitor corporate management, the Board needs to understand management
trends in general and industry trends in particular. The Board should have one or more directors
who understand and stay current on general management “best practices” and their application in
complex, rapidly evolving business environments.

Crisis Response - Organizations inevitably experience both short and long-term crises. The ability
to deal with crises can minimize ramifications and limit negative impact on Company performance.
Boards should have one or more directors who have the ability and time to perform during periods
of both short-term and prolonged crises.

Industry Knowledge - Companies continually face new opportunities and threats that are unique
to their industries. The Board should have one or more members with appropriate and relevant
industry-specific knowledge.

Leadership - Ultimately, a company’s performance will be determined by the directors’ and CEQ’s
ability to attract, motivate and energize a high-performance leadership team. The Board should
have one or more directors who understand and possess empowerment skills and have a history of
motivating high-performing talent.

Strategy and Vision - A key Board role is to approve and monitor Company strategy to ensure
the Company’s continued high performance. The Board should have one or more directors with
the skills and capacity to provide strategic insight and direction by encouraging innovation,
conceptualizing key trends, evaluating strategic decisions and continuously challenging the
organization to sharpen its vision,




APPENDIX C

CABELA’S INCORPORATED
PERFORMANCE BONUS PLAN

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE

The Plan is intended to increase stockholder value and the success of the Company by motivating key
executives (1) to perform to the best of their abilities, and (2} to achieve the Company’s objectives. The Plan’s
goals are to be achieved by providing such executives with incentive awards based on the achievement of goals
relating to the performance of the Company or upon the achievement of individual performance goals. The
Plan is intended to permit the payment of bonuses that may quatify as performance-based compensation under
Section 162{m) of the Code.

ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Bonus Award” means the award, as determined by the Committee, to be granted to a Participant based
on that Participant’s level of attainment of his or her goals established in accordance with Articles 4 and 5.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Committee” means either (i) the Compensation Committee of Board or (ii) a committee selected by
the Board to administer the Plan and compesed of not less than two directors, each of whom is an “outside
director” (within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code).

“Company”™ means Cabela’s Incorporated together with each of its subsidiaries (as such term is defined
in Section 424(f} of the Code).

“Individual Performance Objective” means any individual Company business-related objective
that is objectively determinable within the meaning of Code Section 162(m) and the Treasury Regulations
promulgated thereunder. Individual Performance Objectives shall include, but not be limited to, improvement
in customer satisfaction, opening of additional retail stores, and similar objectively determinable performance
objectives related to the Participant’s job responsibilities with the Company.

“162(m) Bonus Award” means a Bonus Award which is intended to qualify for the performance-based
compensation exception to Section 162(m) of the Code, as further described in Article 7.

“Participant” means any officer or key executive designated by the Committee to participate in the
Plan,

“Performance Criteria” means objective performance criteria established by the Committee with respect
to 162(m) Bonus Awards. Performance Criteria shall be measured in terms of one or more of the following
objectives:

(i)  earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation and/or amortization;
(ii)  net earnings (before or after taxes),
(iii)  net income (before or after taxes),

(iv)  operating income before or after depreciation and amortization (and including or excluding
capital expenditures);




(v) operating income (before or after taxes);
(vi) operating profit (before or after taxes);
(vii)  book value;
(viii)  earnings per share (before or after taxes);
(ix) market share;
(x) return measures (including, but not limited to, return on capital, invested capital, assets,
equity);
(xi) margins;
(xii)  share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total stockholder return);
(xiii) comparable or same store sales;
(xiv)  sales or product volume growth;
(xv) productivity improvement or operating efficiency;
(xvi}  costs or expenses;
(xvii)  stockholders’ equity;
(xviii)  revenues or sales;

(xix)  cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow, free cash flow and cash flow
return on capital);

(xx) revenue-generating unit-based metrics;
(xxi)  expense targets;
(xxii)  Individual Performance Objectives;
(xxiii)  working capital targets;
(xxiv)  measures of economic value added,
{(xxv) inventory control; or

(xxvi) enterprise value.

The foregoing criteria may retate to the Company, one or more of its or its divisions or units, or departments
or functions, or any combination of the foregoing, and may be applied on an absolute basis and/or be relative 1o
one or more peer group companies or indices, or any combination thereof, all as the Committee shall determine.
In addition, to the degree consistent with Section 162(m) of the Code (or any successor section thereto), the
Committee shall appropriately adjust any evaluation of performance under a Performance Criteria to exclude
(i) any extraordinary non-recurring items as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/
or in management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions and results of operations appearing in the
Company’s annual report to stockholders for the applicable year, or (ii) the effect of any changes in accounting
principles affecting the Company’s or a business units’ reported results.

Each grant of a 162(m) Bonus Award shall specify the Performance Criteria to be achieved, a minimum
acceptable level of achievement below which no payment or award will be made, and a formula for determining
the amount of any payment or award to be made if performance is at or above the minimum acceptable level
but falls short of full achievement of the specified Performance Criteria.

“Performance Period” means the period during which performance is measured to determine the level
of attainment of a Bonus Award, which shall be the fiscal year of the Company.

“Plan” means the Performance Bonus Plan.
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ARTICLE 3
ELIGIBILITY

Participants in the Plan shall be selected by the Committee for each Performance Period from those officers
and key executives of the Company and its subsidiaries whose efforts contribute materially to the success of
the Company. No employee shall be a Participant unless he or she is selected by the Committee, in its sole
discretion. No employee shall at any time have the right to be selected as a Participant nor, having been selected
as a Participant for one Performance Period, to be selected as a Participant in any other Performance Period.

ARTICLE 4
ADMINISTRATION

The Committee, in its sole discretion, will determine eligibility for participation, establish the maximum
award which may be earned by each Participant (which may be expressed in terms of dollar amount, percentage
of salary or any other measurement), establish goals for each Participant (which may be objective or subjective,
and based on individual, Company, subsidiary and/or division performance), calculate and determine each
Participant’s level of attainment of such goals, and calculate the Bonus Award for each Participant based upon
such level of attainment.

Except as otherwise herein expressly provided, full power and authority to construe, interpret, and
administer the Plan shall be vested in the Committee, including the power to amend or terminate the Plan as
further described in Article 13. The Committee may at any time adopt such rules, regulations, policies, or
practices as, in its sole discretion, it shall determine 1o be necessary or appropriate for the administration of,
or the performance of its respective responsibilities under, the Plan. The Committee may at any time amend,
modify, suspend, or terminate such rules, regulations, policies, or practices.

ARTICLE §
BONUS AWARDS

The Committee, based upon information to be suppiied by management of the Company, will establish
for each Performance Period a maximum award (and, if the Committee deems appropriate, a floor, threshold
and/or target award) and goals relating to Company, subsidiary, divisional, departmental and/or functional
performance for each Participant and communicate such award levels and goals to cach Participant prior to
or during the Performance Period for which such award may be made. Bonus Awards will be earned by each
Participant based upon the level of attainment of his or her goals during the applicable Performance Period;
provided that the Committee may reduce the amount of any Bonus Award in its sole and absolute discretion.
As soon as practicable after the end of the applicable Performance Period, the Committee shall determine the
level of attainment of the goals for cach Participant and the Bonus Award to be made to each Participant,

ARTICLE 6
PAYMENT OF BONUS AWARDS

Subject to Article 15 below, Bonus Awards earned during any Performance Period shall be paid as soon
as practicable following the end of such Performance Period and the determination of the amount thereof shall
be made by the Committee, but in no event later than 90 days after the end of the applicable Performance
Period. Payment of Bonus Awards shall be made in the form of cash. Bonus Award amounts earned but not
yet paid will not accrue interest.




ARTICLE 7
162(M) BONUS AWARDS

Unless determined otherwise by the Committee, each Bonus Award awarded under the Plan shall be a
162(m) Bonus Award and will be subject to the following requirements, notwithstanding any other provision
of the Plan to the contrary:

7.1 No 162(m) Bonus Award may be paid unless and until the stockholders of the Company have
approved the Plan in a manner which complies with the stockholder approval requirements of Section 162(m)
of the Code.

7.2 A 162(m) Bonus Award may be made only by a Coramittee which is comprised solely of not less than
two directors, each of whom is an “cutside director” (within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code).

7.3 The performance goals to which a 162(m) Bonus Award is subject must be based solely on
Performance Criteria. Such performance goals, and the maxirnum, target, threshold and/or floor (as applicable)
Bonus Award payable upon attainment thereof, must be established by the Committee within the time limits
required in order for the 162(mn) Bonus Award to qualify for the performance-based compensation exception
to Section 162{m) of the Code.

74 No 162(m) Bonus Award may be paid until the Committee has certified the level of attainment of
the applicable Performance Criteria.

7.5 The maximum amount of a 162(m) Bonus Award is $5 million to a single Participant.

ARTICLE 8
REQRGANIZATION OR DISCONTINUANCE

The obligations of the Company under the Plan shail be binding upon any successor corporation or
organization resulting from merger, consolidation or other reorganization of the Company, or upon any
successor corporation or organization succeeding to substantially all of the assets and business of the
Company. The Company will make appropriate provision for the preservation of Participants’ rights under
the Plan in any agreement or plan which it may enter into or adopt to effect any such merger, consolidation,
reorganization or transfer of assets.

If the business conducted by the Company shall be discontinued, any previously earned and unpaid
Bonus Awards under the Plan shall become immediately pavable to the Participants then entitled thereto.

ARTICLE %
NON-ALIENATION O BENEFITS

A Participant may not assign, sell, encumber, transfer or otherwise dispose of any rights or interests under
the Plan except by will or the laws of descent and distribution. Any attempted disposition in contravention of
the preceding sentence shall be null and void.

ARTICLE 10
NO CLAIM OR RIGHT TO PLAN PARTICIPATION

No employee or other person shall have any claim or right to be selected as a Participant under the Plan.
Neither the Plan nor any action taken pursuant to the Plan shall be construed as giving any employee any right
to be retained in the employ of the Company.
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ARTICLE 11
TAXES

The Company shall deduct from all amounts paid under the Plan all federal, state, local and other taxes
required by law to be withheld with respect to such payments,

ARTICLE 12
NO LTABILITY OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS; INDEMNIFICATION

No member of the Committee shall be personally liable by reason of any contract or other instrument
related to the Plan executed by such member or on his or her behalf in his or her capacity as a member of the
Committee, nor for any mistake of judgment made in good faith.

Each person who is or has been a member of the Committee, or of the Board, shall be indemnified and
held harmless by the Company against and from (a) any loss, cost, liability, or expense that may be imposed
upon or reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with or resulting from any claim, action, suit, or
proceeding to which he or she may be a party or in which he or she may be involved by reason of any action
taken or failure to act under the Plan or any award, and (b) from any and all amounts paid by him or her in
settlement thereof, with the Company’s approval, or paid by him or her in satisfaction of any judgment in
any such claim, action, suit, or proceeding against him or her, provided he or she shall give the Company
an opportunity, at its own expense, to handle and defend the same before he or she undertakes to handle
and defend it on his or her own behalf. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of any
other rights of indemnification to which such persons may be entitled under the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation or Bylaws, by contract, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or under any power that the Company
may have to indemnify them or hold them harmless.

ARTICLE 13
TERMINATION OR AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN

The Committee may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time; provided that no amendment
may bc made without the approval of the Company’s stockholders if the effect of such amendment would
be to cause outstanding or pending 162(m) Bonus Awards to cease to qualify for the performance-based
compensation exception to Section 162(m) of the Code.

ARTICLE 14
UNFUNDED PLAN

Participants shall have no right, title, or interest whatsoever in or to any investments which the Company
may make to aid it in mecting its obligations under the Plan. Nothing contained in the Plan, and no action
taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a trust of any kind, or a fiduciary
relationship between the Company and any Participant, beneficiary, legal representative or any other person,
To the extent that any person acquires a right to receive payments from the Company under the Plan, such
right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the Company. All payments to be
made hereunder shall be paid from the general funds of the Company and no special or separate fund shall be
established and no segregation of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly
set forth in the Plan.

The Plan is not intended to be subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
as amended.
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ARTICLE 15
DEFERRALS

The Committee may defer payment of 162(m) Bonus Awards, or any portion thereof, as the Committee,
in its discretion, determines to be necessary or desirable to preserve the deductibility of such amounts under
Section 162(m) of the Code. In addition, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may permit a Participant to
defer receipt of the payment of cash that would otherwise be delivered to a Participant under the Plan. Any
such deferral elections shall be subject to such rules and procedures as shall be determined by the Committee
in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE 16
SECTION 409A OF THE CODE

To the extent applicable, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Plan and Bonus Awards
issued hereunder (including 162(m) Bonus Awards) shall be interpreted in accordance with Section 409A
of the Code and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretative guidance issued thereunder,
including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the effective
date of the Plan. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in the event that the Committee
determines that any amounts payable hereunder will be taxable to a Participant under Section 409A of the
Code and related Department of Treasury guidance, prior to payment to such Participant of such amount, the
Company may (a) adopt such amendments to the Plan and Bonus Awards (including 162(m) Bonus Awards)
and appropriate policies and procedures, including amendments and policies with retroactive effect, that the
Committee determines necessary or appropriate 1o preserve the intended tax treatment of the benefits provided
by the Plan and Bonus Awards (including 162(m) Bonus Awards) hereunder and/or (b) take such other actions
as the Committee determines necessary or appropriate to avoid or limit the imposition of an additional tax
under Section 409A of the Code.

ARTICLE 17
GOVERNING LAW

The terms of the Plan and all rights thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of Delaware, without reference to principles of conflict of laws.

ARTICLE 18
EFFECTIVE DATE

The effective date of the Plan is February 12, 2008.
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